

Identification of germline genetic factors contributing to susceptibility and clinical phenotype in myeloproliferative neoplasms

Doctoral thesis at the Medical University of Vienna for obtaining the academic degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Submitted by

Ashot Harutyunyan, MD

Supervisor: Robert Kralovics, PhD CeMM Research Center for Molecular Medicine of the Austrian Academy of Sciences Lazarettgasse 14, AKH BT25.3 1090 Vienna, Austria

Vienna, 07/2013

DECLARATION

The thesis is compiled in cumulative format. There are four manuscripts included in the thesis, the author of the current thesis being co-author on all manuscripts. The exact contributions of Ashot Harutyunyan and the short summary of the studies are described on the cover pages preceding the PDF versions of published manuscripts. Some experiments in section 3.2 have been performed by Christian Krendl and Tiina Berg. Figures 2, 22 and 23 are taken from other publications (also co-authored by Ashot Harutyunyan) and reprinted with the permission of the publisher. The rest of the thesis has been written by Ashot Harutyunyan.

Manuscript # 1 was published in the New England Journal of Medicine: "p53 lesions in leukemic transformation" by Harutyunyan A. et al., *N Engl J Med* 2011, 364: 488-490. Reprinted with permission. Copyright 2011 Massachusetts Medical Society.

Manuscript # 2 was published in Nature Genetics: "A Common *JAK2* haplotype confers susceptibility to myeloproliferative neoplasms" by Olcaydu D., Harutyunyan A. et al., *Nat Genet* 2009; 41: 450-454. Reprinted with permission. Copyright Nature Publishing Group.

Manuscript # 3 was published in Haematologica: "The role of the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype and the *TET2* gene in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms" by Olcaydu D., Rumi E., Harutyunyan A. et al., *Haematologica* 2011; 96: 367-374. Reprinted with permission. Obtained from Haematologica/the Hematology Journal website, http://www.haematologica.org.

Manuscript # 4 was published in Leukemia: "Rare germline variants in regions of loss of heterozygosity may influence clinical course of hematological malignancies" by Harutyunyan A. et al., *Leukemia* 2011; 25: 1782-1784. Reprinted with permission. Copyright Nature Publishing Group.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many people have directly or indirectly contributed to the completion of this thesis. It is not possible to mention everyone in this space but I am grateful for every bit of help and support I have received during these years of my PhD studies.

First of all, I want to thank supervisor of my PhD project, Robert Kralovics. I have enjoyed a lot working with him, having long discussions over tough research questions, designing and planning new experimental methods. His very deep knowledge of the research field and his unrivalled optimistic and positive attitude towards the outcome of experiments have motivated and inspired me. Most importantly, I would like to thank Robert for being so kind and supportive during all this period, even at times when I felt that I did not deserve that.

I would also like to thank my thesis committee members Denise Barlow and Heinrich Kovar for their productive inputs and advice, as well as critical assessment of my research progress.

I cannot imagine how I could complete my projects without the "team spirit" of Kralovics group. They have created very friendly and relaxed, but in the same time scientifically stimulating and motivating atmosphere in the lab. Particularly I would like to mention my "battlemate" Thorsten Klampfl, with whom we started PhD together, worked on some projects together and even shared a lab bench and an office table. Despite having somewhat different approaches to certain scientific aspects, we collaborated rather successfully and I enjoyed that a lot. Very special thanks to Tiina Berg for keeping the lab organized, for providing necessary help every time I needed that, and besides, for many interesting discussions about sport events.

I am grateful to our collaborators from the institute, particularly Roberto Giambruno and external collaborators, Elisa Rumi, Lorenzo Tozzi and others for fruitful collaborative projects. It was a great pleasure working with you.

As we say in Armenia: "Tell me who is your friend and I will tell who you are". I am thankful to all my friends, in Armenia, in Austria and spread all over the world. I have found a few new friends while being in Austria and they have given flavor to my life during this time. Roberto Giambruno, Roberto Sacco, Federica Santoro, Jelena Milosevic, Branka Radic, Ferran Fece de la Cruz, Lorenzo Tozzi – I am happy to have friends like you.

I would also like to thank the whole CeMM community for the interactive and

warm atmosphere in the institute and particularly the director Giulio Superti-Furga for making CeMM such a great place both scientifically and socially.

And finally, I want to thank my family. My sister, the representative of my family in Austria, has created the feeling of being at home and has been a very good friend. My parents, who for me are heroes, have the most contribution to who I am now, and I have always felt constant support and love even being 3000 km away.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
ABSTRACT1
ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Overview of myeloproliferative neoplasms 4
1.2 Genetics of myeloproliferative neoplasms7
1.2.1 Somatic point mutations and chromosomal aberrations in MPN pathogenesis
1.2.2 Hereditary factors in myeloproliferative neoplasms
1.2.3 Genetics of MPN-like disorders16
1.2.4 Hereditary factors in other myeloid malignancies
2. AIMS
3. RESULTS
3.1 Development of a non-parametric familial linkage analysis algorithm:
Segregation exclusion analysis (SEGEX)23
3.2 Identification of germline mutations in <i>RBBP6</i> predisposing to myeloproliferative neoplasms
3.3 Manuscript # 1: p53 lesions in leukemic transformation
3.4 Manuscript # 2: A Common <i>JAK2</i> haplotype confers susceptibility to myeloproliferative neoplasms43
3.5 Manuscript # 3: The role of <i>JAK2</i> GGCC haplotype and <i>TET2</i> gene in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms49
3.6 Manuscript # 4: Rare germline variants in regions of loss of heterozygosity may influence clinical course of hematological malignancies
4. DISCUSSION
4.1 Recent findings in MPN germline genetics65

4.2 Genes mutated somatically and germline	67
4.3 Phenotype-specific germline mutations	67
4.4 Concluding remarks and future directions	69
5. MATERIALS AND METHODS	71
5.1 Materials	71
5.2 Methods	71
6. REFERENCES	75
7. ABBREVIATIONS	101
	105
PUBLICATIONS	

ABSTRACT

Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) are a group of hematological malignancies primarily driven by somatic mutations and chromosomal aberrations. In the recent years significant amount of evidence has been accumulating on the importance of hereditary factors in MPN. Familial clustering, cases of biclonal MPN and phenotypic diversity in the presence of the same mutation have provided a solid basis for research in MPN germline genetics. Despite comprehensive clinical characterization of familial MPN, the major germline mutations responsible for MPN susceptibility have not been found. The same is true for the association of MPN with common SNPs in the population.

We performed a detailed study of germline genetic factors influencing MPN from multiple aspects. In order to study familial MPN, we first developed a nonparametric linkage analysis algorithm for high-throughput genotyping data. We validated the method on three families with known germline causative mutations and then applied it to a family with five affected MPN cases. Combining linkage analysis with exome sequencing and downstream validation of the identified hits, we found a mutation in *RBBP6* gene as the candidate susceptibility gene. Additional screening in other families with MPN yielded another two families with germline *RBBP6* mutations. RBBP6 is interacting with p53 and presumably the effect of mutation is mediated through p53 pathway. Moreover, we have shown an important role of p53 pathway in MPN, particularly in leukemic transformation, coming from the somatic genetics side.

We have also contributed to the understanding of the role of common germline predisposition to MPN. We have identified the strongest common predisposition for JAK2-positive MPN: the 'GGCC' haplotype spanning *JAK2* locus. Additionally, we have shown that although *JAK2* 'GGCC' haplotype confers the same risk in familial MPN, it cannot explain familial clustering of MPN.

Finally, we have identified a phenomenon of the interaction of somatic genetic aberrations and germline mutations. We have shown that a deleterious heterozygous mutation can influence disease phenotype when combined with acquired chromosomal aberration.

Overall, it seems that the inherited factors have quite an important role in MPN. The interconnection and overlap of somatic and germline genetics is particularly intriguing and will provide a new dimension in MPN research.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Myeloproliferative Neoplasien (MPN) stellen eine Gruppe hämatologischer Erkrankungen dar, deren Ursache in erster Linie erworbene (somatische) Mutationen und chromosomale Veränderungen des Erbgutes sind. Forschungen der letzten Jahre haben zudem die Wichtigkeit von vererbten Faktoren in MPN gezeigt. Familiäre Häufungen, Fälle von biklonaler MPN sowie phänotypische Unterschiede bei Trägern der gleichen genetischen Veränderung rechtfertigen die Erforschung vererbter genetischer Veränderungen in MPN. Trotz umfangreicher Studien familiärer MPN wurden bisher keine Mutationen gefunden, die für MPN prädisponieren. Ebenso wurde bisher keine Assoziation von Einzelnukleotid-Polymorphismen (SNPs) mit MPN beschrieben.

Im Zuge dieser Doktorarbeit untersuchten wir vererbte genetische Faktoren, die einen Einfluss auf MPN haben, aus unterschiedlichen Perspektiven. Zu diesem Zweck, haben wir zunächst einen Algorithmus zur nichtparametrischen Kopplungsanalyse basierend auf Hochdurchsatz-Genotypisierungsdaten entwickelt. Wir validierten diese Methode an drei Familien mit verschiedenen Erkrankungen bei denen eine ursächliche, vererbte Mutation bekannt war. Danach untersuchten wir eine Familie mit fünf MPN Fällen, in welcher eine entsprechende Mutation noch nicht gefunden wurde. Die Kopplungsanalyse kombinierten wir mit einer Exom Sequenzierung. Nach Validierung der gefundenen genetischen Varianten konnten wir eine Mutation im RBBP6 Gen nachweisen. In einer darauffolgenden Analyse von anderen Familien, in denen MPN gehäuft auftrat, identifizierten wir zwei weitere Familien mit vererbten Mutationen in RBBP6. Nachdem RBBP6 mit p53 interagiert, ist der Effekt der gefundenen Mutationen möglicherweise mit dem p53 Signaltransduktionsweg assoziiert. Wir konnten bereits vor dieser Studie durch eine Analyse somatischer Veränderungen zeigen, dass der p53 Signaltransduktionsweg eine wichtige Rolle in MPN spielt, im Besonderen bei der Transformation der Krankheit in eine akute myeloische Leukämie.

In einem zweiten Projekt konnten wir zeigen, dass ein häufig in der Bevölkerung vorkommender Haplotyp des *JAK2* Gens, der sogenannte 'GGCC' Haplotyp, die stärkste Prädisposition für JAK2-positive MPN darstellt. Das Risiko für Träger dieses Haplotyps eine MPN zu entwickeln ist zwar gleich für familiär gehäuft

2

auftretende und sporadische MPN, dennoch kann der Haplotyp die Häufung von MPN in Familien nicht erklären.

Zuletzt untersuchten wir das Zusammenwirken von vererbten und erworbenen genetischen Veränderungen in MPN. Eine heterozygote Mutation kann in Kombination mit einer erworbenen chromosomalen Veränderung die Charakteristika der Krankheit beeinflussen, wie wir an einem Beispiel zeigen konnten.

Zusammenfassend lässt sich sagen, dass erbliche genetische Faktoren eine wichtige Rolle in MPN spielen. Das Zusammenwirken von vererbten und erworbenen genetischen Faktoren ist besonders interessant und erweitert die MPN Forschung um eine neue Dimension.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview of myeloproliferative neoplasms

Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) are a heterogeneous group of malignant hematological disorders with the predominant involvement of myeloid lineage of hematopoiesis and characterized by hyperproliferation and accumulation of terminally differentiated blood cells. MPN comprise nine diagnostic units according to 2008 WHO classification (Tefferi & Vardiman, 2008). Polycythemia vera (PV), essential thrombocythemia (ET) and primary myelofibrosis (PMF) are considered as classical MPN by many experts in the field as a reminiscent of previous classification of myeloid disorders. The main subtypes are defined based on variable involvement of myeloid lineages in the disease process (Campbell & Green, 2006). Accordingly, the characteristic feature of polycythemia vera is increased red cell mass, hematocrit and hemoglobin values as a result of predominant involvement of erythroid lineage. Essential thrombocythemia presents with high platelet counts in peripheral blood as a consequence of megakaryocytic lineage hyperproliferation. Fibrosis of bone marrow is a key feature of primary myelofibrosis leading to extramedullary hematopoiesis. MPN has an inherent tendency of disease progression over time. Both PV and ET can progress to myelofibrosis (secondary myelofibrosis, sMF), while all three disease entities as well as sMF can transform into secondary acute myeloid leukemia (sAML) (Dingli et al, 2006). sAML has much worse prognosis than de novo AML, with the average lifespan of a few months (Ostgard et al, 2010). The risk of transformation to sAML depends on the disease subtype: it is low for PV and ET (1-3%), much higher in PMF (10-20%), and the highest in sMF (about 50%) (Passamonti et al, 2004). Besides the progression of the disease, the other main complications observed in patients are thrombosis and bleeding (Arellano-Rodrigo et al, 2006; Cervantes et al, 2006). In some cases a thrombotic or hemorrhagic event can be the first presentation of MPN.

The annual incidence of MPN is about 1-2 per 100,000 and as the patients usually survive for many years, the prevalence of the disease in the population is about 10-fold higher (Johansson et al, 2004). The age of onset is usually after 50 years, although there are many reported younger patients, especially in familial cases of the disease (Bellanne-Chantelot et al, 2006). The incidence of PV and ET is

similar, while PMF is rarer by 4-5 fold. The average lifespan for PV and ET is more than ten years; often patients die of unrelated causes as MPN are mainly diseases of the elderly. The main disease-related causes of death of the patients are thrombotic and hemorrhagic complications, as well as disease evolution (Campbell & Green, 2006).

The clinical presentation of the patients is based on underlying pathological processes. The symptoms are consequences of elevated red cell mass, platelet and white blood cells levels. Often patients are asymptomatic for a long time, and sometimes the initial presentation is a major complication of thrombosis or bleeding. Some patients experience itching after warm bath, fatigue, headaches. A specific but rare symptom of PV and ET is erythromelalgia. A proportion of patients have splenomegaly, especially in cases of myelofibrosis. Myelofibrosis patients, due to anemia and neutropenia, also have higher susceptibility to infections and shortness of breath (Campbell & Green, 2006).

The treatment of MPN patients is aimed to relieve constitutional symptoms and to prevent complications. Many patients survive for years with little or no treatment. In a sizeable group of patients, bloodletting, the historical treatment option, could be enough alone to control the symptoms. Most of the patients receive lowdose aspirin (Santos & Verstovsek, 2012) or other antiplatelet agents, such as anagrelide (Gisslinger et al, 2013) to prevent thrombotic complications. As eventually many patients develop bone marrow fibrosis, hydroxyurea is being administered to sizeable number of patients to prevent it and keep cell numbers in control (Barbui et al, 2011; Cortelazzo et al, 1995). Historically patients have been receiving more aggressive treatment, particularly with alkylating agents such as pipobroman, chlorambucil, busulfan, etc., but since these drugs frequently cause secondary leukemias, they have been mostly taken out from clinical use (Barbui, 2004). The leukemogenicity of widely used hydroxyurea has been debated, with contradictory results from different studies (Gisslinger et al, 2013; Kiladjian et al, 2006b). The patients with myelofibrosis who develop severe anemia, also receive frequent blood transfusions (Campbell & Green, 2006). In case of leukemic transformation, when the clinical picture is that of AML, patients receive aggressive chemotherapy, although these treatments usually fail to induce clinical remission (Ostgard et al, 2010). The only curative treatments so far in MPN have been reported to be interferon-alpha, which achieves complete cure in about 20% of patients but is not well tolerated by

patients (Kiladjian et al, 2008; Kiladjian et al, 2006a; Kiladjian et al, 2011) and allogenic bone marrow transplant (McLornan et al, 2012). Recently a new class of drugs, JAK2 inhibitors, was developed, based on the fact that *JAK2* gene is frequently mutated in MPN (Harrison et al, 2012; Tefferi et al, 2011; Verstovsek et al, 2012b). So far clinical trials have shown only limited success of these drugs: while they improve the constitutional symptoms, there is not much change in the *JAK2* mutational burden (Vaddi et al, 2012; Verstovsek et al, 2012a).

The other diseases included in MPN group are BCR-ABL1-positive chronic myelogenous leukemia, chronic neutrophilic leukemia, hypereosinophilic syndrome, mast cell disease, chronic eosinophilic leukemia not otherwise specified, and unclassifiable MPN (Tefferi & Vardiman, 2008). Although these diseases have some shared pathogenesis and clinical picture (hyperproliferation of one or more myeloid lineages, some mutations and chromosomal aberrations present in different types) there are also a number of differences, particularly in the genes mutated and prevalence of mutations, in the myeloid lineage involved and in the disease course.

There is a group of related myeloid disorders that are classified as MDS/MPN. These diseases have overlapping clinical and pathological features of MPN and myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS). There are four disease entities in this category: chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMML), juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia (JMML), atypical chronic myeloid leukemia (aCML) and MDS/MPN unclassifiable (Vardiman et al, 2009). Another group includes myeloid neoplasms associated with eosinophilia and abnormalities of PDGFRA, PDGFRB or FGFR1. Finally, two big groups of myeloid malignancies are acute myeloid leukemias (AML) and myelodysplastic syndromes. AML is characterized by rapid onset and progression of the disease, presence of undifferentiated blast cells in the peripheral blood and block in myeloid differentiation. MDS are manifested with various cytopenias and dysplasia in one or more myeloid lineages in combination with bone marrow hypercellularity. current classification of myeloid neoplasms is mainly focused The on clinicopathological features of the disease and morphology of blood cells and bone marrow, but it also takes into account various mutations and chromosomal aberrations (Vardiman, 2010; Vardiman et al, 2009). With more and more new genetic lesions described in myeloid malignancies, the classification will soon rely heavier on molecular features of the disease.

1.2 Genetics of myeloproliferative neoplasms

MPN is a form of chronic leukemia, and thus the somatic mutations and chromosomal aberrations are the main drivers of the disease. However, the germline factors have also been shown to influence the susceptibility to the disease, as well as some features of pathogenesis. Over the years many recurrent genetic lesions have been discovered in MPN which shed light on the pathogenesis of the disease (Milosevic & Kralovics, 2013). Initially chromosomal aberrations were detected using classical karyotyping (Gangat et al, 2008; Gangat et al, 2009; Hussein et al, 2009b; Panani, 2007), but in last few years widespread use of array competitive genomic hybridization (CGH) technology (or SNP arrays) enabled researchers to find smaller scale lesions previously undetectable by classical cytogenetic analyses (Klampfl et al, 2011; Rumi et al, 2011; Stegelmann et al, 2010; Thoennissen et al, 2010). Similarly the advances in sequencing technologies, particularly second generation sequencing, facilitated the discovery of point mutations in various genes (Ernst et al, 2010; Ley et al, 2010; Maxson et al, 2013; Piazza et al, 2013). While much progress has been made in somatic genetics of MPN, there is still a lot to be done in germline genetics. Both germline and somatic genetic factors important in MPN pathogenesis are discussed in the following sections.

1.2.1 Somatic point mutations and chromosomal aberrations in MPN pathogenesis

Both point mutations and chromosomal aberrations that are acquired somatically play defining role in MPN pathogenesis. In many cases these aberrations are acting in combination, complementing each other. A somatic point mutation may achieve full homozygosity by acquired uniparental disomy (UPD), or it may become hemizygous by the deletion of the second copy of the gene. Finally, amplification of a part of a chromosome may amplify the gene copy with the mutation, thus increasing allelic burden (Kralovics, 2008; Milosevic & Kralovics, 2013). For that reason, chromosomal aberrations and point mutations that are affecting the same gene are discussed together below. The frequencies of point mutations in genes most frequently affected in MPN are shown on **Figure 1**, while the overview of the recurrent chromosomal aberrations is shown on **Figure 2**.



Figure 1. The distribution of common somatic mutations in the three MPN subtypes. Red bars indicate the approximate frequency of mutations in each diagnostic category.



Figure 2. The distribution of chromosomal aberrations detected by Affymetrix SNP 6.0 arrays in chronic phase MPN patients. Bars correspond to the size and the position of aberrations; green indicates gains; red, deletions; and blue, UPDs. (*Figure reprinted from Klampfl T., Harutyunyan A. et al., originally published in Blood. Klampfl T., Harutyunyan A. et al. Genome integrity of myeloproliferative neoplasms in chronic phase and during disease progression. Blood 2011;118(1):167-176.* © *the American Society of Hematology*).

By far the most common chromosomal aberrations in MPN (in more than 30% of patients) are acquired uniparental disomies of short arm of chromosome 9 (9p UPD) (Klampfl et al, 2011; Kralovics et al, 2002). Additionally, amplifications of chromosome 9p and trisomy 9 are also recurrently found in MPN (Klampfl et al, 2011). Following up on the identification of 9p UPDs in MPN, in 2005 four groups reported on the identification of a point mutation V617F in the Janus kinase 2 gene (*JAK2*) as frequent in MPN and associated with large scale chromosome 9 lesions (Baxter et al, 2005; James et al, 2005; Kralovics et al, 2005; Levine et al, 2005). Eventually JAK2-V617F became the main hallmark of MPN since more than half of

the patients carry that mutation (Jones et al, 2005). V617F mutation is particularly frequent in PV, reaching 95% of the cases and is also frequently associated with 9p UPD (Campbell & Green, 2006). In contrast, 9p UPD is rare in ET patients who are JAK2-V617F-positive (Klampfl et al, 2011; Stegelmann et al, 2010). Subsequently, different mutations of JAK2 were found in exon 12 of the gene in a subgroup of PV patients who are JAK2-V617F-negative (Pietra et al, 2008; Scott et al, 2007). Taken together, JAK2 mutations are present in almost all cases of PV. The amplifications of chromosome 9p and trisomy 9 are also associated with JAK2-V617F mutation (Klampfl et al, 2011). JAK2 is a receptor-associated tyrosine kinase which is coupled with many cytokine receptors, including erythropoietin receptor (EPOR) and thrombopoietin receptor (MPL). Upon activation following cytokine binding to receptors, JAK2 phosphorylates signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs) which induce the expression cell proliferation genes (Funakoshi-Tago et al, 2010; Lu et al, 2005). V617F and exon 12 mutations make JAK2 constitutively active and thus cells are proliferating faster even in the absence of cytokines. These mutations are located in the pseudokinase domain of JAK2 and remove its autoinhibitory effect, thus keeping JAK2 constantly active (Kralovics et al, 2005). JAK2 mutations are sometimes called 'phenotypic' in the sense that the acquisition and clonal predominance of these mutations usually coincides with the initial clinical presentation of the disease (Kralovics, 2008).

Not long after the discovery of *JAK2* mutations, recurrent mutations in thrombopoietin receptor gene, *MPL*, were found in a minority of cases of JAK2-negative ET and PMF (Pikman et al, 2006; Staerk et al, 2006). The somatic *MPL* mutations are affecting the residue W515 (W515L, W515R, W515A, W515K, W515S), making it cytokine independent (Pardanani et al, 2006b; Pikman et al, 2006; Staerk et al, 2006). *MPL* mutations are sometimes coupled with UPD of chromosome 1p which makes the *MPL* mutation fully homozygous (Buxhofer-Ausch et al, 2009; Szpurka et al, 2009). Although *MPL* mutations are present only in about 1-5% of ET and PMF cases, they are also considered 'phenotypic' mutations as *JAK2* (Kralovics, 2008).

The defects of the long arm of chromosome 4, namely 4q UPDs and deletions, are found in a fraction of MPN patients (Delhommeau et al, 2009; Klampfl et al, 2011). The use of SNP arrays allowed the identification of small focal deletions on 4q, which eventually pointed to the candidate gene, ten-eleven translocation oncogene

family member 2 (*TET2*) (Delhommeau et al, 2009; Langemeijer et al, 2009). *TET2* point mutations were found to be strongly associated with chromosome 4q defects (Delhommeau et al, 2009; Langemeijer et al, 2009; Tefferi et al, 2009). Large scale screenings of MPN cohorts for *TET2* mutations determined that it is one of the most common mutations in MPN, reaching up to 10-15% in PV and PMF, being less frequent in ET (Tefferi et al, 2009). TET2 was shown to be the enzyme that converts 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine, which in a subsequent process is converted back to unmethylated cytosine (Ito et al, 2011; Ko et al, 2010). In effect, TET2 is involved in DNA demethylation. *TET2* was the first gene among epigenetic regulation pathways in MPN. In contrast to *JAK2* and *MPL* which are much less frequently mutated in other myeloid malignancies, TET2 mutations are very common in MDS, MDS/MPN, AML, in some specific disease entities reaching 50% (Delhommeau et al, 2009; Langemeijer et al, 2009).

Chromosome 11q abnormalities are another set of recurrent aberrations in MPN (Dunbar et al, 2008; Grand et al, 2009; Klampfl et al, 2011). The main target of those aberrations, particularly UPDs, has been found to be Casitas B-lineage lymphoma proto-oncogene (*CBL*) which is an E3 ubiquitin ligase (Dunbar et al, 2008; Grand et al, 2009; Sanada et al, 2009). CBL functions as a regulator of cytokine signaling since it ubiquitinates tyrosine kinases (e.g. JAK2), cytokine receptors (EPOR, MPL) and other molecules involved in signaling pathways (Saur et al, 2010; Schmidt & Dikic, 2005). The mutations in *CBL* are thought to be loss-of-function, are mainly affecting exons 8 and 9, which code for RING finger domain (Grand et al, 2009). Thus, mutant protein does not have E3 ligase activity. However, some reports have also suggested that *CBL* mutations are gain-of-function or dominant-negative (Sanada et al, 2009). *CBL* mutations are frequently found in PMF (up to 10%), while the cases of ET and PV with *CBL* mutations are very rare (Grand et al, 2009). *CBL* mutations are also prevalent in a wide range of myeloid malignancies, more frequently in MDS, MDS/MPN and sAML (Sanada et al, 2009).

Another set of recurrent chromosomal aberrations in MPN on chromosome 7, seem to have a complex pattern of targets. Chromosome 7 deletions and monosomies are very common in AML, while 7q UPDs are frequently found in MDS and rarely also in MPN (Klampfl et al, 2011). EZH2 (enhancer of zeste homolog 2), a histone methyltransferase and the catalytic subunit of polycomb repressive complex

2 (PRC2) was shown to be the main target of 7q UPDs (Ernst et al, 2010; Nikoloski et al, 2010). EZH2 mutations are more common in PMF (about 10%), and 1-5% in ET and PV, mostly associated with 7q UPDs (Guglielmelli et al, 2011). This is the second gene mutated in MPN and other myeloid neoplasms that is involved in epigenetic regulation. Interestingly, no EZH2 mutations were found in AML cases with monosomy 7 or deletion 7g, suggesting that there might be other targets on chromosome 7 (Ernst et al, 2010). Using SNP arrays, we have mapped one of the targets to single gene, CUX1 (cut-like homeobox 1) (Klampfl et al, 2011). CUX1 is a transcription factor and regulates various cellular processes. It was later functionally shown that CUX1 haploinsufficiency gives proliferative advantage to hematopoietic progenitor cells and enhances the engraftment efficiency in a transplant model (McNerney et al, 2013). Moreover, previously we have also mapped the target of 7p deletions to a single gene, *IKZF1* (Ikaros), another transcription factor (Jager et al, 2010). IKZF1 deletions are found in more than 80% of BCR-ABL1-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) (Mullighan et al, 2008). There is not much evidence of point mutations in CUX1 and IKZF1 so far, but multiple recurrent focal deletions in those regions are proving their important role in MPN as well as other myeloid malignancies. Overall there are at least 3 targets on chromosome 7 (EZH2, CUX1, *IKZF1*) and there might be even more yet to be discovered. This fact highlights the complexity of chromosomal aberrations and suggests that some of the aberrations might have multiple targets.

Mutations in additional sex combs like 1 (*ASXL1*) are rather frequently found in MPN and other myeloid disorders (Carbuccia et al, 2009). ASXL1, being a member of Polycomb group of proteins, functions as a regulator of transcription (Cho et al, 2006). *ASXL1* mutations are found in about 10-15% of PMF and sMF cases, while they are much less prevalent in PV and ET (Carbuccia et al, 2009). The mutations in *ASXL1* are also not MPN-specific, being present in MDS and MDS/MPN (Gelsi-Boyer et al, 2009). Although *ASXL1* is located on chromosome 20, a region of frequent chromosomal aberrations in MPN, these mutations have not been linked with deletions of 20q.

Mutations in DNA cytosine methyltransferase 3 alpha (*DNMT3A*) were discovered to be common in AML (Ley et al, 2010). Subsequent studies have shown that *DNMT3A* mutations are present in other myeloid malignancies (Walter et al, 2011), including MPN. About 3% of ET, 7% of PV and up to 15% of PMF patients

carry *DNMT3A* mutations (Abdel-Wahab et al, 2011; Stegelmann et al, 2011), which makes it one of the commonly mutated genes in MPN. DNMT3A is a *de novo* DNA methyltransferase and the presence of mutations in this gene underline the important role of epigenetic regulation in MPN as well as other myeloid malignancies.

Due to the widespread use of second generation sequencing and other modern genetic technologies, more and more genes are found to be mutated in a fraction of MPN patients. Some of the recently found and notable ones are splicing machinery mutations (*SF3B1*, *SF3A1*, *SRSF2*, *SF1*, *U2AF1*, *ZRSR2*, etc.) (Papaemmanuil et al, 2011; Yoshida et al, 2011), *LNK* or *SH2B3* adapter protein mutations (Pardanani et al, 2010a), *NFE2* transcription factor mutations (Jutzi et al, 2013). Some other mutations have been found in subtypes of MPN by its WHO definition or MDS/MPN but are absent in "classical" MPN, such as *CSF3R* mutations in chronic neutrophilic leukemia and atypical CML (Maxson et al, 2013).

Deletions of 20q are present in a fraction of MPN patients and constitute one of the most frequent chromosomal aberrations in the chronic phase of the disease (Klampfl et al, 2011). Numerous studies have addressed the role of 20q deletions in MPN after they were discovered by classical karyotyping, but none of them succeeded to identify the target (Bench et al, 2000; Gondek et al, 2008; Schaub et al, 2009). Recently it was reported that 20q deletions are targeting an imprinted gene cluster and simultaneous deletion of paternally expressed copies of *SGK2* and *L3MBTL1* results in complete loss-of-function of these genes (Aziz et al, 2013). In a very interconnected and sophisticated manner, combined inhibition of the two genes enhances the erythroid lineage and also significantly increases MYC levels (Aziz et al, 2013). This is an unusual example of the mechanism of action of chromosomal aberrations and once again demonstrates the complexity of MPN genetics. Whether the other chromosomal aberrations act through similar mechanisms is yet to be determined.

Alongside 20q deletions, deletions located in the long arm of chromosome 13 are among the most frequent in chronic MPN (Klampfl et al, 2011). The target of these deletions has not been identified yet, but the mapping of smallest commonly deleted region (CDR) resulted in a region containing several genes including retinoblastoma 1 (*RB1*) (Klampfl et al, 2011). *RB1* is a very well known tumor suppressor and is deleted or mutated in many different cancers. Although *RB1* has

12

been frequently suggested to be the 13q target, its role in MPN is not clear yet. So the target of chromosome 13q deletions so far remains elusive and a matter of speculations.

Trisomy 8 is recurrently found in MPN, as well as MDS (Klampfl et al, 2011; Stegelmann et al, 2010). The target is not found, although since *MYC* is located on chromosome 8, it has been speculated to be the target.

To complete the list of the most common chromosomal aberrations in chronic phase MPN, it is important to mention chromosome 14q UPDs. These aberrations are rather common, possibly being the second most common UPD in MPN after 9pUPD and in the same frequency range as 1p UPDs (Klampfl et al, 2011). 14q UPDs are commonly observed in chronic phase and advanced phase (sMF) MPN, but are not enriched in sAML (Klampfl et al, 2011). Although this aberration is rather frequent, the target has not been identified to date. 14q UPD is also common in MDS (Gondek et al, 2008) and is one of the most common aberrations found in healthy subjects, along with chromosome 13q and 20q deletions (Jacobs et al, 2012; Laurie et al, 2012). Most likely this reflects the patients in pre-clinical phase of MPN.

There are some chromosomal aberrations that are rare in chronic phase MPN but are enriched with disease progression (sMF and sAML), most notably amplifications of chromosome 1q and deletions of 5q (Klampfl et al, 2011; Thoennissen et al, 2010). These aberrations are also found in other myeloid malignancies such as MDS and AML. Particularly 5q deletions are rather frequent in AML and MDS and are even used for disease classification (Gondek et al, 2008; Milosevic et al, 2012).

In the same context, there are a number of genes mutated in advanced phase MPN (sMF and sAML), but these mutations are almost absent in chronic phase. The examples include *IDH1* and *IDH2* (Green & Beer, 2010; Pardanani et al, 2010c; Tefferi et al, 2010a), *RUNX1* (Beer et al, 2010a; Ding et al, 2009), *NPM1* (Falini et al, 2005), *FLT3* (Milosevic et al, 2012), etc.. These mutations are quite common in MDS and AML and most likely are involved in leukemic transformation of MPN (Milosevic et al, 2012).

1.2.2 Hereditary factors in myeloproliferative neoplasms

The myriad of somatic point mutations and chromosomal aberrations creates

an impression that only somatic genetic alterations are important in MPN pathogenesis. This statement is partially true, since indeed somatic lesions are the main driving forces of the disease. However, there are a number of important aspects of MPN that cannot be explained solely by somatic mutations and point towards certain role of germline genetic factors. Germline factors can predispose to MPN, to acquisition of specific point mutations or chromosomal aberrations, as well as can influence the emergence of certain clinical symptoms, the clinical course or the complications of the disease (Harutyunyan & Kralovics, 2012).

Some MPN patients are shown to be "biclonal", i.e. there are at least two independent sources of malignant cells in the blood which cannot be traced back to a common ancestral cell (demonstrated by different X chromosome inactivation pattern of the two malignant clones) (Beer et al, 2009; Beer et al, 2010b; Hussein et al, 2009a; Kralovics, 2008). Since the probability of two independent clonal outgrowths in a single patient is too low to be encountered, the only reasonable explanation is the existence of inherent genetic predisposition in such individuals (Harutyunyan & Kralovics, 2012).

Phenotypic diversity of MPN is another aspect of the disease that so far cannot be fully explained by somatic mutations. Specifically, the development of three different subtypes of the disease (PV, ET and PMF) in different patients who carry the same JAK2-V617F mutation so far has not been sufficiently clarified. Although it is plausible that some as yet unidentified somatic mutations are defining the disease phenotype, the influence of germline variants is also a valid alternative. Interestingly, mouse models of MPN are also giving some hints that germline background might be important for this disease. JAK2-V617F transgenic mouse models have PV-like or ET-like phenotype, depending on mutation dosage (Tiedt et al, 2008). However, the phenotype, e.g. the degree of bone marrow fibrosis also depends on the mouse strain used (Balb/c mice have more fibrosis compared to C57BI/6) (Wernig et al, 2006; Zaleskas et al, 2006).

There is also rather wide variability in clinical course of the disease, namely the rate of complications. Some patients have significantly higher risk than others of developing thrombotic complications, splenomegaly, myelofibrosis, etc., even while presenting with similar molecular defects (Casini et al, 2013). This variability has not been explained by the known susceptibility factors for those complications (e.g. thrombosis risk factors), therefore MPN-specific, non-somatic susceptibility factors are supposed to exist.

It has also been shown that relatives of MPN patients have 6-8 fold higher risk of developing MPN (Landgren et al, 2008). This goes in line with the existence of socalled "MPN families", when several members in a family are affected by the disease (Kralovics et al, 2003). Overall, it has been shown that about 5-10% of MPN cases are familial (Rumi, 2008; Rumi et al, 2007). Familial clustering of MPN is one of the major arguments supporting the contribution of germline susceptibility to the disease. There have been a number of studies on familial MPN, mostly providing clinical and molecular characteristics of the patients and also checking for germline mutations in some candidate genes, although with not much success regarding the latter aspect (Bellanne-Chantelot et al, 2006; Kralovics et al, 2003). However, these studies provided the proper characterization of "true" familial MPN and their differentiation from MPN-like disorders. Additionally, some reports have studied the distribution of known MPN mutations (e.g. JAK2, MPL) in familial MPN cases and found that it is not significantly different from sporadic MPN and that those mutations have somatic origin (Bellanne-Chantelot et al, 2006; Rumi et al, 2006). This means that those mutations cannot explain familial clustering of MPN, as well as that familial and sporadic MPN have the same somatic mutational drivers of the disease and thus similar disease pathogenesis.

Familial MPN are similar to sporadic MPN and display low penetrance, clonal hematopoiesis, involvement of multiple hematopoietic lineages, existence of somatic mutations in many patients and progression of the disease (sMF, sAML) (Rumi, 2008; Rumi et al, 2007; Rumi et al, 2006). These features differentiate familial MPN from MPN-like disorders which will be discussed in more detail in the next section.

There is a notable clinical and genetic heterogeneity in MPN families. First of all, it concerns MPN diagnosis of family members. While in some families the affected members have the same MPN subtype (PV, ET, or PMF), in other families patients with different MPN subtypes are present in the same pedigree (Bellanne-Chantelot et al, 2006; Kralovics et al, 2003; Rumi et al, 2007). The same is true regarding somatic mutations, i.e. in some families all affected members have JAK2-V617F mutations, in others there are different mutations in different patients (JAK2-V617F, JAK2-exon12, MPL), in yet other families some members have somatic mutations in known genes, the others are negative, and finally some MPN families are described by the absence of any known MPN mutations (Bellanne-Chantelot et et al.)

al, 2006; Pardanani et al, 2006a; Rumi et al, 2006). Significant variation exists also regarding the complications or progression of the disease, with some families showing unusually increased tendency to certain complications (Bellanne-Chantelot et al, 2006; Rumi, 2008). There is also variability in the penetrance of the disease ranging from low penetrance to almost complete penetrance, and in the inheritance mechanism, resembling autosomal dominant or recessive (Landgren et al, 2008; Rumi et al, 2007). However, overall familial MPN seem to have autosomal dominant inheritance pattern with low penetrance (Harutyunyan & Kralovics, 2012; Rumi, 2008).

To conclude regarding familial MPN, it is important to note that despite comprehensive characterization and studies of large cohorts of families, the germline mutations responsible for those cases have not been identified so far.

There are also interesting developments in the area of common predisposition in MPN. Using candidate gene approach, one study found several SNPs in the region of *JAK2* gene to be associated with PV phenotype when compared to ET (Pardanani et al, 2008). This can have important implications for the germline genetics field of MPN, since this is the first report showing that a germline SNP can influence the susceptibility to a specific subtype of the disease. Subsequent studies will show whether there are more common SNPs involved in MPN predisposition or this one was just an exception.

1.2.3 Genetics of MPN-like disorders

A group of inherited hematological disorders present with MPN-like symptoms and in many cases it is rather difficult to differentiate them. These MPN-like disorders have more benign clinical course and some important differences from MPN. In contrast to MPN, they have almost complete penetrance, polyclonal hematopoiesis, involve single hematopoietic lineage (erythroid or megakaryocytic), do not carry somatic mutations and usually there is no progression of the disease (Percy & Rumi, 2009; Rumi, 2008). Although there are some reports that these patients develop thrombotic and hemorrhagic complications similar to MPN, usually the disease course is benign (Ding et al, 2004; Teofili et al, 2007; Teofili et al, 2010). MPN-like disorders subdivided into hereditary erythrocytosis are and hereditary thrombocytosis, and each of these can be primary or secondary (Percy & Rumi,

2009). The genetic basis of these disorders has been partially elucidated and will be discussed in more detail. The underlying germline genetic defect in MPN-like disorders is driving the disease itself, without the need for further somatic mutations.

Hereditary erythrocytosis. The patients are characterized by elevated red blood cell levels in the absence of changes in platelet or white blood cell levels (Percy & Rumi, 2009). In case of primary familial and congenital polycythemia, many patients are found to carry truncating mutations in *EPOR* gene, which result in the removal of its inhibitory domain (de la Chapelle et al, 1993). The transmission of the disease is autosomal dominant, the serum levels of erythropoietin are very low and the erythrocytosis is primary. In contrast, other patients carrying mutations in oxygensensing pathway genes (*VHL*, *EGLN1*, *EPAS1*) or genes affecting oxygen affinity of hemoglobin (*HBB*, *BPGM*) have either high of inappropriately normal levels of erythropoietin levels (Albiero et al, 2011; Ang et al, 2002a; Ang et al, 2002b; Percy et al, 2008; Rosa et al, 1978; Wajcman & Galacteros, 2005). The patients have increased risk for thrombosis but do not show signs of disease progression. Except for *VHL* mutations, when the inheritance is autosomal recessive, other cases of erythrocytosis are transmitted in autosomal dominant manner (Percy & Rumi, 2009).

Hereditary thrombocytosis. As in case of hereditary erythrocytosis, hereditary thrombocytosis can also be primary and secondary. Mutations in thrombopoietin (*THPO*) gene result in more stable mRNA and thus increased amounts of thrombopoietin, which in turn causes secondary thrombocytosis (Liu et al, 2008; Wiestner et al, 1998).

A proportion of hereditary primary thrombocytosis is caused by S505N mutation in *MPL* gene (Ding et al, 2004; El-Harith el et al, 2009; Moliterno et al, 2004; Teofili et al, 2007). This mutation is different from somatic mutations in MPL that are found in MPN cases. The effect of *MPL* mutations is constitutive hyperactivity of the receptor and consequently JAK-STAT pathway. In these patients the levels of thrombopoietin are very low (Percy & Rumi, 2009; Rumi, 2008). MPL-S505N mutation has been found in a few familial cases of pediatric ET (which actually are not ET, but rather thrombocytosis patients) and has been shown to be identical-by-descent (Teofili et al, 2007; Teofili et al, 2010).

Recently germline mutations in *JAK2* (V617I, R564Q, H608N) were shown to cause hereditary primary thrombocytosis with similar features as germline *MPL*

mutations (Etheridge et al, 2011; Mead et al, 2012; Rumi et al, 2012b). The levels of thrombopoietin are also low and the mutations result in hyperactivity of JAK-STAT pathway, demonstrated by hyperphosphorylation of STATs (Mead et al, 2013). These mutations seem to be milder than V617F, the latter is embryonically lethal and can be acquired only somatically.

Gene	Germline	Disease	Inheritance	Clonality	Lineage
	mutation				involvement
JAK2	missense mutations (V617I, H564Q, H608N)	hereditary thrombocytosis / ET	autosomal dominant	polyclonal	megakaryocytic
MPL	missense mutation (S505N)	hereditary thrombocytosis	autosomal dominant	polyclonal	megakaryocytic
THPO	splice site/ missense/ regulatory mutations	hereditary thrombocytosis	autosomal dominant	polyclonal	megakaryocytic
EPOR	truncating mutations	primary familial and congenital erythrocytosis	autosomal dominant	polyclonal	erythroid
VHL	loss-of function mutations	hereditary secondary erythrocytosis	autosomal recessive	polyclonal	erythroid
EPAS1	missense mutations	hereditary secondary erythrocytosis	autosomal dominant	polyclonal	erythroid
EGLN1	loss-of function mutations	hereditary secondary erythrocytosis	autosomal dominant	polyclonal	erythroid
HBB	high oxygen affinity variants	hereditary secondary erythrocytosis	autosomal dominant	polyclonal	erythroid
BPGM	loss-of function mutations	hereditary secondary erythrocytosis	autosomal dominant	polyclonal	erythroid

Table 1. Summary of identified germline mutations predisposing to MPN-like disorders.

The mutations so far described in hereditary erythrocytosis (listed in the **Table 1**) and thrombocytosis explain only a certain proportion of the families. Only about 15% of primary erythrocytosis is explained by *EPOR* mutations, while *MPL*, *JAK2*

and *THPO* explain about 20-25% of hereditary thrombocytosis (Percy & Rumi, 2009; Rumi, 2008). This implies that there are more genes yet to be discovered to be causative in the remaining majority of the cases. The high penetrance of the disease facilitates the identification of key germline mutations in these families in contrast to true MPN where the low penetrance is a major problem.

1.2.4 Hereditary factors in other myeloid malignancies

Germline genetic factors are also important in other myeloid cancers such as MDS and AML. A number of highly penetrant mutations have been described to confer susceptibility to these diseases, particularly in the familial predisposition context. In this sense the germline genetics field is more advanced for MDS/AML compared to MPN.

The familial cases of MDS and AML can be divided into two main groups: syndromic and non-syndromic (or pure). Syndromic cases are caused by mutations in various genes which also result in various different non-hematological symptoms. In essence, MDS and/or AML are just one of the features of the syndrome (Liew & Owen, 2011). On the other hand, in non-syndromic cases hematological phenotype is the only manifestation of the disease. Some examples of those will be discussed below. In most cases, the inheritance is autosomal dominant.

Germline mutations in *RUNX1*, a member of core binding factor transcription complex, are causing familial platelet disorder with propensity to myeloid malignancy (Song et al, 1999). Many such families have been described so far and the phenotypic features are quite variable, ranging from mild platelet abnormalities and thrombocytopenia up to full-blown MDS and AML. Additionally, some cases with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) have been described (Liew & Owen, 2011). The development of MDS and AML has quite a long period of latency in these familial cases since additional somatic lesions are required to drive the leukemia. In many cases the second hit is the loss of the second *RUNX1* allele, by point mutation of a deletion (Liew & Owen, 2011). Another class of familial MDS/AML are caused by small deletions on chromosome 21 spanning *RUNX1* locus, with essentially the same pathogenesis, although sometimes these are associated with non-hematological symptoms as well (Huret et al, 1995). As already mentioned in the section above, *RUNX1* somatic mutations can also be acquired somatically in myeloid malignancies,

particularly in sAML (Ding et al, 2009).

CEBPA germline mutations have been implicated in familial cases of AML (Smith et al, 2004). The development of AML has a long period of latency, consistent with the acquisition of additional mutational hits. These patients have also been reported to present with eosinophilia (Carmichael et al, 2010).

Mutations in *GATA2* in germline context have been recently described as a cause of familial MDS in four families (Hahn et al, 2011). In contrast to *RUNX1* or *CEBPA* mutations, the patients do not have additional hematological symptoms and only have typical MDS features. As for the other cases of familial MDS, the disease requires and is mainly driven by additional somatically acquired mutations and chromosomal aberrations (Hahn et al, 2011).

An autosomal dominant form of familial MDS/AML is associated with germline mutations in telomere components *TERC* (telomerase RNA component) or *TERT* (telomerase reverse transcriptase) (Kirwan et al, 2009; Yamaguchi et al, 2003). Telomerase is expressed in stem cells and is necessary for highly proliferative tissues such as bone marrow to maintain the proper length of telomeres and hence the integrity of chromosomes. Loss-of-function mutations in telomerase components result in telomere shortening and eventually in acquisition of additional chromosomal aberrations. The latter are, in turn, manifesting by the development of MDS/AML. An important feature of this form of familial MDS/AML is the disease anticipation when each following generation has earlier age of disease onset. This is explained by the gradual germline shortening of telomeres in each generation (Liew & Owen, 2011).

An interesting class of the familial MDS is the familial monosomy 7. The members of the family affected by MDS/AML carry monosomy of chromosome 7 (or in some cases partial loss of chromosome 7) which has somatic origin (Gaitonde et al, 2010). This loss of chromosome is not consistent with Knudson's two-hit hypothesis since both paternal and maternal chromosomes can be lost in the different members of the same family essentially ruling out that the causative gene is on chromosome 7 (Minelli et al, 2001). Since chromosome 7 abnormalities are common in myeloid malignancies, it is not surprising and likely has the same value as monosomy 7 in sporadic cases of MDS and AML. The predisposition gene is so far unknown, as well as the mechanism by which monosomy 7 is consistently somatically acquired (Liew & Owen, 2011).

Although mutations in a number of genes responsible for familial MDS/AML

20

have been identified, those explain only a proportion of familial occurrence of the disease. For the rest of the pedigrees, the cause remains so far unknown.

Germline mutations in *CBL* are responsible for familial cases of juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia (JMML) (Niemeyer et al, 2010). These patients also present with developmental abnormalities implicating a broader role for CBL. As mentioned above, somatic *CBL* mutations are common in MPN and other myeloid malignancies. Interestingly, sporadic JMML cases can also mutate *CBL* somatically which might be equivalent of the germline mutations, but confined to bone marrow tissue (Niemeyer et al, 2010; Sanada et al, 2009).

2. AIMS

The aim of the thesis has been to contribute to the discovery of new germline genetic factors involved in MPN and enhance the knowledge of the mechanisms by which those factors predispose to MPN or influence the pathogenesis. The specific aims were as follows:

- develop a familial linkage analysis algorithm that can easily cope with highthroughput microarray genotyping data;
- use the linkage analysis method for the families with multiple cases of MPN and identify the genomic regions that contain germline causative mutations;
- identify the causative germline mutations in those MPN families by performing whole exome sequencing and focusing on genomic regions showing linkage;
- screen all available familial MPN cases for recurrent germline and somatic mutations the genes with identified germline mutations;
- understand the roles of identified mutated genes in MPN and the pathways they are involved in;
- study the effect of common SNPs on MPN predisposition, as well as in the context of familial MPN, particularly those within the *JAK2* gene region;
- assess the possibility of the interaction of germline variants and somatic genetic changes using SNP microarray analysis and exome sequencing.

3. RESULTS

3.1 Development of a non-parametric familial linkage analysis algorithm: Segregation exclusion analysis (SEGEX)

The introduction of high throughput genotyping microarrays with dense SNP markers opened up new opportunities for familial linkage analysis. The high number of SNP markers adequately compensates for low polymorphism rate of SNPs and can provide enough power for non-parametric linkage tests. The dramatic increase in SNP density of arrays has not been efficiently utilized in familial linkage analysis and algorithms developed for small number of genotypes cannot cope with massive genotypic data sets due to lack of computational power. The inclusion of many non-polymorphic SNPs creates an additional obstacle for traditional linkage analysis algorithms, as those tend to generate false linkage peaks and cover the real linkage signals. The most commonly used programs currently for non-parametric linkage analysis, GENEHUNTER, dChip, Merlin, Allegro etc., are especially prone to these types of problems since they give different scores when one or both alleles are shared. Another type of scoring proposed by previously (Thomas et al, 1994), which treats single or double allele sharing equally, is less demanding computationally and more robust.

The SEGEX algorithm description. The basic concept of the SEGEX algorithm is to identify all genomic regions not shared among affected members of a pedigree and call genomic regions where such an exclusion of allele sharing is not possible. This method uses only genotypic information from affected members of the family and thus is non-parametric. SNP genotypes of all affected members of a family are listed as a table with each row representing a SNP and each column an affected subject (**Figure 3**). The genotypic calls are presented in form of AA/AB/BB. For each SNP the AAS (absence of allele-sharing) value is assigned as follows: AAS=1 if both AA and BB genotypes are present (absence of allele sharing) among the affected subjects; AAS=0 if allele sharing is present and AA and BB genotypes are not observed together among the affected subjects. After AAS values are assigned to each SNP at a specific physical position (chromosome and position in base pairs), the genomic position for each SNP (x axis) is plotted against its AAS value (y axis) using standard graph plotting software (**Figure 4**). Whenever there is a long genomic

region with the absence of AAS=1 calls, the region can be identified manually as shared among affected subjects of the pedigree. Genomic region >2Mb with the absence of AAS=1 calls were annotated. An example of such a shared region is shown of **Figure 4**.



Figure 3. The concept behind SEGEX linkage analysis method.



Figure 4. An example of visualization of SEGEX analysis results for one chromosome. The shared regions are marked with red bars.

Frequency of false genotype calls and their influence on the SEGEX algorithm. High-throughput genotyping platforms have a certain error rate. False genotypic calls influence AAS value assignment and can reduce the sensitivity of region calling. To assess the frequency of false genotypes of the SNP microarray platform used in our study we assigned AAS values for a parent-child pair (**Figure 5**).



Figure 5. SEGEX results for a parent-child pair showing complete sharing of a chromosome.

As parent and child share one allele for every position of the genome AAS values should equal 0 genome-wide. In the example shown on the Figure 5 1C, few SNPs exhibited AAS=1 in the analyzed parent-child pair. To reduce the effect of wrongly assigned AAS values on shared region calling, the algorithm allows certain number of AAS values of 1 within a long stretch of 0s (as a default we used the threshold of 5 SNPs with AAS=1 within a stretch of 1000 SNPs).

Algorithm validation in a Parkinson's disease pedigree. To validate the SEGEX algorithm we studied a pedigree with Parkinson's disease (PD) in which PD is caused by a previously described *LRRK2* gene mutation R1441C (Zimprich et al, 2004). Six affected members of the family were genotyped using Affymetrix SNP 6.0 microarrays and the shared genomic regions were visualized using the SEGEX algorithm (**Figure 6**). These six affected members of the pedigree represent a total of 10 meioses from the founder (meiotic count=10). As shown in Figure 2a, the vast majority of the genome was excluded and only a single 9.8 Mb region on chromosome 12 was shared among the six affected subjects (**Figure 7**). The *LRRK2*

gene responsible for PD in this pedigree was located within the detected region.



Figure 6. The family tree of Parkinson's disease family used for validation of **SEGEX algorithm.** The family members marked with sample names were used in the analysis. The affected members are shown as filled circles and squares.





Algorithm validation in two families with hereditary thrombocytosis. We further studied two additional families with known gain-of-function mutations in the *THPO* gene associated with hereditary thrombocytosis (Liu et al, 2008; Wiestner et al, 1998). Hereditary thrombocytosis is an autosomal dominant disorder

characterized by elevated serum thrombopoietin levels and high platelet count. The mutations of the *THPO* gene in hereditary thrombocytosis interfere with the negative translation regulatory sequences in the 5'UTR and result in increased translation efficiency from the *THPO* mRNA. Two unrelated families with hereditary thrombocytosis were included in this study both positive for the G to C transversion in the splice donor of intron 3 of *THPO*. Ten affected members from the first family and eight members from the second family were genotyped. Meiotic counts among the analyzed affected members in these two families were 12 and 8, respectively (**Figure 8**).



Figure 8. The family trees of the two hereditary thrombocytosis families used for the validation of SEGEX algorithm. The members used in the analysis are marked with samples names.

In the first family the SEGEX algorithm identified a single 10.1 Mb region on chromosome 3 that included the *THPO* gene (**Figure 9**). As the meiotic count and number of affected members was lower in the second family, the SEGEX algorithm detected 3 shared regions; one of them, on chromosome 3, was overlapping with the *THPO* locus (**Figure 10**). The shared regions on chromosome 3 in these two pedigrees overlapped in 7.8 Mb and *THPO* gene was within the minimal overlapping region on chromosome 3.



Figure 9. SEGEX results for the first family with hereditary thrombocytosis. The only genomic region shared by all family members is on chromosome 3 and contains *THPO* gene which was shown to carry the pathogenic mutation.



Figure 10. SEGEX results for the second family with hereditary thrombocytosis. One of the three genomic regions shared by all family members is on chromosome 3 and contains *THPO* gene which was shown to carry the pathogenic mutation.

Family size and power of region detection by the SEGEX algorithm. The

meiotic count separating the affected individuals included in a SEGEX analysis is

expected to have major influence on the exclusion power of the algorithm. The farther the affected members are within the family the less genomic regions are shared among them. In the most extreme case the whole genome is shared as in case of a parent-child pair (**Figure 5**). When two unrelated individuals are paired and analyzed together no regions are shared. To validate these extremes we have analyzed pairs of randomly selected unrelated subjects. When two unrelated individuals are paired and analyzed together no regions are shared. (**Figure 11**). The unrelated pairs and parent-child pairs represent the two extreme sides of kinship with a close to infinite meiotic count in the former and a meiotic count of one in the latter case.



Figure 11. SEGEX results for two unrelated individuals. An example chromosome is shown. No shared regions are detected.

For the remaining cases in between (meiotic counts >1), we examined the relation between meiotic count and the total genomic size of shared genomic regions (in base pairs). The three families used for validation of the SEGEX algorithm were partitioned to obtain new 'sub-families' each with a variable meiotic count. The analysis was performed on sub-families and the total size of shared regions was calculated. When meiotic count of each sub-family and the SEGEX detected shared region size is plotted, a negative exponential correlation between meiotic count and size of shared genomic region was observed (**Figure 12**).



Figure 12. Negative exponential correlation between total size of detected regions by SEGEX and the number of meioses separating all the affected members.
3.2 Identification of germline mutations in *RBBP6* predisposing to myeloproliferative neoplasms

The development of a robust familial linkage analysis algorithm (SEGEX) allowed us to proceed with identification of germline variants predisposing to MPN. In order to identify such a mutation, we studied an Australian MPN pedigree. Five members of the family in four generations have been diagnosed with MPN (**Figure 13**).



Figure 13. The family tree of the Australian MPN family used in the study. The patients with somatic *JAK2* and *MPL* mutations are marked.

DNA was available from three affected members. One affected member carried JAK2-V617F while another member carried MPL-W515L somatic mutations (**Figure 14**).



Figure 14. Somatic point mutations in *JAK2* and *MPL* genes detected in affected members of the family.

No *JAK2* or *MPL* mutations were detected in healthy subjects of the pedigree. Two of the three affected subjects carried other somatic lesions detected by SNP microarrays (**Figure 15**).



Figure 15. Chromosomal aberrations detected in affected family members by SNP microarrays.

To map the candidate disease loci in the pedigree, we applied our nonparametric algorithm SEGEX. Using about 900,000 SNP genotypes, we identified 12 shared genomic regions with a total size of 217.87 Mb amongst the three affected subjects (**Figure 16, Table 2**).

Chromosome	Start	End	Size, Mb
3	169957402	183120944	13.16
4	126496421	179602914	53.11
4	185211312	191167888	5.96
6	18820505	23795069	4.97
13	23737574	35954484	12.22
14	99164870	106356482	7.19
16	14336994	35063218	20.73
17	52326240	67187833	14.86
20	9895067	24959423	15.06
20	38969553	50664093	11.69
Х	109805	13612919	13.50
Х	46406761	91827344	45.42

Table 2. Shared genomic regions detected in the family by SEGEX analysis.



Figure 16. Genomic regions shared by the three affected members in the family identified by the SEGEX analysis. Arrows indicate the physical position of the the candidate genes *RBBP6*, *ARMC5*, and *C20orf3*.

As one of these genomic regions was likely to carry the disease-causing mutation, we applied next generation exome sequencing. After reference alignment, single nucleotide variants (SNV) and deletion-insertion variants (DIV) were detected and a number of filtering criteria were applied (**Figure 17**).



Figure 17. Exome sequencing data analysis and variant filtering for the Australian family

We performed Sanger sequencing of all the 18 final candidate variants and confirmed DNA variants segregating with the disease in three genes (*RBBP6*, *C20orf3*, and *ARMC5*) (**Figure 18, Table 3**).



Figure 18. Validation of the mutations in *RBBP6*, *ARMC5*, and *C20orf3* segregating with the disease in the pedigree. The locations of mutations are marked with arrow.

Table 3. Validation of detected SNVs and DIVs from exome sequencing of the Australian family.

							Genotypes		
chr	position	DNA change	mutation type	amino acid change	gene	MPD_214	MPD_219	MPD_227	Validation
4	146252857	C>G	missense	P243A	ABCE1	C/C	C/C	C/C	No
4	177842076	delTCA	deletion	M418del	VEGFC	/	/	/	No
4	191110341	A>G	missense	E55G	FRG1	A/A	A/A	A/A	No
13	23919323	A>G	missense	I1039T	PARP4	A/A	A/A	A/A	No
13	35910866	delT	deletion	V252GfsX29	CCNA1	Т	Т	Т	No
14	104492040	G>A	nonsense	Q265X	AHNAK2	G/G	G/G	G/G	No
16	15692679	G>A	missense	R234H	NDE1	G/A	G/A	G/G	No
16	24490594	G>A	missense	R1569H	RBBP6	G/A	G/A	G/A	Yes
16	31383365	C>T	missense	P507L	ARMC5	C/T	C/T	C/T	Yes
17	62457148	T>G	missense	S184A	CACNG4	T/T	T/T	T/T	No
20	24892517	G>A	missense	D395N	C20orf3	C/T	C/T	C/T	Yes
20	43437570	delATT	deletion	N97del	TP53TG5	ATT/	ATT/	ATT/ATT	No
20	44607932	G>T	missense	T163N	C20orf123	G/G	G/G	G/G	No
20	48654710	T>C	missense	D318G	FAM65C	C/T	C/C	C/T	No
Х	2842668	A>G	stop loss	X383Q	ARSD	A/A	A/A	A/A	No
Х	57635595	G>A	missense	G130D	ZXDB	G/G	G/G	G/G	No
Х	66683162	C>A	nonsense	Y483X	AR	C/C	C/C	C/C	No
Х	11693616	G>T	missense	A174S	MSL3L1	G/T	G/G	G/G	No

Abbreviations: chr, chromosome; del, deletion; fs, frameshift.

To identify which of the three variants is causative, we applied several strategies. Firstly, we examined healthy subjects for the presence of the candidate variants (**Table 4**). Based on this analysis, ARMC5-P507L was excluded due to 7% frequency in controls while RBBP6-R1569H and C20orf3-D395N were not found in any of over 700 controls.

gene	cDNA change	protein change	PolyPhen2 score	SIFT score	Phast conservation	in healthy controls
RBBP6	c.4706G>T	R1569H	0.766*	0.04+	0.990	0/715
C20orf3	c.1183G>A	D395N	0.002	0.53	0.834	0/701
ARMC5	c.1520C>T	P507L	0.001	0.03+	0.000	5/71

 Table 4. Comparison of three validated and segregating variants detected in

 Australian family.

*possibly damaging, *damaging.

Abbreviations: cDNA, complementary deoxyribonucleic acid; c., cDNA position.

Next we sequenced the exons carrying the *RBBP6* and *C20orf3* mutations in an additional 66 MPN families. This analysis yielded two unique mutations in *RBBP6* (E1654G and R1451T) (**Figure 19**, **Table 5**) and one polymorphism in *C20orf3* (P406L) present in 4% of the controls.

Pedigree	Sample	diagnosis	JAK2/MPL	cDNA change	amino acid change	Polyphen 2 score	in healthy controls
1	MPD214	ET	MPL-W515L	c.4706G>T	R1569H	0.766*	0/715
	MPD219	PMF	-	c.4706G>T	R1569H		
	MPD227	PMF	JAK2-V617F	c.4706G>T	R1569H		
2	f16p1	PMF	JAK2-V617F	c.4961A>G	E1654G	0.375	0/649
3	570	PMF	JAK2-V617F	c.4352G>C	R1451T	0.942**	0/642
4	MPC07-350	ET	JAK2-V617F	c.5332_5337del	K1778-E1779del	N/A	29/202
Sporadic	H_0327	PV	JAK2-Ex12del	c.4331C>T	S1444F	0.976**	0/650
Sporadic	H_0580	ET	JAK2-V617F	c.4331C>T	S1444F	0.976**	0/650
Sporadic	H_0465	ET	-	c.4981A>G	I1661V	0.001	3/649
Sporadic	H_0437	PV	-	c.5018C>T	A1673V	0.010	0/607

Table 5. Summary of *RBBP6* variants in familial and sporadic MPN cases.

*possibly damaging, **probably damaging.

Abbreviations: Ex12del – exon 12 deletion E543-D544; del, deletion; N/A, not available.

In summary, we identified three new *RBBP6* mutations in a total of 67 MPN pedigrees (4.5%). Apart from the three affected subjects eight additional healthy subjects carried RBBP6-R1569H in the Australian pedigree, consistent with the expected low penetrance and in agreement with previous estimates (Olcaydu et al, 2011). Due to the low penetrance associated with *RBBP6* mutations, establishment of family history of MPN may be difficult. Therefore, we screened for *RBBP6* mutations in 490 sporadic MPN cases. In this analysis we identified two unique

germline mutations (S1444F and A1673V) in three apparently unrelated patients and one polymorphism (I1661V) present in 0.5% of controls (**Table 5**; **Figure 19**). Overall, we identified 5 different germline *RBBP6* mutations associated with MPN and not detected in the general population (**Table 5**).



Figure 19. The germline *RBBP6* mutations found in familial and sporadic MPN cases. The family trees with their respective mutations are shown on top, while the mutations in sporadic MPN cases are shown at the bottom of the figure.

Several previous reports have shown that RBBP6 is a negative regulator of p53, has putative E3 ubiquitin ligase activity and predicted Rb and p53 binding regions (UniProtKB, /www.uniprot.org/)(Li et al, 2007; Simons et al, 1997). Together with Mdm2, Rbbp6 ubiquitinates and degrades p53 (Li et al, 2007). As the *RBBP6* mutations identified in this study were all located in the vicinity of the p53-binding domain, we hypothesized that *RBBP6* mutations may affect p53 function.

Interestingly, all the *RBBP6* mutations identified in our study are clustered in the p53binding domain (**Figure 20**).



Figure 20. The localization of RBBP6 mutations. The schematic structure of RBBP6 protein with known and predicted domains is shown. The locations of the detected mutations that are not observed in healthy controls are marked with stars. BR, binding region; Znf, zinc finger domain; DWNN, domain with no name.

3.3 Manuscript # 1: p53 lesions in leukemic transformation

Harutyunyan A. et al.,

published in *N Engl J Med* 2011; 364: 488-490. Reprinted with permission.

There is accumulating evidence that p53 plays an important role in the pathogenesis of myeloproliferative neoplasms (Beer et al, 2010a; Nakatake et al, 2012). We conducted a SNP microarray study of more than 400 MPN patients in different phases of the disease (Klampfl et al, 2011). The study revealed a number of recurrent chromosomal aberrations, among which were gains in the long arm of the chromosome 1.

The minimal common amplified region on chromosome 1q spanned about 3.5 Mb and contained *MDM4* gene, a known negative regulator of p53. This aberration was particularly frequent in the stage of leukemic transformation of the patients. This finding led us to screen for *TP53* mutations in MPN patients that transformed to sAML. We found six patients with *TP53* mutations in the group of 19 patients with leukemic transformation (Harutyunyan et al, 2011b). All the mutations were somatically acquired. Interestingly, the *TP53* mutations and gains of chromosome 1q were mutually exclusive, which is in agreement with similar reports in other cancers (Veerakumarasivam et al, 2008).

The frequency of *TP53* mutations in sAML group was significantly higher than in the chronic phase MPN. *TP53* mutations combined with gains of chromosome 1q are present in about 45% of post-MPN AML patients (Harutyunyan et al, 2011b). This finding establishes p53 as one of the key pathways involved in the leukemic transformation of MPN patients. However, p53 pathway seems to be involved also in the pathogenesis of chronic phase MPN (Nakatake et al, 2012) and in some cases of germline predisposition (our data on *RBBP6* mutations, see section 3.2).

In the paper I have performed the analysis of microarray data, Sanger sequencing of *TP53* in sAML and chronic phase MPN patients. I wrote the paper together with my supervisor, Dr. Robert Kralovics.

p53 Lesions in Leukemic Transformation

TO THE EDITOR: Myeloproliferative neoplasms have an inherent tendency toward leukemic transformation. The genetic mechanisms of transformation remain largely unknown. We analyzed biopsy specimens of myeloproliferative neoplastic tissue from 330 patients for chromosomal aberrations associated with leukemic transformation (the analysis was performed with the use of Genome-Wide Human SNP [single-nucleotide polymorphism] Array, Affymetrix). Of those patients, 308 had chronic-phase myeloproliferative neoplasms and 22 had postmyeloproliferativephase neoplasm secondary acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Among these 22 patients, 1 carried the myeloproliferative leukemia virus oncogene (MPL) W515L and all others carried the Janus kinase 2 gene (JAK2) V617F mutation. Amplifications of chromosome 1q were significantly associated with transformation to AML (0.32% in patients with chronic-phase myeloproliferative neoplasms and 18.18% in patients with secondary AML; P<0.001). The minimal amplified region on chromosome 1q (201.0 to 204.5 Mbp) harbored *MDM4* (Fig. 1A), a potent inhibitor of p53 often amplified in several types of cancer.¹ This observation led us to investigate the involvement of the p53 pathway in postmyeloproliferative-neoplasm AML.

We sequenced the *TP53* gene from all patients in whom leukemic transformation had occurred and found that 6 patients (27.3%) carried somatic mutations. Three of the patients had indepen-



Figure 1. Amplifications of Chromosome 1q and *TP53* Mutations in Patients with Postmyeloproliferative-Neoplasm Acute Myeloid Leukemia.

In Panel A, the green bars indicate regions of recurrent amplifications on chromosome 1q. The minimal amplified region on chromosome 1q contains the *MDM4* gene. Panel B shows the results of an analysis of malignant tissue samples (granulocytes) at different time points from two patients in whom there was a transformation to postmyeloproliferative-neoplasm acute myeloid leukemia; both also harbored biallelic *TP53* missense mutations. T cells have been used as a control tissue. The asterisks show the position of the mutations. The antisense direction of the sequencing is indicated by reverse lettering.

The New England Journal of Medicine

Downloaded from nejm.org on February 2, 2011. For personal use only. No other uses without permission. Copyright © 2011 Massachusetts Medical Society. All rights reserved.

CORRESPONDENCE

Table 1. Summary of TP53 Mutations and Other Lesions in Patients with Postmyeloproliferative-Neoplasm Acute Myeloid Leukemia.												
Patient No.	14/2	MDI	Gains of	TD52	ושמו		INK					
	V617E	Wild type	Chromosome 1q	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
2	V0171	Wild type	_	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
2	V017F	Wild type	—	Wild type	Wild type		Wild type					
3	V017F	Wild type	— Vac	Wild type	Wild type	K140W	Wild type					
4	V017F	Wild type	Tes	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
5	V617F		—			wild type	wild type					
5	V61/F	wild type		c.994-2 A>G (1/pUPD)	wild type	wild type	wild type					
/	V61/F	Wild type	Yes	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
8	V617F	Wild type	_	C135S/M246K	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
9	V617F	Wild type	—	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
10	V617F	Wild type	Yes	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
11	V617F	Wild type	—	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
12	V617F	Wild type	_	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
13	V617F	Wild type	_	N239D (17pUPD)	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
14	V617F	Wild type	_	c.560-1 G>A/Y220H	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
15	V617F	Wild type	_	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
16	V617F	Wild type	—	K132E	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
17	V617F	Wild type	—	S261T/N239D	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
18	V617F	Wild type	_	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
19	V617F	Wild type	_	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
20	V617F	Wild type		Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					
21	V617F	Wild type	_	Wild type	R132G	Wild type	Wild type					
22	Wild type	W515L	Yes	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type	Wild type					

* UPD denotes uniparental disomy.

dent mutations on both *TP53* alleles, and 2 had homozygous mutations because of an acquired uniparental disomy of chromosome 17p. One patient had only one mutated *TP53* allele (Table 1). None of the patients with *TP53* mutations had amplification of chromosome 1q. The phenomenon of mutual exclusivity of *TP53* mutations and *MDM4* amplifications has been also observed in solid tumors.²

Among the 22 patients with postmyeloproliferative-neoplasm AML, 10 (45.5%) had evidence of a p53-related defect mediated by *TP53* gene mutations or gains of chromosome 1q (Table 1). We detected monoallelic *TP53* mutations (R283C and E298K) in 2 of 65 patients with chronicphase myeloproliferative neoplasms, indicating that low mutation frequency is associated with this condition (3.1%). Thus, in our cohort, *TP53* mutations were strongly associated with transformation to AML in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms (P=0.003). Recent reports have implicated *IDH1/2*, *LNK*, and *IKZF1* in this transformation.³⁻⁵ We found one mutation in *IDH1* and one in *IDH2* in postmyeloproliferative-neoplasm AML but no *LNK* mutations (Table 1). In our cohort, *TP53* mutations and 1q gains were the most frequent lesions associated with postmyeloproliferative-neoplasm AML.

Tissue samples from chronic-phase myeloproliferative neoplasms were available from two of the patients who carried biallelic *TP53* mutations and whose condition had progressed to secondary AML. Patient 8 carried both *TP53* mutations in the chronic phase, but in a smaller clone; in Patient 17, only one of the two mutations was present in the chronic phase (Fig. 1B). The fact

N ENGLJ MED 364;5 NEJM.ORG FEBRUARY 3, 2011

The New England Journal of Medicine

Downloaded from nejm.org on February 2, 2011. For personal use only. No other uses without permission.

Copyright © 2011 Massachusetts Medical Society. All rights reserved.

that *TP53* mutations were detectable in both patients during the chronic phase suggests that *TP53* mutations may predict leukemic transformation in myeloproliferative neoplasms.

Ashot Harutyunyan, M.D.

Thorsten Klampfl, Mag. Center for Molecular Medicine Vienna, Austria

Mario Cazzola, M.D. University of Pavia Pavia, Italy

Robert Kralovics, Ph.D.

Center for Molecular Medicine Vienna, Austria

robert.kralovics@cemm.oeaw.ac.at

Disclosure forms provided by the authors are available with the full text of this letter at NEJM.org.

1. Laurie NA, Donovan SL, Shih CS, et al. Inactivation of the p53 pathway in retinoblastoma. Nature 2006;444:61-6.

2. Veerakumarasivam A, Scott HE, Chin SF, et al. High-resolution array-based comparative genomic hybridization of bladder cancers identifies mouse double minute 4 (*MDM*4) as an amplification target exclusive of *MDM2* and *TP53*. Clin Cancer Res 2008;14:2527-34.

3. Green A, Beer P. Somatic mutations of *IDH1* and *IDH2* in the leukemic transformation of myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Engl J Med 2010;362:369-70.

4. Pardanani A, Lasho T, Finke C, Oh ST, Gotlib J, Tefferi A. LNK mutation studies in blast-phase myeloproliferative neoplasms, and in chronic-phase disease with *TET2*, *IDH*, *JAK2* or *MPL* mutations. Leukemia 2010;24:1713-8.

5. Jäger R, Gisslinger H, Passamonti F, et al. Deletions of the transcription factor Ikaros in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Leukemia 2010;24:1290-8.

Correspondence Copyright © 2011 Massachusetts Medical Society.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR LETTERS TO THE EDITOR

Letters to the Editor are considered for publication, subject to editing and abridgment, provided they do not contain material that has been submitted or published elsewhere. Please note the following:

- Letters in reference to a *Journal* article must not exceed 175 words (excluding references) and must be received within 3 weeks after publication of the article.
- Letters not related to a *Journal* article must not exceed 400 words.
- A letter can have no more than five references and one figure or table.
- A letter can be signed by no more than three authors.
- Financial associations or other possible conflicts of interest must be disclosed. Disclosures will be published with the letters. (For authors of *Journal* articles who are responding to letters, we will only publish new relevant relationships that have developed since publication of the article.)
- Include your full mailing address, telephone number, fax number, and e-mail address with your letter.
- All letters must be submitted at authors.NEJM.org.

Letters that do not adhere to these instructions will not be considered. We will notify you when we have made a decision about possible publication. Letters regarding a recent *Journal* article may be shared with the authors of that article. We are unable to provide prepublication proofs. Submission of a letter constitutes permission for the Massachusetts Medical Society, its licensees, and its assignees to use it in the *Journal's* various print and electronic publications and in collections, revisions, and any other form or medium.

CORRECTIONS

Telemonitoring in Patients with Heart Failure (December 9, 2010;363:2301-9). In Table 1 (page 2305), the data for white race were incorrect. In the Telemonitoring column, the number of patients should have been 414, rather than 413, and in the Usual Care column, the number and percentage should have been 401 (48.5), rather than 402 (48.6). The article is correct at NEJM.org.

Tourette's Syndrome (December 9, 2010;363:2332-8). In the final paragraph (page 2337), the third to last sentence, beginning "For combined . . . ," should have ended, ". . . although this agent is not approved by the FDA for Tourette's syndrome," rather than ". . . although this agent is not approved by the FDA for these conditions." We regret the error. The article is correct at NEJM.org.

Management of Varices and Variceal Hemorrhage in Cirrhosis (March 4, 2010;362:823-32). Dr. Bosch's affiliation (page 823) should have been "Hospital Clinic, Hepatic Hemodynamic Laboratory, Liver Unit, University of Barcelona, and Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Hepáticas y Digestivas — both in Barcelona." Also, in Table 3 (page 828), the dose for somatostatin should have been "Intravenous 250- μ g bolus, followed by infusion of 250-500 μ g/hr," rather than "Intravenous 250-mg bolus, followed by infusion of 250 mg/hr." The article is correct at NEJM.org.

NOTICES

Notices submitted for publication should contain a mailing address and telephone number of a contact person or department. We regret that we are unable to publish all notices received. Notices also appear on the Journal's Web site (NEJM.org/medical-conference). The listings can be viewed in their entirety or filtered by specialty, location, or month.

25TH EUROPEAN CONFERENCE ON PHILOSOPHY OF MEDICINE AND HEALTH CARE: PRIORITIES IN MEDICINE AND HEALTH CARE

The conference will be held in Zurich, Switzerland, Aug. 17–20. It is organized by the European Society for Philosophy of Medicine and Healthcare (ESPMH) and the Institute of Biomedical Ethics, University of Zurich, Switzerland. Deadline for submission of abstracts is March 1.

Contact Prof. Bert Gordijn, Secretary of the ESPMH, Institute of Ethics, Henry Grattan Building, Dublin City University, Dublin 9, Ireland; or e-mail bert.gordijn@dcu.ie.

THE JOURNAL'S WEB AND E-MAIL ADDRESSES:

For letters to the Editor: **authors.NEJM.org** For information about the status of a submitted manuscript: **authors.NEJM.org**

To submit a meeting notice: meetingnotices@NEJM.org The Journal's Web pages: NEJM.org

N ENGLJ MED 364;5 NEJM.ORG FEBRUARY 3, 2011

The New England Journal of Medicine

Downloaded from nejm.org on February 2, 2011. For personal use only. No other uses without permission. Copyright © 2011 Massachusetts Medical Society. All rights reserved.

3.4 Manuscript # 2: A Common *JAK2* haplotype confers susceptibility to myeloproliferative neoplasms

Olcaydu D., Harutyunyan A. et al.

published in *Nat Genet* 2009; 41: 450-454. Reprinted with permission.

More than 95% of patients with PV and 50-60% of ET and PMF patients have acquired mutations in *JAK2*. Additional chromosomal aberrations and point mutations are acquired during the course of the disease, generating distinct subclones. Due to long duration of the disease, often a number of mutations and chromosomal aberrations create a complex clonal structure in MPN patients (Kralovics, 2008).

We investigated the clonal structure in MPN patients by growing and genotyping single progenitor colonies for detected mutations in each patient. In some patients there was evidence of independent acquisition of JAK2-V617F mutation in different subclones. Following up on this finding, we developed a PCR-based assay that detects the relationship of V617F mutation and a nearby germline polymorphism, rs12343867 in patients heterozygous for that SNP (Olcaydu et al, 2009a).to screen for multiple acquisition the mutation. We found 3 cases of multiple acquisition of JAK2-V617F in a cohort of 109 MPN patients. Interestingly, there was a non-random pattern of V617F mutation acquisition: the mutation happened significantly more often on the chromosome carrying C allele of the SNP than on the one with T allele (Olcaydu et al, 2009a). Considering this finding in the context of a recent report that SNPs in JAK2 region are differentially distributed in PV and ET patients (Pardanani et al, 2008), we hypothesized that the JAK2 haplotype confers risk to acquire JAK2-V617F mutation and thus to develop MPN. It was confirmed by genotyping MPN patients and healthy controls for the rs12343867 and surrounding SNPs. Further analyses delineated the JAK2 haplotype, termed 'GGCC', and showed that this haplotype increases the risk to develop JAK2-V617F positive MPN several fold (Olcaydu et al, 2009a), but does not confer increased risk of JAK2-negative MPN.

In this paper I have been involved in genotyping cases and controls for *JAK2* SNPs, statistical analysis of the data, as well as writing the paper together with first author Damla Olcaydu and my supervisor Dr. Robert Kralovics.



A common *JAK2* haplotype confers susceptibility to myeloproliferative neoplasms

Damla Olcaydu¹, Ashot Harutyunyan¹, Roland Jäger¹, Tiina Berg¹, Bettina Gisslinger², Ingrid Pabinger², Heinz Gisslinger² & Robert Kralovics^{1,2}

Genome-wide association studies have identified a number of new disease susceptibility loci that represent haplotypes defined by numerous SNPs. SNPs within a disease-associated haplotype are thought to influence either the expression of genes or the sequence of the proteins they encode. In a series of investigations of the JAK2 gene in myeloproliferative neoplasms, we uncovered a new property of haplotypes that can explain their disease association. We observed a nonrandom distribution of the somatic *JAK2*^{V617F} oncogenic mutation between two parental alleles of the JAK2 gene. We identified a haplotype that preferentially acquires JAK2^{V617F} and confers susceptibility to myeloproliferative neoplasms. One interpretation of our results is that a certain combination of SNPs may render haplotypes differentially susceptible to somatic mutagenesis. Thus, disease susceptibility loci may harbor somatic mutations that have a role in disease pathogenesis.

Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) are blood diseases characterized by clonal hematopoiesis, chronic excessive production of differentiated blood cells and increased risk for thrombosis and secondary leukemic transformation. Three major diseases constitute MPN: polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia and primary myelofibrosis. A somatic gain-of-function mutation of the JAK2 kinase gene on chromosome 9 has been identified in more than 50% of individuals with MPN¹⁻⁴. The mutation is an invariant G-to-T transversion in exon 14 resulting in a valine-to-phenylalanine substitution in codon 617 (JAK2^{V617F}). Only rare cases of additional mutations are found in MPN, including mutations in exon 12 of JAK2 and exon 10 of MPL genes⁵⁻⁷. In addition to these oncogenic mutations, chromosomal aberrations are also frequent in MPN. Although a recent study suggested that the observed chromosomal instability in MPN is dependent on JAK2^{V617F}, other studies have shown occurrence of chromosomal aberrations outside the JAK2^{V617F}-positive clone^{8,9}. Thus, the origin of chromosomal instability in MPN remains unclear and it has been hypothesized that mutations acquired before JAK2^{V617F} might be responsible¹⁰.

In our search for cytogenetic aberrations that precede JAK2^{V617F}, we identified an individual with primary myelofibrosis positive for

JAK2^{V617F} and with a complex karyotype. The individual had deletions on chromosomes 13q (del13q) and 20q (del20q) and an acquired uniparental disomy of chromosome 9p (Fig. 1). To examine the clonal relation of JAK2^{V617F} with chromosomal aberrations, we genotyped individual hematopoietic progenitor clones for the presence of JAK2^{V617F}, del13q and del20q. Using these three clonality markers, six genotypic classes (A-F) of progenitors were identified (Fig. 1a). The most numerous progenitor clone (E) showed homozygosity for JAK2^{V617F} and was positive for del13q. We observed colonies single positive for del13q (D) and for JAK2^{V617F} in a heterozygous state (B). To draw a conclusion on the clonal hierarchy of progenitors with this distribution of genotypes, we had to postulate that there were two independently acquired $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutations, one occurring on wild type and the other on a del13q-positive background (Fig. 1b). Deletion on chromosome 20q was acquired on a homozygous JAK2^{V617F} background that was negative for del13q. Using microarray analysis, we could confirm the genotypic classes of progenitors (Fig. 1c).

The most notable conclusion of our cytogenetic and clonal hierarchy analyses was the evidence for multiple acquisitions of JAK2^{V617F} in the same individual. To assess the frequency of multiple acquisition of JAK2^{V617F} among individuals with MPN, we designed an assay using a SNP in intron 14 (rs12343867) of JAK2 418 bp away from the JAK2^{V617F} mutation in exon 14 (Fig. 2a,b). Heterozygosity for rs12343867 distinguishes which of the two alleles of JAK2 acquired JAK2^{V617F} (Fig. 2a). Allele-specific PCR using a primer specific to JAK2^{V617F} and a primer distal to rs12343867 generates PCR products that can be genotyped with a Taqman assay for rs12343867. If the JAK2^{V617F} mutation was acquired on both chromosomes in two independent events, the allele-specific PCR product will be a mixture of the two alleles and their ratio will depend on the population size of the clones (Fig. 2b). Of our JAK2^{V617F}-positive subjects with MPN (n = 213), 109 were heterozygous for rs12343867 and thus informative for the assay. Although most subjects carried the mutation on only one of the two alleles, we detected three subjects (2.8%) who acquired JAK2^{V617F} on two JAK2 alleles (Fig. 2c). This was confirmed by subcloning of the PCR product and sequencing (Fig. 2d). Our assay captures only part of all cases with two JAK2^{V617F}-positive clones

Received 6 November 2008; accepted 2 February 2009; published online 15 March 2009; doi:10.1038/ng.341

¹Center for Molecular Medicine of the Austrian Academy of Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ²Department of Internal Medicine I, Division of Hematology and Blood Coagulation, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria. Correspondence should be addressed to R.K. (robert.kralovics@cemm.oeaw.ac.at).



because we cannot detect cases in which the two independent $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutations occurred on the same allele (**Fig. 2a**). Thus, the actual frequency of subjects with at least two $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutations among the 109 informative cases could be higher than 2.8%. Multiple acquisitions of oncogenic mutations in the same gene have not been previously demonstrated in other hematological malignancies, but multiple *KRAS* and multiple *KIT* mutations were found in several types of solid tumors^{11–15}. A previously published report showed coexistence of $JAK2^{V617F}$ with a JAK2 exon 12 deletion in the same individual in independent clones¹⁶. This report and our results indicate that individuals with MPN have an increased tendency to acquire JAK2 mutations with a frequency higher than expected from random mutagenesis.

Somatic mutations in cancer-associated genes are thought to arise from random mutagenesis resulting in equal distribution between two parental alleles. However, with the $JAK2^{V617F}$ oncogene, we observed an unequal distribution. The vast majority of subjects (93/109, 85%) heterozygous for rs12343867 carried the $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation on the C allele of JAK2 ($\chi^2 = 60.38$, $P = 7.8 \times 10^{-15}$) (**Fig. 2c**). To investigate this further, we analyzed the association between the JAK2 mutational Figure 1 Cytogenetic analysis of hematopoietic progenitor clones in a subject with primary myelofibrosis. (a) Genotyping of colony forming units (CFU; primarily consisting of erythroid burst-forming units and granulocyticmonocytic CFUs) for the presence of JAK2^{V617F} (het, heterozygous), uniparental disomy 9p (9pUPD), and deletions on chromosomes 13q (del13q) and 20q (del20q). Colonies with 9pUPD were homozygous for JAK2^{V617F}. Six genotypic classes were identified (A–F). (b) Clonal hierarchy of progenitors of the subject (white box) predicted from the identified genotypic classes. Each colored box represents a mutational event. The JAK2^{V617F} mutation was acquired in two independent events (V617F): one occurring on the del13q background, the other on wild type (WT) background. (c) Microarray validation of the six different genotypic classes in seven different CFU clones (1-7). The Affymetrix 50K Xbal and 10K Xbal Mapping arrays were used for probing whole-genome-amplified genomic DNA isolated from individually picked CFUs (loss of heterozygosity (LOH) plots are not in scale between the two array types). We detected LOH using the dChip software. Only chromosomes 13, 20 and 9 (chr. 13, chr. 20, chr. 9) with LOH are shown. Blue color indicates the presence and yellow color the absence of LOH. The del13q deletion breakpoints were identical in clones 4 and 5 (genomic position 39.3-84.2 Mb). The mitotic recombination breakpoints on chromosome 9 were at different position in clones 1,2 (genotypic class F) and 4,6 (genotypic classes C,E), respectively.

status and the rs12343867 genotype in a total of 333 subjects with MPN. JAK2^{V617F}-positive subjects (case population; n = 213) were compared to JAK2^{V617F}-negative subjects (control population, n = 120). Subjects heterozygous for rs12343867 and subjects homozygous for the C allele of rs12343867 were more likely to be JAK2^{V617F} positive than homozygotes for the T allele (Table 1). This indicates that a specific JAK2 haplotype confers susceptibility to JAK2^{V617F}positive MPN. To further define the involved haplotype, we carried out the same association analysis with a total of eight SNPs within the JAK2 locus (Table 1 and Supplementary Table 1 online). The association between JAK2 and MPN (independent of JAK2 mutational status) was also present when a non-MPN Austrian population (n = 99) and the entire MPN (n = 333) population were compared (Table 1). We observed the association of four out of eight SNPs with JAK2^{V617F}-positive MPN (Fig. 3a). The four SNPs showing significant association (rs3780367, rs10974944, rs12343867, rs1159782) were in linkage disequilibrium (LD) in our MPN cohort (Fig. 3b) and two frequent haplotypes (TCTT and GGCC) were predicted with frequencies of 0.50 and 0.45, respectively. No association was observed when JAK2^{V617F}-negative subjects were compared with non-MPN controls (data not shown).

To experimentally determine the preferred haplotype that acquired JAK2^{V617F}, we took advantage of the frequent occurrence of acquired uniparental disomy on chromosome 9p (9pUPD) in MPN that occurs in clonal myeloid cells carrying *JAK2*^{V617F} (ref. 2). Uniparental disomy on chromosome 9p causes the transition from heterozygosity for JAK2^{V617F} to homozygosity for the mutation and a simultaneous loss of the wild-type JAK2 allele (Fig. 4a). Thus, individuals with 9pUPD are always homozygous for JAK2^{V617F} and carry only the single JAK2 haplotype that acquired the mutation. Genotyping of the eight SNPs in 17 subjects with 9pUPD revealed the haplotypes that acquired JAK2^{V617F} (Fig. 4b). The GGCC haplotype acquired JAK2^{V617F} in 88% of all cases analyzed. When we carried out haplotype association in subjects with MPN, the GGCC haplotype was more frequent in $JAK2^{V617F}$ -positive subjects than in $JAK2^{V617F}$ -negative subjects (haplotype-specific $\chi^2 = 16.87$, $P = 4 \times 10^{-5}$). Several JAK2 haplotypes were previously reported to be more frequent in individuals with polycythemia vera compared to the other two MPN entities¹⁷. However, it is unclear how these previously reported JAK2 haplotypes overlap with the GGCC JAK2 haplotype described in our study.

LETTERS



(horizontal lines) that can be genotyped with a Taqman assay for rs12343867 (orange horizontal bar). If the $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation was acquired on both chromosomes in two independent events, the allele-specific PCR product will be a mixture of the two alleles, and their ratio will depend on the population size of the clones. (c) Detection of the JAK2 allele that acquired $JAK2^{V617F}$ in 109 subjects (open circles) by Taqman genotyping. Relative fluorescence of probes specific for the C or T alleles are shown on the *x* and *y* axis. The number (*n*) of individual genotype calls (TT, CT or CC) are shown in red boxes. Subjects that acquired $JAK2^{V617F}$ independently on two JAK2 alleles. (d) Sequence analysis of subcloned PCR products from one of the subjects that acquired $JAK2^{V617F}$ on both JAK2 gene alleles. Two clones (E03 and F03) with different genotypes for the rs12343867 SNP (arrow on right) are shown to carry the $JAK2^{V617F}$ oncogenic mutation (arrow on left).

We have identified a common JAK2 haplotype that preferentially acquires a specific oncogenic mutation and shows that over 80% of all the JAK2^{V617F} mutations in MPN occur on this specific haplotype. At present, it is unclear why this association occurs, although there are several potential mechanisms. It is possible that a favorable 'cis regulatory environment' is present on the GGCC haplotype and that the $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation must occur on this haplotype to induce clonal expansion and MPN development. The nature of this hypothetical cis regulatory environment remains unclear. A common hypothesis is that haplotypes contribute to disease by the alteration of gene expression or by a specific modification of protein function through nonsynonymous SNPs. The GGCC haplotype does not contain the promoter region of JAK2 and the two genotyped SNPs in this region are not in LD with the haplotype. Although it is unlikely that the GGCC haplotype affects JAK2 gene expression, its influence on JAK2 mRNA level cannot be ruled out. On the basis of searches in public databases, the SNPs within the GGCC haplotype are not in LD with any nonsynonymous SNPs that might influence protein function. Because MPN is not confined to subjects carrying the GGCC haplotype, it is unlikely that MPN development is restricted to cases where the JAK2^{V617F} mutation is acquired in a certain sequence context. In two of three cases with multiple JAK2^{V617F} acquisition, two clones coexisted side by side, one with JAK2^{V617F} on the TCTT

Figure 3 Association analysis results for eight SNPs from the *JAK2* genomic region. (a) Association between SNP genotypes and MPN positive and negative for the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation was analyzed. χ^2 -test *P* values are shown on the left axis for each SNP (black dots). Chromosomal positions are based on NCBI build 36 (Mb). The HapMap recombination rates (combined phase I and II, release 21) are shown on the right axis (black line). Horizontal arrows indicate Refseq gene positions (*JAK2*, *INSL6*, *INSL4*). (b) Linkage disequilibrium (LD) structure calculated for the eight SNPs from genotypes of 335 subjects with MPN. Red boxes indicate LD (*D* values shown for SNP pairs).

haplotype and the other with it on the GGCC haplotype, respectively (**Fig. 2c**). The TCTT clone predominated in both subjects. This suggests that the GGCC haplotype is unlikely to carry specific properties that are required by the $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation to gain proliferative advantage. It remains to be seen whether the GGCC haplotype bears features that may confer increased mutagenesis and whether exon 12 mutations of *JAK2* are also preferentially acquired on this haplotype.





Figure 4 Determination of the *JAK2* gene haplotypes that carry *JAK2*^{V617F} in 17 subjects with uniparental disomy of chromosome 9p (9pUPD). (a) Subjects with 9pUPD were identified by loss-of-heterozygosity analysis using either the SNP6.0 or the 50K *Xbal* Affymetrix microarrays. LOH (blue) was called using the dChip program. All subjects had LOH in the *JAK2* locus and were confirmed to be homozygous for the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation. (b) Subjects with 9pUPD carry only the haplotype that acquired *JAK2*^{V617F}. Each subject (columns) was genotyped for eight SNPs (rows). The most common haplotype (GGCC) that carries the oncogenic mutation *JAK2*^{V617F} is highlighted in color. Arrow indicates the position of the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation relative to the analyzed SNPs.

According to two previous studies, DNA sequence variations in the *APC* and *TP53* genes predispose these loci to somatic mutagenesis^{18,19}. One interpretation of our data is that DNA sequence variants can define somatic mutability and could make some haplotypes more susceptible to DNA damage or replication infidelity. A difference in mutability between two haplotypes can explain why $JAK2^{V617F}$ preferentially occurs on the GGCC haplotype. If other loci throughout the genome show similar properties as the GGCC JAK2 haplotype described here, defining disease susceptibility loci using whole-genome association studies may result in the discovery of new somatic mutations in genes within disease susceptibility regions. This is especially true for cancer susceptibilities, as somatic mutations are the underlying cause of cancers.

METHODS

Subjects, DNA samples, genotyping. Collection of blood samples was done at the Medical University of Vienna and was approved by the local ethics committee. Written informed consent was obtained from participating subjects in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The diagnosis on MPN was established by the WHO criteria. Peripheral blood samples were fractionated to isolate mononuclear cells and granulocytes using density gradient centrifugation. Granulocyte DNA was used for determination of $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutational status and for analysis of uniparental disomy. For SNP geno-

typing, we used DNA from nonmyeloid cells to eliminate false homozygosity calls due to the presence of uniparental disomy on chromosome 9p, which is often present in DNA samples derived from myeloid cells of subjects with MPN². The *JAK2*^{V617F} mutational status of subjects was determined by PCR as previously described⁹. SNP genotyping was done using commercially available Taqman assays (Applied Biosystems) analyzed on the 7900HT real-time PCR instrument using standard protocols. The following assays were used in this study: C___730925, C__34291999, C__27515396, C__31941696, C__31941689, C___1417119, C___1417053 and C__30593278.

Table 1 Genolype-specific association of SNP's from the JAKZ locus on chromosome 9 and N	Table 1	1	Genotype-specific	association	of SN	NPs from	the	JAK2 locus	on	chromosome	9	and	M	P١
--	---------	---	-------------------	-------------	-------	----------	-----	------------	----	------------	---	-----	---	----

Case population	Control population	SNP	P ^a	P ^b	Genotypes				Odds ratio (95% CI)			
JAK2 ^{V617F} -positive MPN	JAK2 ^{V617F} -negative	rs691857	0.6365	0.3517	AA	AG	GG	1	1.21 (0.74–1.96)	1.32 (0.65–2.70)		
(<i>n</i> = 213)	MPN (n = 120)	rs17803986	0.2366	0.3775	GG	GA	AA	1	0.85 (0.51–1.42)	1.44 (0.75–2.77)		
		rs3780367	2.99×10^{-5}	5.23×10^{-6}	TT	TG	GG	1	2.18 (1.28–3.74)	4.99 (2.42–10.31)		
		rs10974944	0.0003712	0.0002067	CC	CG	GG	1	2.50 (1.48–4.23)	3.46 (1.65–7.27)		
		rs12343867	$5.69 imes 10^{-6}$	9.57×10^{-7}	TT	TC	CC	1	2.36 (1.37–4.06)	5.73 (2.75–11.92)		
		rs1159782	7.78×10^{-5}	2.75×10^{-5}	TT	TC	CC	1	2.56 (1.50-4.40)	4.29 (2.05–8.98)		
		rs10758677	0.009399	0.00489	AA	AG	GG	1	1.10 (0.66–1.82)	2.26 (1.07–4.79)		
		rs7848509	0.7354	0.4573	CC	СТ	TT	1	1.18 (0.71–1.97)	1.25 (0.66–2.39)		
JAK2 ^{V617F} -positive MPN	Non-MPN	rs691857	0.5815	0.8804	AA	AG	GG	1	0.80 (0.48–1.34)	1.11 (0.51–2.44)		
(<i>n</i> = 213)	Austrian ($n = 99$)	rs17803986	0.2173	0.1878	GG	GA	AA	1	0.97 (0.56–1.66)	1.72 (0.84–3.49)		
		rs3780367	2.36×10^{-9}	$5.49 imes 10^{-10}$	TT	TG	GG	1	3.43 (1.97–5.98)	11.09 (4.56–27.00)		
		rs10974944	2.21×10^{-9}	4.25×10^{-9}	CC	CG	GG	1	4.44 (2.57–7.69)	8.00 (3.25–19.71)		
		rs12343867	1.47×10^{-10}	5.33×10^{-11}	TT	TC	CC	1	3.97 (2.26–6.99)	12.76 (5.21–31.26)		
		rs1159782	1.07×10^{-8}	6.03×10^{-9}	TT	TC	CC	1	3.87 (2.21–6.77)	9.14 (3.71–22.56)		
		rs10758677	0.000141	2.64×10^{-5}	AA	AG	GG	1	2.10 (1.18–3.73)	4.52 (2.16–9.46)		
		rs7848509	0.2096	0.132	CC	СТ	TT	1	1.07 (0.63–1.82)	1.92 (0.90–4.12)		
MPN all	Non-MPN	rs691857	0.4456	0.6178	AA	AG	GG	1	0.74 (0.46–1.21)	1.01 (0.48–2.13)		
(<i>n</i> = 333)	Austrian ($n = 99$)	rs17803986	0.4219	0.2706	GG	GA	AA	1	1.03 (0.62–1.70)	1.53 (0.77–3.01)		
		rs3780367	2.33×10^{-6}	4.81×10^{-7}	TT	TG	GG	1	2.42 (1.49–3.96)	6.28 (2.68–14.71)		
		rs10974944	1.04×10^{-6}	8.28×10^{-7}	CC	CG	GG	1	3.02 (1.85–4.91)	4.95 (2.10–11.69)		
		rs12343867	3.89×10^{-7}	1.03×10^{-7}	TT	TC	CC	1	2.68 (1.64–4.39)	6.82 (2.91–16.00)		
		rs1159782	$8.93 \times 10_{-6}$	2.82×10^{-6}	TT	TC	CC	1	2.56 (1.56–4.19)	5.25 (2.22–12.39)		
		rs10758677	0.001285	0.0003669	AA	AG	GG	1	2.02 (1.21–3.52)	3.39 (1.73–6.64)		
		rs7848509	0.2386	0.1893	CC	СТ	TT	1	1.00 (0.61–1.64)	1.77 (0.86–3.64)		

MPN, myeloproliferative neoplasms. $^{a}\chi^{2}$ test. $^{b}Cochran-Armitage trend test.$

LETTERS

Culture and genotyping of hematopoietic progenitors. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated using standard density gradient centrifugation. Cells were plated in the H4431 methylcellulose media (StemCell Technologies) at 3×10^5 cells/ml according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Day 14 colony forming units (CFU) representing erythroid and granulocytic-monocytic progenitor clones were individually picked into 5% of Chelex-100 resin solution (Biorad) in 5 mM Tris pH 8, 0.5% Triton X-100. The lysates were incubated for 15 min at 56 °C and boiled for an additional 8 min. We used 1 µl of lysate for PCR-based genotyping. Deletions were detected by loss of heterozygosity analysis using microsatellite PCR for *D20S96* (del20q) and *D13S153* (del13q). The *JAK2*^{V617F} mutational status of CFUs was determined by quantitative allele-specific PCR as previously described.

Microarray analysis. To detect loss of heterozygosity in DNA samples, we used the GeneChip SNP 6.0, the 50K *Xba*I, and 10K *Xba*I Mapping arrays (Affymetrix). Data analysis was done with the Genotyping Console version 2.1 (Affymetrix) and the dChip²⁰ software packages.

Analysis of multiple occurrence of $JAK2^{V617F}$. The analysis consisted of two steps. Subjects heterozygous for rs12343867 and also positive for $JAK2^{V617F}$ in granulocyte genomic DNA were used for the assay. Allele-specific PCR was done with primers V617F-F and intr14-R (**Supplementary Table 2** online) using AmpliTaq Gold polymerase in Gold buffer with 1.5 mM magnesium chloride (Applied Biosystems). Thirty cycles were done in 2720 Thermal Cyclers (Applied Biosystems) using 95 °C initial denaturation (10 min), followed by cycles of 94 °C 30 s, 56 °C 30 s, and 72 °C 30 s and a 10 min final extension at 72 °C. In the second step, 5–10 ng of PCR product was used for Taqman assays to determine the *JAK2* allele that acquired the $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation. This was done using the commercial Taqman assay C_31941689 and the 7900HT Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems).

Statistical analysis. Statistical analysis of SNP association was done using PLINK software²¹. We carried out allelic and genotypic association tests for eight SNPs in PLINK (χ^2 test, Fisher's exact test, Cochran-Armitage trend test) comparing different case-control groups. The corresponding unadjusted *P* values shown in **Table 1** remained significant after correction for multiple testing using Bonferroni, Holm, Sidak and FDR control methods. Haplotype phases (computed using expectation-maximization algorithm) and haplotype associations were both determined in PLINK. PLINK-derived linkage disequilibrium (LD) values were subsequently visualized using Haploview software²². We carried out a χ^2 test for the distribution of rs12343867 alleles acquiring *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation in heterozygotes using the R statistical package. We calculated odds ratios for SNP genotype associations using the SNPStats statistical web tool.

URLs. Microarray analysis software dChip 2008, http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/ ~cli/complab/dchip; PLINK version 1.04, http://pngu.mgh.harvard.edu/purcell/ plink; HapMap recombination rates, http://ftp.hapmap.org/recombination/ 2006-10_rel21_phaseI+II/rates; R statistical package (version 2.8.0), http:// www.R-project.org; Haploview version 4.1, http://www.broad.mit.edu/mpg/ haploview; SNPStats, http://bioinfo.iconcologia.net/SNPStats.

Note: Supplementary information is available on the Nature Genetics website.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The study was supported by funding from the Austrian Academy of Sciences, Austrian Science Fund (FWF, P20033-B11) and the Initiative for Cancer Research

of the Medical University of Vienna. We thank C. Ay and N. Bachhofner for help with sample collection and T. Burkard for advice on statistical analysis. We thank H. Pickersgill for help with the manuscript.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

R.K. designed the study and drafted the paper with assistance of D.O. and A.H.; D.O., T.B. and R.J. performed the experiments; D.O. and A.H. performed statistical analyses; T.B., B.G., H.G. and I.P. coordinated and performed the case and control sample collection and clinical management of cases.

Published online at http://www.nature.com/naturegenetics/

Reprints and permissions information is available online at http://npg.nature.com/ reprintsandpermissions/

- James, C. *et al.* A unique clonal JAK2 mutation leading to constitutive signalling causes polycythaemia vera. *Nature* **434**, 1144–1148 (2005).
- Kralovics, R. et al. A gain-of-function mutation of JAK2 in myeloproliferative disorders. N. Engl. J. Med. 352, 1779–1790 (2005).
- Levine, R.L. *et al.* Activating mutation in the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia, and myeloid metaplasia with myelofibrosis. *Cancer Cell* 7, 387–397 (2005).
- Baxter, E.J. et al. Acquired mutation of the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in human myeloproliferative disorders. Lancet 365, 1054–1061 (2005).
- Scott, L.M. et al. JAK2 exon 12 mutations in polycythemia vera and idiopathic erythrocytosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 356, 459–468 (2007).
- Pikman, Y. et al. MPLW515L is a novel somatic activating mutation in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. PLoS Med. 3, e270 (2006).
- Pardanani, A.D. et al. MPL515 mutations in myeloproliferative and other myeloid disorders: a study of 1182 patients. Blood 108, 3472–3476 (2006).
- Plo, I. *et al.* JAK2 stimulates homologous recombination and genetic instability: potential implication in the heterogeneity of myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood* **112**, 1402–1412 (2008).
- Kralovics, R. et al. Acquisition of the V617F mutation of JAK2 is a late genetic event in a subset of patients with myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood* 108, 1377–1380 (2006).
- Kralovics, R. Genetic complexity of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia* 22, 1841–1848 (2008).
- Levi, S. *et al.* Multiple K-ras codon 12 mutations in cholangiocarcinomas demonstrated with a sensitive polymerase chain reaction technique. *Cancer Res.* 51, 3497–3502 (1991).
- Sozzi, G. *et al.* Genetic evidence for an independent origin of multiple preneoplastic and neoplastic lung lesions. *Cancer Res.* **55**, 135–140 (1995).
 Moskaluk, C.A., Hruban, R.H. & Kern, S.E. p16 and K-ras gene mutations in the
- Moskaluk, C.A., Hruban, R.H. & Kern, S.E. p16 and K-ras gene mutations in the intraductal precursors of human pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 57, 2140–2143 (1997).
- Laghi, L. *et al.* Lack of mutation at codon 531 of SRC in advanced colorectal cancers from Italian patients. *Br. J. Cancer* 84, 196–198 (2001).
- Agaimy, A. *et al.* Multiple sporadic gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs) of the proximal stomach are caused by different somatic KIT mutations suggesting a field effect. *Am. J. Surg. Pathol.* **32**, 1553–1559 (2008).
- Li, S. *et al.* Clonal heterogeneity in polycythemia vera patients with JAK2 exon12 and JAK2–V617F mutations. *Blood* **111**, 3863–3866 (2008).
- Pardanani, A., Fridley, B.L., Lasho, T.L., Gilliland, D.G. & Tefferi, A. Host genetic variation contributes to phenotypic diversity in myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood* 111, 2785–2789 (2008).
- Laken, S.J. et al. Familial colorectal cancer in Ashkenazim due to a hypermutable tract in APC. Nat. Genet. 17, 79–83 (1997).
- Mechanic, L.E. *et al.* Common genetic variation in TP53 is associated with lung cancer risk and prognosis in African Americans and somatic mutations in lung tumors. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 16, 214–222 (2007).
- Lin, M. et al. dChipSNP: significance curve and clustering of SNP-array-based loss-ofheterozygosity data. Bioinformatics 20, 1233–1240 (2004).
- Purcell, S. et al. PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 81, 559–575 (2007).
- Barrett, J.C., Fry, B., Maller, J. & Daly, M.J. Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. *Bioinformatics* 21, 263–265 (2005).

3.5 Manuscript # 3: The role of *JAK2* GGCC haplotype and *TET2* gene in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms

Olcaydu D., Rumi E., Harutyunyan A. et al.,

published in *Haematologica* 2011; 96: 367-374. Obtained from Haematologica/the Hematology Journal website http://www.haematologica.org

After the identification of *JAK2* 'GGCC' haplotype as a major predisposition factor in myeloproliferative neoplasms (Jones et al, 2009; Kilpivaara et al, 2009; Olcaydu et al, 2009a; Olcaydu et al, 2009b) it was reasonable to consider that it can play an important role in familial clustering of MPN. *TET2* (Tefferi et al, 2009) and *CBL* (Grand et al, 2009) have been discovered to be frequently somatically mutated in MPN. The roles of these mutations in familial MPN were not investigated before.

We investigated the frequency of germline and somatic mutations in *TET2*, *CBL* and *MPL* genes in 88 MPN cases from 52 families. The entire *TET2* gene, exons 8 and 9 of *CBL*, and exon 10 of *MPL* were sequenced. No *CBL* or *MPL* mutations were found in familial MPN cases. The sequencing of *TET2* gene yielded 7 somatic and 5 germline mutations. However, all of the germline mutations either were common variants found in the public databases or did not segregate with the disease in the family. Thus, there is no evidence that germline mutations in any of those three genes play a role in familial MPN (Olcaydu et al, 2011).

We also genotyped the familial MPN cases for two SNPs (rs10974944 and rs12343867) tagging *JAK2* 'GGCC' haplotype and compared the frequencies with 684 population-matched sporadic MPN and 203 healthy controls. Data analysis showed that 'GGCC' haplotype predisposed to the development of JAK2-positive familial MPN and has no effect on JAK2-negative familial MPN. Moreover, there was no significant difference in 'GGCC' haplotype frequency distribution between sporadic and familial MPN cases. The penetrance of familial MPN was estimated to be 31-35%, which is several orders of magnitude higher than for 'GGCC' haplotype (0.02%). Thus, 'GGCC' haplotype by itself is not responsible for familial clustering of MPN, but has an additive effect on familial susceptibility (Olcaydu et al, 2011).

In this paper I have participated in the genotyping for 'GGCC' haplotype and subsequent statistical analysis of the SNP genotyping data.

The role of the JAK2 GGCC haplotype and the TET2 gene in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms

Damla Olcaydu,¹* Elisa Rumi,²* Ashot Harutyunyan¹, Francesco Passamonti,² Daniela Pietra,² Cristiana Pascutto,² Tiina Berg,¹ Roland Jäger,¹ Emma Hammond,³ Mario Cazzola,² and Robert Kralovics^{1,4}

¹Center for Molecular Medicine (CeMM) of the Austrian Academy of Sciences, Vienna, Austria; ²Department of Hematology, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo of Pavia, Pavia, Italy; ³Centre for Clinical Immunology and Biomedical Statistics, Murdoch University and Royal Perth Hospital, Perth, Australia; and ⁴Division of Hematology and Blood Coagulation, Department of Internal Medicine I, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

*These authors contributed equally to this manuscript.

Funding: this study was supported by funding from the Austrian Academy of Sciences, the Austrian Science Fund (FWF, P20033-B11) and the MPD Foundation, as well as from AIRC (Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro, Milan), Fondazione Cariplo (Milan), PRIN-MIUR (Rome) and Alleanza Contro il Cancro (Rome), all in Italy.

Acknowledgments: the authors would like to express their gratitude to the participants in this study, and to Professor Richard Herrmann for referring patients.

Manuscript received on October 6, 2010. Revised version arrived on November 16, 2010. Manuscript accepted on December 3, 2010.

Correspondence: Robert Kralovics, Ph.D., Center for Molecular Medicine, Austrian Academy of Sciences, Lazarettgasse 14, AKH BT25.3, 1090 Vienna, Austria. Phone: international +43.14016070027. Fax: international +43.140160970000. E-mail: robert.kralovics@cemm.oeaw.ac.at

The online version of this article has a Supplementary Appendix.

Background

Myeloproliferative neoplasms constitute a group of diverse chronic myeloid malignancies that share pathogenic features such as acquired mutations in the *JAK2*, *TET2*, *CBL* and *MPL* genes. There are recent reports that a *JAK2* gene haplotype (GGCC or 46/1) confers susceptibility to *JAK2* mutation-positive myeloproliferative neoplasms. The aim of this study was to examine the role of the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype and germline mutations of *TET2*, *CBL* and *MPL* in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms.

ABSTRACT

Design and Methods

We investigated patients with familial (n=88) or sporadic (n=684) myeloproliferative neoplasms, and a control population (n=203) from the same demographic area in Italy. Association analysis was performed using tagged single nucleotide polymorphisms (rs10974944 and rs12343867) of the JAK2 haplotype. Sequence analysis of TET2, CBL and MPL was conducted in the 88 patients with familial myeloproliferative neoplasms.

Results

Association analysis revealed no difference in haplotype frequency between familial and sporadic cases of myeloproliferative neoplasms (P=0.6529). No germline mutations in *TET2*, *CBL* or *MPL* that segregate with the disease phenotype were identified. As we observed variability in somatic mutations in the affected members of a pedigree with myeloproliferative neoplasms, we postulated that somatic mutagenesis is increased in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms. Accordingly, we compared the incidence of malignant disorders between sporadic and familial patients. Although the overall incidence of malignant disorders did not differ significantly between cases of familial and sporadic myeloproliferative neoplasms, malignancies were more frequent in patients with familial disease aged between 50 to 70 years (P=0.0198) than in patients in the same age range with sporadic myeloproliferative neoplasms.

Conclusions

We conclude that the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype and germline mutations of *TET2*, *CBL* or *MPL* do not explain familial clustering of myeloproliferative neoplasms. As we observed an increased frequency of malignant disorders in patients with familial myeloproliferative neoplasms, we hypothesize that the germline genetic lesions that underlie familial clustering of myeloproliferative neoplasms predispose to somatic mutagenesis that is not restricted to myeloid hematopoietic cells but cause an increase in overall carcinogenesis.

Key words: JAK2-V617F, 46/1 haplotype, germline, predisposition, somatic mutagenesis.

Citation: Olcaydu D, Rumi E, Harutyunyan A, Passamonti F, Pietra D, Pascutto C, Berg T, Jäger R, Hammond E, Cazzola M, and Kralovics R. The role of the JAK2 GGCC haplotype and the TET2 gene in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms. Haematologica 2011;96(3):367-374. doi:10.3324/haematol.2010.034488

©2011 Ferrata Storti Foundation. This is an open-access paper.

Introduction

Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) constitute a group of phenotypically diverse chronic myeloid malignancies that are characterized by the presence of clonal hematopoiesis and an excessive production of terminally differentiated myeloid blood cells. The so-called "classic Philadelphia-chromosome negative MPN" encompass three distinct diseases, namely polycythemia vera (PV), essential thrombocythemia and primary myelofibrosis. The identification of the V617F mutation of the JAK2 gene (JAK2-V617F) led to an important breakthrough in the understanding of the pathogenesis of MPN.¹⁴ Several studies have shown that the somatic acquisition of JAK2-V617F establishes constitutive activation of JAK-STAT signaling, erythropoietin-independent growth of erythroid progenitor cells and the MPN phenotype in murine bone marrow transplant models.^{3,5,6} The JAK2-V617F mutation is present in the majority of patients with PV (90-98%), whereas only about 50% of patients with essential thrombocythemia and primary myelofibrosis are affected.7 However, further investigations have revealed that other oncogene mutations that alter JAK-STAT signaling occur frequently in patients negative for the JAK2-V617F mutation, emphasizing the role of this signaling pathway in the pathogenesis of MPN. Mutations and deletions in exon 12 of the JAK2 gene (JAK2-ex12) contribute to the pathogenesis of PV and occur in about 20% of JAK2-V617Fnegative PV patients, whereas mutations in the thrombopoietin receptor gene MPL have been identified in 1-5% of cases of essential thrombocythemia and primary myelofibrosis.8,9

Recent investigations have shown that somatic acquisition of genetic aberrations is not the only pathogenic mechanism, but that inherited genetic factors also play a pivotal role in the development of MPN. Independent studies have identified a *JAK2* haplotype that has an increased risk of acquiring mutations at this locus. Several studies showed a non-random distribution of the *JAK2*-V617F mutation between the two parental *JAK2* alleles and that more than 80% of *JAK2*-V617F mutations were acquired on this particular *JAK2* gene haplotype, which is referred to as the GGCC or 46/1 haplotype.¹⁰⁻¹² Subsequent association analysis revealed that *JAK2*-GGCC haplotype.¹³ Thus, this sequence variant of the *JAK2* gene confers susceptibility to *JAK2* mutation-positive MPN.

Recent data indicate that the GGCC haplotype predisposes to MPL mutation-positive MPN, although the reported association is significantly weaker than that between the GGCC haplotype and *JAK2* mutations.¹⁴ The mechanisms by which this observed difference in mutability between haplotypes is accomplished remains to be elucidated. As the JAK2 GGCC haplotype has not been evaluated in a large series of familial MPN, we investigated a demographically matched population of patients with familial and sporadic MPN. With its germline predisposition to acquire JAK2 mutations, the GGCC haplotype has been hypothesized to explain familial clustering of MPN.^{11,12} Although MPN occurs sporadically in most cases, familial clustering has been reported.^{15,17} Common mutations involved in the pathogenesis of MPN, such as JAK2, MPL and TET2 mutations are not inherited, but somatically acquired also in familial cases.^{16,18,19} One exception is the MPL-S505N mutation that was found to be a

germline mutation in a Japanese pedigree with hereditary thrombocythemia.²⁰ An inherited mutation of the *TET2* gene causing a frame shift and premature stop was recently identified in a patient with PV.²¹ Furthermore, germline *CBL* mutations were reported in patients with juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia,²² but their role in familial MPN remains to be elucidated. The aim of this study was to investigate the pathogenic relevance of mutations of *JAK2*, *TET2*, *CBL* and *MPL* genes in familial clustering of MPN.

Design and Methods

Patients, blood sampling and DNA isolation

A total of 982 consecutive patients with apparently sporadic MPN, who were diagnosed and followed from 1973 to 2010 at the Department of Hematology, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo of Pavia, were interviewed to determine whether they actually had a family hisory of MPN. Of these 982 patients, DNA for molecular evaluation was available for 772 (79%), who were, therefore, included in this study. Patients were defined as familial cases if two or more individuals within the same pedigree were affected. Some of these patients were included in a prior clinical study.¹⁷ The diagnosis of MPN was made in accordance with the criteria in use at the time of the first observation of the patients.²³ ²⁷ A patient was defined as being in blast phase if his or her bone marrow or peripheral blood blast cell count was 20% or higher, in accordance with the World Health Organization (WHO) 2008 criteria.²³ Patients with acute myeloid leukemia were not included in the analysis of malignancies other than MPN as the blast phase is considered to be a progression from MPN. We considered solid tumors and lymphoproliferative disorders occurring both before and after the diagnosis of MPN as associated malignancies. The diagnosis of solid tumors was based on biopsies of the suspected lesion. The diagnosis of lymphoproliferative disorders was made according to the WHO 2008 criteria. Subjects with a normal hemogram (n=43) or a hematologic reactive condition (n=160) were used as a demographically matched control population (n=203). Of the latter, 34 patients were diagnosed as having reactive leukocytosis and 126 as having reactive erythrocytosis. Peripheral blood from patients was sampled after written informed consent had been obtained. Blood sampling, cell fractionation and DNA isolation from granulocytes and CD3-positive T lymphocytes were conducted as previously described.²⁸ This study was approved by the institutional ethics committee (Comitato di Bioetica, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo) and the procedures were conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000.

JAK2 mutation analysis, single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping and sequence analysis

Molecular studies were performed in all patients with familial (n=88) and sporadic (n=684) MPN for whom DNA was available. The *JAK2*-V617F mutation burden was assessed using a quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)-based allelic discrimination assay, as previously described with the following modifications.²⁹ All reactions were carried out on a RotorGene 6000TM real-time analyzer on a 100-well Gene Disk (Corbett Life Sciences, Mortlake, NSW, Australia) in a final volume of 12 μ L containing 1x Brilliant SYBR Green QPCR master mix (Stratagene, Cedar Creek, TX, USA) and 300 nM of both forward and reverse primers. Serial dilutions starting at 80 ng/ μ L and ending at 0.4 ng/ μ L of both a wild type (WT) and a fully mutated DNA sample were used to construct standard curves from which the *JAK2*-WT and V617F

quantities were calculated for each sample. Results were expressed as the percentage of V617F alleles among total JAK2 alleles. JAK2-V617F mutation analysis using allele-specific PCR amplification was conducted as previously described.³⁰ Two tagging single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) in linkage disequilibrium (rs10974944 and rs12343867) were used in order to determine the JAK2 gene haplotype. Genotyping was performed using commercially available Tagman assays (C_31941696 and C__31941689) according to standard protocols and data were analyzed on a 7900HT real-time PCR instrument (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Cytogenetic aberrations in three patients of the same pedigree with familial MPN were identified by high-resolution SNP genotyping using GeneChip SNP 6.0Mapping arrays and data were analyzed with Genotyping Console software version 3.0.2 (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA, USA).

Sequences of *TET2*, *CBL* and *MPL* genes were analyzed in patients with familial MPN for whom sufficient amounts of DNA were available (n=88). Nine coding exons of the *TET2* gene, exons 8 and 9 of *CBL* (carrying most *CBL* mutations reported so far^{31,32}), and exon 10 of the *MPL* gene were sequenced using the BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing chemistry and the 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems) according to standard protocols. Data were analyzed using the Sequencher Software (version 4.9; Gene Codes, Ann Arbor, MI, USA). The sequences of primers and conditions used for PCR amplification and sequence analysis are summarized in *Online Supplementary Table S1*.

A detailed description of the statistical methods used in this study is available in the *Online Supplementary Methods*.

Results

Patients' characteristics

After interview-based investigation of a family history of MPN in 772 patients with apparently sporadic MPN from the same demographic area in Italy, 88 (11%) were considered familial cases (52 families) and 684 (89%) as sporadic cases. Of the 52 Italian familial MPN pedigrees, DNA for molecular analysis was available from one affected member of 18 families, two affected members of 32 families and three affected members of two families. Molecular assessment was performed in 320 (41%) of the 772 patients at diagnosis (29 familial and 291 sporadic cases) and in 452 patients (59%) during follow-up (59 familial and 393 sporadic cases). In the latter, the median duration of MPN before molecular analysis was 6.1 years (range, 0.3-22 years) in familial cases and 4.3 years (range, 0.1-25.1 years) in sporadic cases. The patients' demographic and clinical characteristics at diagnosis are summarized in *Online Supplementary Table S2*.

The JAK2 GGCC haplotype in familial and sporadic myeloproliferative neoplasms

In order to determine the role of the JAK2 GGCC haplotype in familial MPN, sporadic MPN and a non-MPN control population, the allele frequencies of a tagging SNP of the GGCC haplotype (*rs10974944*) were compared in the cohorts of patients. The G variant of *rs10974944*, resembling the high-risk variant for the acquisition of JAK2 mutations, was more frequent in familial and sporadic MPN (0.44 and 0.42, respectively) than in the control population (0.27). Assuming that the GGCC haplotype is causative in familial clustering of MPN, we expected a higher frequency of the risk variant in familial MPN compared to sporadic cases. There was, however, no significant difference in the allele frequencies of the G variant of rs10974944 between familial and sporadic cases of MPN (P=0.5851). Furthermore, association analysis applying a co-dominant genotypic model revealed a significant association between heterozygosity and homozygosity for the G variant of rs10974944 and the presence of the JAK2-V617F mutation in both familial and sporadic cases of MPN, when compared to the control population (Table 1). Association analysis comparing only JAK2-V617F-positive familial and sporadic cases of MPN with the control population revealed a significant association between the risk haplotype and the JAK2 mutation, whereas the comparison of JAK2-V617F-negative MPN with the control population did not show a significant correlation, either in familial cases or in sporadic ones.

To test the hypothesis that the JAK2 GGCC haplotype plays a role in JAK2-V617F-positive familial MPN, we compared the genotype frequencies of rs10974944 in

Table 1. Genotype association analysis of rs10974944 (tagging SNP of the JAK2 GGCC haplotype) and JAK2-V617F.

Case population	Control population	Gen	otype freque case popula	ency (%) tion	Geno co	Genotype frequency (%) control population			Odds ratio (95% Cl)				
		CC	GC	GG	CC	GC	GG	CC	GC	GG	P value		
Familial MPN (n=88)	control (n=203)	24 (27.3)	51 (58.0)	13 (14.8)	114 (56.2)	69 (34.0)	20 (9.9)	1	4.36 (2.18-8.7)	4.77 (1.9-11.99)	1.193 x 10 ⁻⁰⁵		
Familial MPN V617F+ (n=61)	control (n=203)	13 (21.3)	37 (60.7)	11 (18.0)	114 (56.2)	69 (34.0)	20 (9.9)	1	4.8 (2.38-9.67)	4.78 (1.88-12.2)	4.929 x 10 ⁻⁰⁶		
Familial MPN V617F- (n=27)	control (n=203)	11 (40.7)	14 (51.9)	2 (7.4)	114 (56.2)	69 (34.0)	20 (9.9)	1	2.10 (0.90-4.89)	1.04 (0.21-5.03)	0.2042		
Sporadic MPN (n=684)	control (n=203)	223 (32.6)	353 (51.6)	108 (15.8)	114 (56.2)	69 (34.0)	20 (9.9)	1	2.97 (2.21-4.00)	3.73 (2.42-5.76)	3.27 x 10 ⁻¹⁵		
Sporadic MPN V617F+ (n=481)	control (n=203)	125 (26.0)	268 (55.7)	88 (18.3)	114 (56.2)	69 (34.0)	20 (9.9)	1	3.54 (2.45-5.11)	4.01 (2.32-6.94)	7.19 x 10 ⁻¹³		
Sporadic MPN V617F- (n=202)	control (n=203)	98 (48.5)	84 (41.6)	20 (9.9)	114 (56.2)	69 (34.0)	20 (9.9)	1	1.42 (0.93-2.15)	1.16 (0.59-2.29)	0.2620		
Familial MPN V617F+ (n=61)	sporadic MPN V617F+ (n=481)	13 (21.3)	37 (60.7)	11 (18.0)	125 (26.0)	268 (55.7)	88 (18.3)	1	1.33 (0.68-2.59)	1.2 (0.51-2.81)	0.6975		

CI, confidence interval; V617F+, JAK2-V617F-positive MPN; V617F-, JAK2-V617F-negative MPN.

JAK2-V617F-positive familial MPN and JAK2-V617Fpositive sporadic MPN. Genotypic association analysis did not show a significant correlation between the GGCC haplotype and familial clustering in MPN (P=0.6529, Table 1). Thus, the risk of acquiring JAK2 mutations conferred by the GGCC haplotype does not differ between cases of sporadic and familial MPN regardless of the JAK2 mutation status. In conclusion, the JAK2 GGCC haplotype predisposes to the acquisition of JAK2 mutations also in familial MPN, but does not underlie familial clustering.

Sequence analysis of TET2, CBL and MPL

Somatic mutations in genes that are relevant to MPN pathogenesis have been postulated as potential candidates for inherited predispositions to familial MPN. To test this hypothesis, we investigated the presence of somatic and germline mutations in TET2, CBL and MPL genes and evaluated their role in the familial occurrence of MPN. Sequence analysis of granulocyte DNA in a total of 88 affected patients with a family history of MPN (52 pedigrees) revealed 12 cases of a non-synonymous mutation in the TET2 gene. Two of the identified mutations were single base pair deletions or insertions causing a frame shift and seven patients carried a missense mutation (Table 2). In three patients we identified a nonsense mutation resulting in a premature stop-codon, one of which has been previously described.¹⁹ To evaluate whether these mutations were somatically acquired or inherited, we subsequently performed sequence analysis of DNA samples from T lymphocytes of these patients. In five cases we could confirm the presence of the same mutation in granulocyte DNA as well as T lymphocyte DNA, whereas seven mutations were only detectable in the granulocyte sample and were, therefore, somatically acquired. We identified one patient (MPC08-188) who carried two mutations of the *TET2* gene. Of the five patients with a suspected germline mutation, two carried an amino acid substitution of proline with serine at position 1723 (P1723S) and a third patient had a valine to leucine substitution at position 1718 (V1718L), all of which were previously reported as normal variants (Table 2). Two patients carried a newly identified TET2 mutation (A241V and R1440Q) that was present in both granulocyte and T lymphocyte DNA. In order to investigate the segregation of these two germline mutations with the MPN phenotype, we investigated whether the other affected member of the pedigree carried the same mutation. For patient MPC08-188, who harbored an A241V germline mutation as well as a somatic R550X mutation of *TET2*, no DNA was available from the other affected family member for molecular analysis. In the case of patient 377, the other family member with apparent MPN did not carry any mutation of the *TET2* gene, thus excluding segregation of the R1440Q mutation with the disease phenotype. Among all of the 52 Italian MPN pedigrees analyzed, no mutations of the *CBL* or *MPL* gene were detected. Taken together, these data imply that mutations of *TET2*, *CBL* and *MPL* do not account for the familial occurrence of MPN.

Genetic heterogeneity of somatic mutations and penetrance in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms

We studied an Australian family with three individuals affected by MPN using high-resolution SNP genotyping and tested for JAK2 and MPL mutations (Figure 1A). Of the three affected members, one who was diagnosed with essential thrombocythemia was positive for the MPL-W515L mutation (MPD214) and one with a diagnosis of primary myelofibrosis had the JAK2-V617F mutation as well as a 5.7 mega base pair deletion on chromosome 22q (MPD227). The third evaluated member of this family was diagnosed with primary myelofibrosis and was negative for MPL and JAK2 mutations, but carried deletions on chromosomes 2p, 7q and 15q (MPD219) (Figure 1A). All of these molecular defects were somatic (data not shown). Notably, the patient who carried the JAK2-V617F mutation was a heterozygous carrier of the JAK2 GGCC haplotype, whereas the other two affected members were both homozygous for the non-risk haplotype (Figure 1A). Thus, there is no segregation of the JAK2 GGCC haplotype with the MPN phenotype in this family. Of all patients with familial MPN analyzed in this study, 24 (27.3%) did not harbor the GGCC haplotype, 51 (58.0%) were heterozygous and 13 (14.8%) were homozygous carriers of the JAK2 gene risk variant (Figure 1B, Table 1). These data demonstrate that up to one third of patients with familial MPN develop the disease although they do not carry the

Table	2	Summar	/ of	TFT2	mutations	in	natients	with	familial	MPN	(n=88)
labic	~ .	Juillia	01	1612	mutations		pationto	WILLI	rannar	1411 14	(11 00).

Patient	Diagnosis	TET2 exon	Variant	Granulocytes	T lymphocytes	Amino acid change	UniProt	References
MPC08-188	Post-ET MF	3	C/T	+	+	A241V	NA	NA
377	PMF	10	G/A	+	+	R1440Q	NA	NA
F1P1	PV	11	C/T	+	+	P1723S	VAR_058192	(41, 42)
F17P1	PV	11	G/T	+	+	V1718L	VAR_058190	(41, 43)
F20P2	PV	11	C/T	+	+	P1723S	VAR_058192	(41, 42)
MPC08-188	Post-ET MF	3	C/T	+	-	R550X	NA	(19)
MaA	PV	3	C/T	+	-	Q743X	NA	NA
F6P4b	PV	3	del A	+	-	Frameshift	NA	NA
MPC08-12	PV	7	G/A	+	-	G1275R	NA	NA
MPC08-22	PV	9	ins T	+	-	Frameshift	NA	NA
SM	PMF	9	G/A	+	-	D1376N	NA	NA
MPC07-371	PV	10	G/T	+	-	E1483X	NA	NA

ins: insertion; del: deletion; NA: not available; ET: essential thrombocythemia; MF: myelofibrosis; PMF: primary myelofibrosis; PV: polycythemia vera.

JAK2 risk haplotype.

In order to further characterize the contribution of the JAK2 GGCC haplotype to the familial occurrence of MPN, we performed penetrance estimation calculations. The penetrance in familial MPN was estimated to be 31-35%, a range caused by variable inclusion of some MPN family members. In comparison, the penetrance of the JAK2 GGCC haplotype was lower by approximately three orders of magnitude (0.02%). This difference in estimated penetrance provides further evidence that the familial predisposition to develop MPN is much stronger than the one conferred by the JAK2 GGCC haplotype.

Malignancies in patients with familial and sporadic myeloproliferative neoplasms

The pedigree shown in Figure 1A provides evidence that the MPN predisposition is not restricted to somatic mutations of JAK2 only. We hypothesize that individuals with a family history of MPN carry a germline genetic defect that confers a predisposition to increased somatic mutagenesis and results in a higher incidence of malignant disorders. To investigate this hypothesis, we compared the occurrence of malignancies (solid tumors and hematologic malignancies) in familial and sporadic cases of MPN and evaluated their association with the *JAK2* GGCC haplo-type. In the entire cohort of 772 MPN patients, 52 (6.7%) malignancies were recorded, of which 21 (40%) occurred before and 31 (60%) after the diagnosis of MPN, as reported in *Online Supplementary Table S3*. Among 88 patients with a family history of MPN, ten (11.4%) were diagnosed with a malignancy, whereas 42 (6.1%) of 684 patients with sporadic MPN had a malignancy other than MPN (Fisher's exact test P=0.0721). Figure 2 shows the frequencies of all observed malignancies in the familial and sporadic cases of MPN.

Two different statistical analyses were carried out in order to investigate the occurrence of malignancies in familial and sporadic MPN. In the first setting, we used a case-control model to assess the risk of developing malignancies throughout the patients' lives (before MPN diagnosis and during follow-up) in familial compared to sporadic cases. Patients with familial MPN showed a by trend higher risk of developing malignancies during their life span than did sporadic cases [odds' ratio (OR) 1.96, 95%







confidence interval (95% CI): 0.84-4.16; P=0.0657]. After adjustment for age at diagnosis of MPN, by using four age categories (< 40 years, 40-55 years, 55-65 years, >65 years) with similar numbers of patients in each group (*Online Supplementary Figure S1*), malignancies remained more frequent in familial cases of MPN than in sporadic cases [OR, 1.98: 95% CI, 0.94-4.18; P=0.06]. When statistical adjustment for the presence of the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype (considering a dominant genotypic model) was applied, association analysis remained similar with an OR of 2.01 (95% CI: 0.96-4.19; P=0.056), thus excluding an influence of the *JAK2* haplotype on the risk of developing other malignancies in patients with familial MPN.

Next, the same analysis was conducted considering the patients' age at last follow-up (median 58 years; range, 18.7-92.2 years). Patients were grouped into three age categories (<50 years, 50-70 years, >70 years) with approximately equal numbers of subjects in each group and the frequency of malignancies was compared between the age categories in sporadic and familial MPN (Figure 3). Although the difference was not statistically significant, overall malignancies were more frequent in familial than in sporadic MPN (OR 1.77, 95% CI: 0.84-3.71; *P*=0.1174). Restricting the analysis to patients in the middle age group (50-70 years), the estimated risk of developing malignancies other than MPN was higher among the patients with familial MPN (OR 3.13, 95% CI: 1.13-8.66; *P*=0.0198).

In a second statistical model, we compared the incidence of malignancies after the diagnosis of MPN between familial and sporadic cases. The incidence of malignancies was 11.7 per 1000 person-years in familial cases and 6.0 per 1000 person-years in sporadic MPN, with an incidence rate ratio of 1.95 (P=0.11). After adjustment for age at MPN diagnosis the incidence rate ratio remained similar (1.93), thus excluding an effect of age at diagnosis on the incidence of malignancies other than MPN. Figure 4 illustrates the comparative Kaplan-Meier estimates of cancer-free survival in both groups of patients. Subjects with familial MPN seemed to have poorer cancer-free survival when compared to patients with sporadic MPN (log-rank test, Z=1.4776; P=0.1395). The observed difference in cancer-free survival was not, however, statistically significant, probably due to the overall limited number of study subjects with a family history of MPN and the low number of malignancies other than MPN in both populations of patient (7 in 88 familial cases of MPN and 24 in 684 cases of sporadic MPN). Thus, larger cohorts of patients are necessary in order to confirm the results of this study. Nevertheless, our data suggest that patients with familial clustering of MPN might harbor a yet unidentified predisposition to develop malignant disorders in general, independently of the *JAK2* haplotype.

Discussion

The identification of a common genetic variation that influences mutability at the *JAK2* gene locus raised the hypothesis that this inherited disease predisposition might underlie familial clustering of MPN. In order to determine the role of the GGCC haplotype in familial occurrence of MPN, we investigated the *JAK2* gene haplotype in the currently largest series of patients with a family history of MPN. Hypothesizing that the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype explains familial clustering, we expected to observe a higher frequency of the haplotype in familial cases than in sporadic ones. Our data demonstrate that although the GGCC haplotype is more frequent in familial MPN than in the control population, the haplotype frequency and the risk of acquiring a mutation in the *JAK2* gene do not differ between familial and sporadic cases. Accordingly, association analysis did not reveal a significant correlation between the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype and the acquisition of *JAK2*-V617F when familial and sporadic cases were compared. About 30% of patients with familial MPN do not carry the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype. Furthermore, penetrance in familial MPN is about three orders of magnitude



Figure 3. Frequency of malignancies in patients with familial and sporadic MPN according to age at last follow-up. Patients were grouped into three age categories (<50 years, 50-70 years, >70 years) according to age at last follow-up. Gray bars represent familial and white bars sporadic MPN cases. There was only one patient with sporadic MPN and no familial case with a malignant disorder under the age of 50 years at last follow-up. In the second age group (50-70 years), the frequency of malignancies was higher in patients with familial MPN than in those with sporadic MPN (P=0.0198). There was no difference in the occurrence of malignancies in familial and sporadic MPN patients over the age of 70 years at last follow-up (P=0.9226).



Figure 4. Cancer-free survival after the diagnosis of MPN in patients with familial or sporadic MPN. Kaplan-Meier estimation of cancer-free survival in familial MPN (dashed line) and sporadic MPN (black line). The x-axis shows time after MPN diagnosis in years and the y-axis represents the percentage of patients without malignancy. Patients with a familial history of MPN had a slightly lower cancer-free survival than sporadic MPN cases. However, the difference in cancer-free survival was not statistically significant (*P*=0.1395), most likely due to the overall low number of cancer cases in both groups (7 cancer cases among 88 patients with familial MPN and 24 cases among 684 patients with sporadic MPN).

higher than penetrance of the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype. These data are consistent with previous reports that excluded linkage in the *JAK2* gene locus using microsatellite marker analysis in four pedigrees with familial PV.¹⁵ Taken together, these observations further support the hypothesis that the GGCC haplotype confers susceptibility to *JAK2* mutation-positive MPN, but does not explain familial clustering.

Acquired mutations in genes relevant to the pathogenesis of MPN have been postulated to be candidates for inherited predispositions to familial MPN. Mutations of the thrombopoietin receptor gene *MPL* have been identified in familial as well as sporadic cases of essential thrombocythemia.^{20,33} Only one case of a germline *TET2* mutation in familial MPN has been described so far.²¹ There is a recent report of inherited mutations of the *CBL* gene in juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia.²² In order to gain further insights into the role of *TET2*, *CBL* and *MPL* mutations in familial clustering of MPN, we analyzed the sequence of these genes in a unique cohort of 88 patients with familial MPN. In summary, we could not identify mutations of *TET2*, *CBL* or *MPL* that are inherited and segregate with the disease in our cohort of patients with familial MPN. Hence, the germline genetic defect underlying familial clustering of MPN remains to be identified.

Previous studies in familial MPN found an earlier onset of disease and significant telomere shortening in secondgeneration MPN patients, providing evidence for disease anticipation in familial MPN.³⁴ A large-scale study including more than 24,000 first-degree relatives of about 11,000 patients with MPN revealed that the risk of developing MPN was higher in relatives of MPN patients. Furthermore, the authors reported an increased risk of hematologic malignancies (chronic myeloid leukemia and chronic lymphocytic leukemia) and solid tumors (malignant melanoma and brain cancer) among relatives of patients with MPN.³⁵ Together with the results of our study, these data support the hypothesis that there is a general inherited predisposition to familial MPN that precedes the acquisition of "phenotype-initiating" mutations such as JAK2-V617F and MPL-W515L. Unlike the JAK2 GGCC haplotype, this germline predisposition seems to promote the acquisition of various genetic defects, as shown in Figure 1A. If so, somatic mutability might not only be restricted to MPN but may manifest as an increase in overall carcinogenesis, as suggested by the data of Landgren et al.38

To investigate the hypothesis that patients with familial MPN have increased somatic mutability, we evaluated the incidence of malignancies in a unique cohort of patients with familial MPN from 52 MPN pedigrees. We noted a difference in the occurrence of malignant disorders between patients with familial or sporadic MPN, particularly in patients aged 50 to 70 years at last follow-up.

Statistical analysis revealed that patients with a family history of MPN have an up to 3-fold increased risk of developing other malignancies. Furthermore, we noted a difference in cancer types and frequencies that occur in patients with familial or sporadic MPN. Whereas tumors of the gastro-intestinal tract (17%) and skin (10%) were frequent in patients with sporadic MPN, we did not identify any such case among patients with familial MPN. Conversely, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (10%) and tumors of the brain (10%) were exclusively found in patients with familial MPN and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas were much more frequent in familial cases (20%) than in sporadic ones (2%). Kaplan-Meier estimates of cancer-free survival in patients with familial or sporadic MPN suggested a decreased cancer-free survival in familial cases, although the difference was not statistically significant. This might be due to the fact that despite being one of the largest cohorts of familial MPN studied, the number of subjects was limited and the overall incidence of malignant disorders was low in both groups of patients.

In accordance with previous studies, our data suggest that patients with familial MPN have a higher risk of malignant disorders. The number of patients with familial MPN available for investigation was limited, given that this is a rare disorder. Larger cohorts of patients are needed in order to further characterize inherited disease predispositions and to identify the genetic defect(s) that underlie familial clustering of MPN. Based on the results of this study, we hypothesize that there is a mutation - of, for example, a tumor suppressor gene - which establishes increased somatic mutability and promotes the consecutive acquisition of genetic defects. It remains unclear why a mutation in a general tumor suppressor gene would preferentially produce an MPN phenotype. However, previous reports in literature describe that certain mutations or deletions of tumor suppressor genes, such as TP53, VHL, *APC, BRCA* and *CDKN2A*, exhibit specific genotype-phe-notype correlations.³⁶⁴⁰ Previous studies of the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype and the existence of familial MPN demonstrate that germline genetic factors influence somatic mutagenesis and cause various cancer phenotypes. The identification of the mutations that cause familial MPN will further advance our understanding of the interplay between germline and somatic mutagenesis.

Authorship and Disclosures

The information provided by the authors about contributions from persons listed as authors and in acknowledgments is available with the full text of this paper at www.haematologica.org.

Financial and other disclosures provided by the authors using the ICMJE (www.icmje.org) Uniform Format for Disclosure of Competing Interests are also available at www.haematologica.org.

References

- Kralovics R, Passamonti F, Buser A, Teo S, Tiedt R, Passweg J, et al. A gain-of-function mutation of JAK2 in myeloproliferative disorders. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(17):1779-90
- 2. Baxter EJ, Scott LM, Campbell PJ, East C, Fourouclas N, Swanton S, et al. Acquired

mutation of the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in human myeloproliferative disorders. Lancet. 2005;365(9464):1054-61.

- James C, Ugo V, Le Couedic JP, Staerk J, Delhommeau F, Lacout C, et al. A unique clonal JAK2 mutation leading to constitutive signalling causes polycythaemia vera. Nature. 2005;434(7037):1144-8.
- Levine RL, Wadleigh M, Cools J, Ebert BL, Wernig G, Huntly BJ, et al. Activating

mutation in the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia, and myeloid metaplasia with myelofibrosis. Cancer Cell. 2005;7(4):387-97.

 Wernig G, Mercher T, Okabe R, Levine RL, Lee BH, Gilliland DG. Expression of Jak2V617F causes a polycythemia vera-like disease with associated myelofibrosis in a murine bone marrow transplant model. Blood. 2006;107(11):4274-81.

- Tiedt R, Hao-Shen H, Sobas MA, Looser R, Dirnhofer S, Schwaller J, et al. Ratio of mutant JAK2-V617F to wild-type Jak2 determines the MPD phenotypes in transgenic mice. Blood. 2008;111(8):3931-40.
- Campbell PJ, Green AR. The myeloproliferative disorders. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(23): 2452-66.
- Scott LM, Tong W, Levine RL, Scott MA, Beer PA, Stratton MR, et al. JAK2 exon 12 mutations in polycythemia vera and idiopathic erythrocytosis. N Engl J Med. 2007;356(5):459-68.
- Pikman Y, Lee B, Mercher T, McDowell E, Ebert B, Gozo M, et al. MPIW515L is a novel somatic activating mutation in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. PLoS Med. 2006;3(7):e270.
- Olcaydu D, Harutyunyan A, Jager R, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Pabinger I, et al. A common JAK2 haplotype confers susceptibility to myeloproliferative neoplasms. Nat Genet. 2009;41(4):450-4.
- Kilpivaara O, Mukherjee S, Schram AM, Wadleigh M, Mullally A, Ebert BL, et al. A germline JAK2 SNP is associated with predisposition to the development of JAK2(V617F)-positive myeloproliferative neoplasms. Nat Genet. 2009;41(4):455-9.
- Jones AV, Chase A, Silver RT, Oscier D, Zoi K, Wang YL, et al. JAK2 haplotype is a major risk factor for the development of myeloproliferative neoplasms. Nat Genet. 2009;41(4):446-9.
- Olcaydu D, Skoda RC, Looser R, Li S, Cazzola M, Pietra D, et al. The 'GGCC' haplotype of JAK2 confers susceptibility to JAK2 exon 12 mutation-positive polycythemia vera. Leukemia. 2009;23(10): 1924-6.
- Jones AV, Campbell PJ, Beer PA, Schnittger S, Vannucchi AM, Zoi K, et al. The JAK2 46/1 haplotype predisposes to MPL mutated myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2010;115(22):4517-23.
- 15. Kralovics R, Stockton D, Prchal J. Clonal hematopoiesis in familial polycythemia vera suggests the involvement of multiple mutational events in the early pathogenesis of the disease. Blood. 2003;102(10):3793-6.
- Bellanne-Chantelot C, Chaumarel I, Labopin M, Bellanger F, Barbu V, De Toma C, et al. Genetic and clinical implications of the Val617Phe JAK2 mutation in 72 families with myeloproliferative disorders. Blood. 2006;108(1):346-52.
- Rumi E, Passamonti F, Della Porta MG, Elena C, Arcaini L, Vanelli L, et al. Familial chronic myeloproliferative disorders: clinical phenotype and evidence of disease anticipation. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(35):5630-5.
- Rumi E, Passamonti F, Pietra D, Della Porta MG, Arcaini L, Boggi S, et al. JAK2 (V617F) as an acquired somatic mutation and a secondary genetic event associated with disease progression in familial myeloproliferative disorders. Cancer. 2006;107(9):2206-11.

- Saint-Martin C, Leroy G, Delhommeau F, Panelatti G, Dupont S, James C, et al. Analysis of the ten-eleven translocation 2 (TET2) gene in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2009;114(8):1628-32.
- Ding J, Komatsu H, Wakita A, Kato-Uranishi M, Ito M, Satoh A, et al. Familial essential thrombocythemia associated with a dominant-positive activating mutation of the c-MPL gene, which encodes for the receptor for thrombopoietin. Blood. 2004;103(11):4198-200.
- Schaub FX, Looser R, Li S, Hao-Shen H, Lehmann T, Tichelli A, et al. Clonal analysis of TET2 and JAK2 mutations suggests that TET2 can be a late event in the progression of myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2010;115(10):2003-7.
- Perez B, Mechinaud F, Galambrun C, Ben Romdhane N, Isidor B, Philip N, et al. Germline mutations of the CBL gene define a new genetic syndrome with predisposition to juvenile myelomonocytic leukaemia. J Med Genet. 2010;47(10):686-91.
- Tefferi A, Vardiman J. Classification and diagnosis of myeloproliferative neoplasms: The 2008 World Health Organization criteria and point-of-care diagnostic algorithms. Leukemia. 2007;22(1):14-22.
- Berk PD, Goldberg JD, Donovan PB, Fruchtman SM, Berlin NI, Wasserman LR. Therapeutic recommendations in polycythemia vera based on Polycythemia Vera Study Group protocols. Semin Hematol. 1986;23(2):132-43.
- Barosi G, Ambrosetti A, Finelli C, Grossi A, Leoni P, Liberato NL, et al. The Italian Consensus Conference on Diagnostic Criteria for Myelofibrosis with Myeloid Metaplasia. Br J Haematol. 1999;104(4): 730-7.
- Murphy S, Iland H, Rosenthal D, Laszlo J. Essential thrombocythemia: an interim report from the Polycythemia Vera Study Group. Semin Hematol. 1986;23(3):177-82.
- Murphy S, Peterson P, Iland H, Laszlo J. Experience of the Polycythemia Vera Study Group with essential thrombocythemia: a final report on diagnostic criteria, survival, and leukemic transition by treatment. Semin Hematol. 1997;34(1):29-39.
- Malcovati L, Della Porta MG, Pietra D, Boveri E, Pellagatti A, Galli A, et al. Molecular and clinical features of refractory anemia with ringed sideroblasts associated with marked thrombocytosis. Blood. 2009;114(17):3538-45.
- 29. Passamonti F, Rumi E, Pietra D, Della Porta MG, Boveri E, Pascutto C, et al. Relation between JAK2 (V617F) mutation status, granulocyte activation, and constitutive mobilization of CD34+ cells into peripheral blood in myeloproliferative disorders. Blood. 2006;107(9):3676-82.
- Kralovics R, Teo S, Li S, Theocharides A, Buser A, Tichelli A, et al. Acquisition of the V617F mutation of JAK2 is a late genetic event in a subset of patients with myeloproliferative disorders. Blood. 2006;108(4):

1377-80.

- Sanada M, Suzuki T, Shih LY, Otsu M, Kato M, Yamazaki S, et al. Gain-of-function of mutated C-CBL tumour suppressor in myeloid neoplasms. Nature. 2009;460 (7257):904-8.
- Grand FH, Hidalgo-Curtis CE, Ernst T, Zoi K, Zoi C, McGuire C, et al. Frequent CBL mutations associated with 11q acquired uniparental disomy in myeloid neoplasms. Blood, 2009;113(24):6182-92.
- Beer PA, Campbell PJ, Scott LM, Bench AJ, Erber WN, Bareford D, et al. MPL mutations in myeloproliferative disorders: analysis of the PT-1 cohort. Blood. 2008; 112(1):141-9.
- Rumi E, Passamonti F, Picone C, Della Porta MG, Pascutto C, Cazzola M, et al. Disease anticipation in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2008;112(6):2587-8.
- 85. Landgren O, Goldin LR, Kristinsson SY, Helgadottir EA, Samuelsson J, Bjorkholm M. Increased risks of polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia, and myelofibrosis among 24,577 first-degree relatives of 11,039 patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms in Sweden. Blood. 2008;112(6): 2199-204.
- 36. Assumpcao JG, Seidinger AL, Mastellaro MJ, Ribeiro RC, Zambetti GP, Ganti R, et al. Association of the germline TP53 R337H mutation with breast cancer in southern Brazil. BMC Cancer. 2008;8:357.
- McNeill A, Rattenberry E, Barber R, Killick P, MacDonald F, Maher ER. Genotype-phenotype correlations in VHL exon deletions. Am J Med Genet A. 2009;149A(10):2147-51.
- Gaspar C, Franken P, Molenaar L, Breukel C, van der Valk M, Smits R, et al. A targeted constitutive mutation in the APC tumor suppressor gene underlies mammary but not intestinal tumorigenesis. PLoS Genet. 2009;5(7):e1000547.
- Gallagher DJ, Gaudet MM, Pal P, Kirchhoff T, Balistreri L, Vora K, et al. Germline BRCA mutations denote a clinicopathologic subset of prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(7):2115-21.
- Pho L, Grossman D, Leachman SA. Melanoma genetics: a review of genetic factors and clinical phenotypes in familial melanoma. Curr Opin Oncol. 2006;18(2): 173-9.
- 41. Abdel-Wahab O, Mullally A, Hedvat C, Garcia-Manero G, Patel J, Wadleigh M, et al. Genetic characterization of TET1, TET2, and TET3 alterations in myeloid malignancies. Blood. 2009;114(1):144-7.
- Langemeijer SM, Kuiper RP, Berends M, Knops R, Aslanyan MG, Massop M, et al. Acquired mutations in TET2 are common in myelodysplastic syndromes. Nat Genet. 2009;41(7):838-42.
- Jankowska AM, Szpurka H, Tiu RV, Makishima H, Afable M, Huh J, et al. Loss of heterozygosity 4q24 and TET2 mutations associated with myelodysplastic/myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2009;113(25): 6403-10.

3.6 Manuscript # 4: Rare germline variants in regions of loss of heterozygosity may influence clinical course of hematological malignancies

Harutyunyan A. et al.,

Published in *Leukemia* 2011; 25:1782-1784. Reprinted with permission.

Somatic genetic lesions and germline mutations can interact in the course of pathogenesis of various cancers. There are numerous examples of cancers when one allele is mutated germline while the second allele is affected by somatic point mutation or chromosomal aberration (Comino-Mendez et al, 2011; Lee et al, 1987; Varela et al, 2011).

In the paper we investigated a patient with MPN who had acquired 14q UPD in the course of the disease. We performed exome sequencing on the granulocyte DNA sample on Illumina sequencing platform and analyzed the mutations in the region of acquired uniparental disomy on chromosome 14q. The analysis yielded several germline mutations, among them a nonsense mutation of Fanconi anemia complementation group M gene (*FANCM*), R658X. This truncating mutation had become homozygous as a result of 14q UPD. The clinical course of the disease fitted with the acquisition of the mutation. Initially patient was diagnosed with PV, but after several years, with the acquisition of 14q UPD, the patient developed anemia and later transformed to sAML (Harutyunyan et al, 2011a).

MPN patients frequently carry different large-scale somatic chromosomal aberrations which may accidentally interact with existing deleterious germline mutations and influence the disease progression. This phenomenon has been so far underestimated in MPN.

In this paper I have been involved in analyzing the microarray data, as well as performed exome sequencing of the sample and subsequent validation of the identified mutations. I wrote the paper together with my supervisor, Dr. Robert Kralovics.

www.nature.com/leu

npg

LETTERS TO THE EDITOR

Rare germline variants in regions of loss of heterozygosity may influence clinical course of hematological malignancies

Leukemia (2011) **25**, 1782–1784; doi:10.1038/leu.2011.150; published online 17 June 2011

Somatically acquired uniparental disomy (UPD) has been recognized as a common mechanism of mutation amplification in cancer. Somatic heterozygous mutations can become homozygous if the chromosomal arm harboring the mutation undergoes mitotic recombination and two chromosomes carrying the mutation segregate into the same daughter cell. As a result, UPD occurs, accompanied by loss of heterozygosity from the recombination breakpoint to the telomere of the affected chromosomal arm. UPD of chromosome 9p is a frequent event in myeloproliferative neoplasms and was found to be associated with the oncogenic V617F mutation of the *JAK2* gene.¹



Figure 1 Homozygous nonsense *FANCM* mutation in a patient with UPD of chromosome 14q. (a) 14q UPD detected using Affymetrix SNP 6.0 arrays. Copy number and allelic difference data for chromosome 14 are shown. A large part of 14q shows loss of heterozygosity with no change in copy number. (b) R658X mutation validated by Sanger sequencing: homozygous in granulocytes (tumor tissue), heterozygous in buccal cells (control tissue). (c) Schematic representation of the *FANCM* gene. The mutation identified in this study is shown in bold, other two mutations described in literature are also shown.⁵ (d) Two possible mechanisms of clonal outgrowth—either FANCM R658X is the driver or other somatic mutation that occurred on the same chromosome, drives the clonality. White star, putative somatic mutation; black star, FANCM mutation; Mb, mega base pairs.

A number of other UPDs were shown to amplify heterozygous mutations in genes such as *MPL*, *CBL* and *EZH2* in myeloid malignancies.^{2–4}

We recently identified a patient with the diagnosis of polycythemia vera that carried UPD on the long arm of chromosome 14 (Figure 1a). We hypothesized that a homozygous somatic mutation might be present in the chromosomal region affected by UPD. In an attempt to identify the mutation, we employed next-generation sequencing of all the exons of the patient. Granulocyte genomic DNA was fragmented to an average of 150 bp and the synthesis of a fragment library was performed using the standard manufacturer's protocol (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). We enriched for exonic sequences using the SureSelect Human All Exon kit (Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA) and performed a 51-bp paired-end sequencing with the HiSeq2000 system (Illumina). After reference alignment of 178 million reads, variations from the genomic reference were identified and filtered based on the physical position of the 14qUPD and allelic frequency consistent with homozygosity. We further removed known single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), synonymous variants and non-coding SNPs. One of the variants validated by Sanger sequencing was a homozygous nonsense mutation in the FANCM gene, truncating the protein at codon 658 (R658X). We did not find R658X in any of the public databases (dbSNP, 1000 Genomes Project, OMIM, Fanconi Anemia Mutation Database). The analysis of buccal mucosa cells revealed that the patient was a germline heterozygous carrier of the FANCM R658X mutation (Figure 1b). Another nonsense mutation was identified in a family with Fanconi anemia of the complementation group M, where the affected pedigree members carried two mutated alleles (S724X and a 2.5 kb deletion affecting exon 15, Figure 1c).⁵ As the same study also showed that the S724X nonsense mutation is a loss-offunction variant, we conclude that the more severe truncation caused by the R658X mutation is also loss-of-function. The R658X mutation is the third FANCM mutation reported to date.

Fanconi anemia is a heterogeneous hereditary blood disorder characterized by early onset anemia, cancer predisposition and various congenital abnormalities. The male polycythemia vera patient who carried the R658X mutation of FANCM was diagnosed in December 1993 at age of 44 as polycythemia vera with a hematocrit of 66.6% and serum erythropoietin levels below detection limit. The patient was positive for the JAK2-V617F mutation and required regular phlebotomies. In September 2000, the patient presented with increased leukocyte count $(17.5 \times 10^{9}/l)$. Between September and November 2003, the patient was in a plateau phase without a need of phlebotomies. In January 2004, the patient presented first time with anemia and 1% of blasts in the peripheral blood. The patient required transfusions since January 2005. We sampled the patient in September 2006 for the karyotype analysis, using the SNP 6.0 mapping arrays (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA, USA). The patient exhibited 9pUPD with high JAK2-V617F mutation burden and 14qUPD, but no other chromosomal aberrations. At this sampling date, the patient was anemic (hemoglobin 6.8 g/l) with 2% blasts in peripheral blood, had a leukocyte count of 25.2×10^{9} /l and a marked thrombocytosis (platelet count 3753×10^{9} /l). The blast count increased continuously (14% in June 2007), consistent with transformation to acute myeloid leukemia that was confirmed in October 2007. The patient died in April 2009.

The clinical history of the patient suggests that the patient first acquired the JAK2-V617F mutation causing the onset of the polycythemia vera phenotype. Anemia in this patient was most likely caused by a subsequent clonal selection of cells that

acquired homozygosity for *FANCM* R658X due to mitotic recombination on chromosome 14q. The resulting clone homozygous for two detrimental mutations (JAK2-V617F and *FANCM* R658X) caused the transition of polycythemia to anemia, marked thrombocytosis and leukocytosis. It is possible that the leukemic transformation in this patient was a consequence of the homozygosity to the *FANCM* mutation, as Fanconi anemia patients often develop acute leukemia. At this point, we do not know if homozygosity for R658X was driving the clonal selection. It is possible that a somatic mutation on 14q was the driver and the *FANCM* R658X mutation co-acquired homozygosity with the yet unknown driver mutation (Figure 1d).

In a recently published high-resolution SNP microarray study, we detected 147 UPD events affecting 12 different chromosomal arms in 321 chronic phase myeloproliferative neoplasms patients (9pUPD was present in about 37% of myeloproliferative neoplasms cases).⁶ All these UPD events could switch rare deleterious germline variants to homozygosity and influence the clinical phenotype of patients. We performed exome sequencing in 11 patients with 9pUPD. In average, we detect 636 non-synonymous variants per patient that are not in public databases (dbSNP, 1000 Genomes Project). The 9pUPD regions of these 11 cases contained between 0–7 non-synonymous variants per



Figure 2 Possible mechanisms of interaction between somatic and germline genetic factors. (a) Alleles underlying germline recessive traits are made homozygous by somatic UPD influencing the clinical phenotype. (b) Imprinted or monoallelically expressed genes are affected by somatic UPD. As a result, increased or reduced gene expression may occur. White stars, mutations; M, DNA methylation of an imprinted gene.

patient (excluding JAK2-V617F). At this point, it is challenging to predict the influence of these non-synonymous variants on the clinical phenotype of each individual patient. However, using the PolyPhen-2 algorithm (http://genetics.bwh.harvard.edu/ pph2), one third of these non-synonymous variants are predicted to damage the protein function (data not shown). Therefore, any myeloproliferative neoplasms patient with loss of heterozygosity has the potential to embark on a unique clinical course driven by the distinct set of rare variants each patient carries within the loss of heterozygosity region.

In general, somatically acquired UPDs can influence phenotypic effect of germline variants and epigenetic marks (Figure 2). UPDs can result in homozygosity of rare deleterious germline mutations (Figure 2a) that have no phenotypic effect when heterozygous. In addition, UPDs may either increase or reduce the expression of imprinted genes located on the affected chromosomal arm (Figure 2b). Although the prevailing opinion in cancer genetics is that somatic mutations are contributing to disease initiation and progression, our study demonstrates that a unique interplay of germline variants with somatic aberrations may influence disease pathogenesis in each individual case.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements

The study was supported by funding from the Austrian Academy of Sciences, the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) and the MPN Research Foundation.

MicroRNA signatures characterize multiple myeloma patients

Leukemia (2011) **25**, 1784–1789; doi:10.1038/leu.2011.147; published online 24 June 2011

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are a class of small non-coding singlestranded RNAs of ~22 nucleotides in length that regulate protein levels by binding to either partially or complete complementary sites in messenger RNAs (mRNAs), leading to translational repression or transcript degradation, respectively. MiRNAs have a role in critical biological processes including cellular growth and differentiation. Recent studies showed that miRNAs have an important role in the pathogenesis of multiple myeloma (MM) and that miRNA signatures are associated with different cytogenetic subtypes. Unsupervised analyses of miRNA expression in MM identified unique clusters, which were not associated with chromosomal abnormalities, while supervised analysis showed a specific miRNA expression pattern for MM subgroups.^{1–3}

We have investigated the expression level of 365 miRNAs in sorted bone marrow (BM) plasma cells of 45 newly diagnosed MM patients enrolled in the HOVON-65/GMMG-HD4 trial (Supplementary Table S1) and 4 healthy individuals (Gene Expression Omnibus, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/, accession number GSE16558).¹ We addressed the question whether MM patients could be classified based on miRNA expression patterns. MiRNA expression data were linked to gene expression data to gain more insight into candidate miRNA target genes. A Harutyunyan¹, B Gisslinger², T Klampfl¹, T Berg¹, K Bagienski¹, H Gisslinger² and R Kralovics^{1,2}

¹Center for Molecular Medicine of the Austrian Academy

of Sciences, Vienna, Austria and ²Department of Internal Medicine I, Division of Hematology

and Blood Coagulation, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

E-mail: robert.kralovics@cemm.oeaw.ac.at

References

- 1 Kralovics R, Passamonti F, Buser AS, Teo SS, Tiedt R, Passweg JR et al. A gain-of-function mutation of JAK2 in myeloproliferative disorders. N Engl J Med 2005; 352: 1779–1790.
- 2 Kawamata N, Ogawa S, Yamamoto G, Lehmann S, Levine RL, Pikman Y et al. Genetic profiling of myeloproliferative disorders by single-nucleotide polymorphism oligonucleotide microarray. Exp Hematol 2008; 36: 1471–1479.
- 3 Sanada M, Suzuki T, Shih LY, Otsu M, Kato M, Yamazaki S et al. Gain-of-function of mutated C-CBL tumour suppressor in myeloid neoplasms. *Nature* 2009; 460: 904–908.
- 4 Ernst T, Chase AJ, Score J, Hidalgo-Curtis CE, Bryant C, Jones AV *et al.* Inactivating mutations of the histone methyltransferase gene EZH2 in myeloid disorders. *Nat Genet* 2010; **42**: 722–726.
- 5 Meetei AR, Medhurst AL, Ling C, Xue Y, Singh TR, Bier P *et al*. A human ortholog of archaeal DNA repair protein Hef is defective in Fanconi anemia complementation group M. *Nat Genet* 2005; **37**: 958–963.
- 6 Klampfl T, Harutyunyan A, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Schalling M, Bagienski K *et al.* Genome integrity of myeloproliferative neoplasms in chronic phase and during disease progression. *Blood* 2011; e-pub ahead of print 29 April 2011; doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-331678.

Finally, a possible association of miRNA expression with response to therapy, that is, complete response (CR), nearly CR (nCR), progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS), was evaluated.

Unsupervised hierarchical cluster analysis based on miRNA expression showed that normal BM samples clustered distinctly from MM samples (Figure 1). A total of 44 MM samples were grouped in four distinct clusters and one MM sample was not included in any MM cluster. The robustness indices per cluster are shown in Supplementary Table S2. To determine the miRNA expression signatures of the four MM and one normal BM cluster, each cluster was compared with the remaining clusters using the Mann-Whitney U-test with a false discovery rate (FDR) < 0.05 (Partek Genomics Suite 6.4 software). The top 10 significant distinctive miRNAs for the four MM clusters and normal BM cluster are shown in Tables 1 and 2, respectively. The complete list of differentially expressed miRNAs (FDR < 0.05) characterizing the four MM clusters and normal BM cluster is shown in Supplementary Tables S3 and S4, respectively. MM cluster 1 (n=8) was characterized by upregulation of 17 miRNAs, including miRNA-130a, -424 and -622; MM cluster 2 (n=9) by upregulation of miRNA-576 and -106b; MM cluster 3 (n=4) by upregulation of 23 miRNAs, including miRNA-372 and -200a, and downregulation of miRNA-146b; and MM cluster 4 (n=23) was characterized by downregulation of 60 miRNAs. An interesting observation is the

1784

4. DISCUSSION

The work performed in the context of my thesis resulted in several outcomes important for both MPN research field and human genetics in general.

SEGEX. We developed an algorithm for familial linkage analysis which can be useful to study any inherited disorder. There is no need to specify the mode of inheritance and penetrance in SEGEX analysis. This is an advantage for many complex diseases, for which the exact level of penetrance is not known. Although from the first sight it seems that SEGEX will call too many shared regions, in practice with the use of large number of SNPs the opposite is true. With the SNP density currently offered by the SNP arrays most of the genome is excluded and only the regions which are truly shared between affected members, i.e. which are identical by descent (IBD), remain, which is the ultimate goal of all allele-sharing analysis methods.

The three families used for validation of the method showed that the method can efficiently identify the shared genomic regions which contain causative mutations. In two of them, the one with Parkinson's disease and the first one with hereditary thrombocytosis, only a single region was identified with linkage to the disease and the causative mutation was located in that region. The analysis of the third family, with hereditary thrombocytosis, detected three regions and one of them contained the mutation causing the disease. Overall, the results from the study of these three families prove that the method correctly finds the regions in linkage. In summary, described method is simple and efficient for non-parametric linkage analysis of hereditary disorders. Similar methods could be developed for parametric linkage analysis, which will also use genotype information from unaffected members of the family. However, there are factors such as low penetrance and late age of onset, as well as the effect of environment, which are quite frequent for complex diseases that make the use of parametric tests non-practical, if not impossible at all.

We observed strong and inverse correlation between the meiotic count, i.e. number of meioses separating all the available affected members of the family and the total size of linkage regions detected. With sufficiently large family, namely with 10 or more meiotic count, it is highly likely to find only a single region in linkage and with currently used DNA sequencing technologies it is feasible to sequence a region of 10-20 Mb to identify the causative mutation.

Parametric and non-parametric linkage tests still remain cornerstones of familial linkage analysis. At the same time, technological advances in genetics and availability of new methods of data generation provide basis for the development of conceptually new methods of analysis. The high density of SNP markers and accuracy of genotyping are two key factors ensuring the efficiency of this method. Affymetrix Genome-wide Human SNP 6.0 arrays seem to be suited for this method quite well, having rather high marker density and low false genotype call rate. We have tried to utilize this method for other types of microarrays, however, for some the marker density was low (Affymetrix 10K, 50K); for others, although density was enough, the genotyping accuracy was not high enough (Affymetrix 250K), which resulted in lower accuracy in calling shared regions.

Current trends in analysis of familial diseases are going towards even more simplification, there are already a few publications where whole genome sequencing of the affected family members has been performed and causative mutations have been identified (Zimprich et al, 2011). Though we think that familial linkage analysis is still necessary in order to reduce enormous complexity of the whole genome sequencing data.

RBBP6. Another outcome of my thesis is the discovery of germline mutations predisposing to MPN. We have identified germline *RBBP6* mutations in about 5% of familial MPN cases and in about 0.6% of sporadic MPN cases where family history is unknown. The low penetrance present in MPN pedigrees suggests that the disease is triggered by some stochastic factors. As the phenotype in familial MPN is driven by somatic mutations, the acquisition of somatic mutations may be the factor that influences penetrance. It is likely that mutant RBBP6 causes an elevation in somatic mutagenesis rates through inhibition of p53 function. The p53 pathway has recently been shown by our group and others to play a crucial role in the MPN pathogenesis (Harutyunyan et al, 2011b; Nakatake et al, 2012). Since the hematopoietic tissues exhibit high mitotic activity, hematopoietic cells may be the most affected by elevated mutagenesis rates. In this case studying somatic and germline genetics of MPN helped us to pinpoint the key role of p53 pathway in MPN. As RBBP6 is widely expressed, the question as to how RBBP6 mutations cause predominantly MPN phenotype remains elusive. There are examples of germline mutations in cancer associated genes causing a specific familial phenotype, e.g. retinoblastoma (RB1) (Lee et al, 1987), neurofibromatosis (NF1) (Wallace et al, 1990), melanoma

63

(*CDKN2A*) (Hussussian et al, 1994) and others. Similarly, germline *RBBP6* mutations may predispose toward myeloproliferative phenotypes. Our results show that apart from the weak MPN susceptibility exerted by a common *JAK2* haplotype (Jones et al, 2009; Kilpivaara et al, 2009; Olcaydu et al, 2009a), other germline factors with higher penetrance confer predisposition to MPN. The *RBBP6* mutation frequency of 5% in MPN pedigrees underlines the genetic heterogeneity of susceptibilities to myeloproliferative phenotypes.

JAK2 'GGCC' haplotype. Besides familial strong predisposition, there are also common alleles in population that confer weaker susceptibility to MPN. In parallel with two other groups we have found the strongest population-wide MPN predisposition, the haplotype around *JAK2* gene (Olcaydu et al, 2009a). This risk allele frequency is about 30% in the European populations, while the odds ratio (OR) for MPN is about 2.5. The very high OR implies that it is unlikely that any other similar common predisposition for MPN will be found. Importantly, there is the strong evidence that 'GGCC' haplotype predisposes only to JAK2-positive MPN, despite some reports claiming *JAK2* mutation-independent MPN predisposition (Pardanani et al, 2010b; Tefferi et al, 2010b). This in turn means that there might be other risk loci for JAK2-negative MPN (although most likely weaker).

We also examined the role of *JAK2* haplotype in familial MPN cases since it was hypothesized that the haplotype might explain familial clustering in MPN. As a result of our study, we excluded such a possibility, showing that there is no strong enrichment of the risk haplotype in familial MPN compared to sporadic MPN (Olcaydu et al, 2011). On the other hand, we have demonstrated that the 'GGCC' haplotype still confers the same risk of developing JAK2-positive MPN in familial cases as it does in sporadic cases (Olcaydu et al, 2011). This goes in line with the hypothesis that the germline variants predispose to acquisition of various somatic mutations which then drive the disease.

Rare germline alleles and LOH. The influence of germline factors on MPN pathogenesis is even more complex. We have described another mechanism through which germline variants can exert their effect (Harutyunyan et al, 2011a). There are a number of recessive deleterious germline variants in each individual. When these variants accidentally become homozygous or hemizygous as a result of a somatic LOH event spanning that chromosomal region, they might start to influence the disease phenotype. It will depend on tissue and cell-type gene expression and

environment whether the variant will influence disease pathogenesis, but the example of *FANCM* and 14q UPD that we have described shows that such interaction of somatic and germline genetics can be very relevant in cancers (Harutyunyan et al, 2011a).

4.1 Recent findings in MPN germline genetics

Currently there is a lot of research activity in MPN germline genetics field. Since the discovery of *JAK2* haplotype conferring MPN susceptibility there have been numerous reports assessing the role of *JAK2* haplotype in different contexts (Jones et al, 2010; Olcaydu et al, 2009b; Pardanani et al, 2010b; Tefferi et al, 2010b), as well as trying to identify new predisposition factors.

Most of the germline SNPs recently described have not been studied in large number of patients and are often controversial. Possibly the most robust association found is for a coding SNP (K751Q) in ERCC2 (or XPD) gene associated with leukemic transformation in MPN (Hernandez-Boluda et al, 2012). The association was shown for PV and ET patients (5-fold increased risk for leukemic transformation) while examining the polymorphisms in several DNA repair genes. ERCC2 is involved in nucleotide excision repair pathway and the mutation likely impairs DNA repair capabilities in those patients thus predisposing to acquire more mutations and transform to sAML. Another study examined the same polymorphism in PMF and came to the conclusion that this SNP does not play a role in leukemic transformation of PMF patients (Poletto et al, 2013). The authors suggested that there are different mechanisms involved in leukemic transformation in PMF compared to PV and ET. However, when we look at the actual data, even in PMF samples there is a trend for SNP association with leukemic transformation (2-fold difference) and p value is just above the threshold of 0.05 (Poletto et al, 2013). So it is more plausible that XPD polymorphism confers risk to develop sAML in all three MPN subtypes and the reason the p value in their study was not significant might be just due to small sample size. The identification of a polymorphism influencing the disease progression in MPN can have significant implications in patient management and the choice of therapy. This fact emphasizes the need to keep germline genetics in focus for MPN.

Several other associations with MPN have been reported although all of those are disputed and should not be taken for granted. Following up on the report of *CCDC26* polymorphisms being associated with *IDH1* and *IDH2* mutations in gliomas (Jenkins et al, 2011), a research group tried to replicate those findings in MPN (Lasho et al, 2012). They found the inverse association of the described SNP with acquisition of *IDH1/2* mutations. However, due to small sample size and inverse association these findings are likely not to be confirmed in other cohorts. Indeed, there have been no follow ups on this matter.

Another group reported on association of a polymorphism in glucocorticoid receptor gene (*GR* or *NR3C1*) with MPN (Varricchio et al, 2011b). The authors have followed up and checked for association in Diamond-Blackfan anemia (Varricchio et al, 2011a), and different aspects of MPN pathogenesis (Poletto et al, 2012). However, all the reports on this polymorphisms come from the same group; no confirmatory studies have been done by others. Additionally, when looking on the actual study design, the case and control populations are not properly matched, mainly with a different ethnic background. And this in case when even the authors are mentioning in the text that there is huge inter-population variability for this SNP. Unless these findings can be independently confirmed by other groups in larger number of patients, they cannot be truly implicated in MPN pathogenesis.

And to mention some negative results of association studies. There was a report showing no association of *MDM2* polymorphism with MPN (Rumi et al, 2012a). Also no association for MPN was found with *TP53* serine 72 polymorphism (Raza et al, 2012).

The familial MPN research has had fewer successes recently. Perhaps due to extensive heterogeneity researchers are consistently failing to identify or confirm mutations in familial cases of MPN. Other than *RBBP6* reported in this thesis, no other genes have been implicated in familial MPN.

There are more and more results being available on germline MPN genetics. As it becomes apparent, inherited polymorphisms not only simply confer risk to develop the disease, but they also influence various aspects of the pathogenesis. With the elucidation of the role of germline genetics, a more complete picture of MPN, as a complex interaction of germline and somatic factors, should emerge.
4.2 Genes mutated somatically and germline

An interesting aspect of MPN genetics is the overlap between the somatic and germline genetics. This relates to the mutations that can occur in the same gene both somatically and germline. This is a well-known phenomenon extensively studied in cancers and in many cases the impact of mutations in the same gene is not exactly identical when it occurs somatically or is inherited germline (Hussussian et al, 1994; Lee et al, 1987). The reasons for this can be both the length of exposure to the mutation (from zygote in germline compared to much shorter time for somatic mutations) and the context (all cells have the mutation in case of germline, so they have no selective advantage, compared to "uniqueness" of the cell carrying the somatic mutation).

Regarding the same phenomenon in MPN, the most MPN-specific mutations are those in JAK2 and MPL. These genes can also be mutated germline and lead to the development of hereditary thrombocytosis, an MPN-like disorder (Ding et al, 2004; Mead et al, 2012). A more complex but similar example are the mutations in CSF3R. Inherited loss-of-function CSF3R mutations cause neutropenia while somatic gain-of-function CSF3R mutations are commonly found in chronic neutrophilic leukemia (Beekman et al, 2013; Maxson et al, 2013). There are other examples in myeloid malignancies (including MPN) of genes that can mutate both somatically and germline, such as CBL and RUNX1. The first cause developmental symptoms and JMML (Niemeyer et al, 2010), while the second cause thrombocytopenia with susceptibility to develop AML (Song et al, 1999). Interestingly, in the latter cases the patients do acquire additional somatic mutations and follow the classical multi-step cancer evolution. All these examples demonstrate that many of the MPN-related genes are involved in both germline and somatic context. That in turn suggests that finding a gene somatically mutated in MPN can imply its possible role also as a hereditary factor and vice versa.

4.3 Phenotype-specific germline mutations

JAK2-V617F mutations are found in all three subtypes of MPN, however, it is not well understood how can the same mutation cause different phenotypes. Several explanations have been suggested, such as the influence of other somatic mutations or germline factors. So far no consistent somatic mutational pattern has been observed to explain the phenotypic diversity. The low number of discovered germline factors does not allow assessing their effect on disease phenotype. Another possibility that has been brought up is the dosage of JAK2-V617F mutation. It has been noted in numerous studies that 9p UPD following JAK2-V617F mutation is rather frequent in PV and to a lesser extent in PMF, but is almost absent in ET (Klampfl et al, 2011; Stegelmann et al, 2010). Additional evidence comes from JAK2-V617F transgenic mouse models. The mice with higher dosage of V617F develop PV-like disease, while those with lower copies of JAK2-V617F display ET-like phenotype (Tiedt et al, 2008; Wernig et al, 2006; Zaleskas et al, 2006). Overall these facts may suggest that the higher the JAK2 mutational burden, the higher the likelihood to develop PV and the lower the chance of ET. It is also suggested that JAK2-V617F mutation is embryonically lethal and thus cannot be inherited (Marty et al, 2010). On the contrary, other JAK2 mutations (V617I, R564Q, H608N) were found to be germline (Etheridge et al, 2011; Mead et al, 2012; Rumi et al, 2012b), suggesting that these are milder mutations than V617F. And accordingly, germline JAK2 mutations cause the mild phenotype of hereditary thrombocytosis. Recently it has been shown that in there are differences in JAK-STAT pathway activation between JAK2-positive ET and PV: STAT1 phosphorylation is higher in ET, while STAT5 phosphorylation is higher in PV (Chen et al, 2010). In conclusion, JAK2 mutation type, mutation dosage and possibly other germline and somatic factors contribute to the phenotypic determination of MPN.

Unlike the significant phenotypic diversity of MPN in the presence of similar mutational profile, the phenotypic features of hereditary diseases with *JAK2* and *MPL* mutations are rather restricted. In case of germline *JAK2* mutations, it is hereditary thrombocytosis, similar to *MPL* mutations, although in the latter case the onset is in childhood. This extreme specificity of the clinical features of hereditary MPN-like diseases is partly due to the fact that the disease is driven by the germline mutation and not by additional somatic mutations. But similar thing might exist for true MPN cases, since it was shown in other cancers that transcriptional profile correlates with the predisposing germline mutation (Comino-Mendez et al, 2011). Therefore in order to facilitate the search for familial MPN mutations, the families should be grouped according to their clinical and molecular parameters which in the end may result in separation of specific familial MPN subtypes.

4.4 Concluding remarks and future directions

The field of MPN germline genetics is advancing fast. In the last few years a number of new findings are starting to uncover the hereditary factors involved in MPN pathogenesis. This has been undoubtedly assisted by the remarkable technological advances in the molecular genetics field, such as microarray genotyping and second generation sequencing. Currently there have been a number of germline genetic factors identified, ranging from some with rather high frequency in the population but lower penetrance and on the other end of the spectrum very rare but highly penetrant mutations clustered in families (**Figure 21**).



Figure 21. Germline predisposition to MPN and MPN-like diseases. The shades of the red indicate the level of penetrance (darker corresponds to higher), while the size of circles displays the frequency of the variant. (*Figure reprinted from Hematology/Oncology Clinics of North America 26, Harutyunyan A., Kralovics R. Role of Germline Genetic Factors in MPN Pathogenesis. 1037-1051. Copyright 2012, with permission from Elsevier*)

All of these findings combined with the new discoveries in somatic genetics of MPN allow us to envisage the pathogenesis of MPN as a multidimensional interaction of somatic and germline mutations and other factors. This overview of MPN pathogenesis is not yet complete and new findings will more precisely define each step of pathogenesis and allow us to obtain a more differentiated categorization of

MPN subtypes based on molecular markers. As a consequence, a proportion of patients will be reassigned to MPN-like diseases category as it happened for patients diagnosed with ET and carrying germline *JAK2* mutations. The current view of MPN pathogenesis is represented on **Figure 22**.



Figure 22. Current understanding of the pathogenesis of MPN and MPN-like disorders. (Figure reprinted from Hematology/Oncology Clinics of North America 26, Harutyunyan A., Kralovics R. Role of Germline Genetic Factors in MPN Pathogenesis. 1037-1051. Copyright 2012, with permission from Elsevier)

So far the main focus of MPN genetics research has been on protein coding regions of genes, but this is going to change soon. With the more widespread use of second generation sequencing not only for genome sequencing but also for other purposes such as bisulphite sequencing, ChIP-seq and RNA-seq, the role of non-coding variation and epigenetic modifications in MPN pathogenesis will start to shape.

5. MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.1 Materials

Patient samples. Peripheral blood samples were collected from familial and sporadic MPN patients after written informed consent at the Medical University of Vienna, Austria, the University of Pavia, Italy, and Royal Perth Hospital, Perth, Australia, according to the regulations of the local ethics committees. Healthy control samples were obtained from Italy (n=203) and Central Europe (n=520). Genomic DNA was isolated from granulocyte and T-cell cell fractions of these blood samples according to standard procedures.

Affected members from three families have been chosen for validating the SEGEX algorithm. All three families had been previously studied by parametric linkage mapping methods and the causative mutations have been identified. We included one pedigree (6 subjects) with Parkinson's disease with a mutation in *LRRK2* gene (Zimprich et al, 2004), and two pedigrees (a total of 18 individuals) with hereditary thrombocythemia with a mutation in *THPO* gene (Liu et al, 2008; Wiestner et al, 1998). Peripheral blood samples were collected after written informed consent of the studied subjects. The study protocols were approved by the local ethics boards.

5.2 Methods

Microarray genotyping. DNA samples were processed and hybridized to Genome-Wide Human SNP 6.0 arrays (Affymetrix) according to the protocol supplied by the manufacturer. The raw data was analyzed by Genotyping Console version 3.0.2 software (Affymetrix). The samples were assessed for chromosomal aberrations (deletions, gains and acquired uniparental disomies) as implemented in the Genotyping Console software. Affymetrix Genome-Wide Human SNP Array 6.0 (Affymetrix) allows genotyping of 909,622 SNPs. The genotype data with positional information has been exported in AA/AB/BB format as a tab-delimited text file for further analysis.

Exome sequencing. An equimolar pool of DNA samples from three affected

family members was prepared, processed and enriched for exons using Agilent SureSelect Human All Exon Kit (Agilent) according to the protocol supplied by the manufacturer. DNA libraries were sequenced using 51-bp paired end sequencing on an Illumina HiSeq 2000 system. Image analysis and base calling was performed using Real Time Analysis 1.12 software (Illumina). Resulting BCL files were converted to FASTQ format with the CASAVA 1.7 software (Illumina). Alignment of the reads and subsequent SNV and DIV calling were performed using CLC Genomic Workbench 4 software (CLC bio). For alignments, a maximum of 2 mismatches or 4 bp insertions or deletions were allowed. Variants were called that had coverage of at least 10 and frequency of 25%. The SNV and DIV lists were exported as text files, converted to MAQ and GATK bed formats respectively and uploaded to SeattleSeq SNP Annotation Server web tool (http://gvs.gs.washington.edu/SeattleSegAnnotation/). The annotated SNVs and DIVs were filtered by excluding variants which were in dbSNP129 or 1000 Genomes Project database, for non-coding and synonymous variants. Finally, focus was on the variants in the genes which were in the shared genomic regions identified by SEGEX linkage analysis (Table 2).

Sanger sequencing. All primer sequences and PCR conditions used for the study described in section 3.2 are provided in the **Tables 6 and 7**. Exon sequencing of *RBBP6* and validation of mutations from exome sequencing data was performed using the BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing kit and the 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems). Sequence analysis was done using the Sequencher Software 4.9 (Gene Codes).

Allele specific PCR. *JAK2* mutational status was determined using allele specific PCR for the JAK2-V617F mutation as described elsewhere (Kralovics et al, 2006). All the primer sequences and PCR conditions for AS-PCRs of detected mutations are listed in **Table 8**. Wild type and mutant alleles were amplified with allele-specific dye-labeled primers of different length and a common reverse primer. PCR product length differences were detected on the 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems). The data were analyzed using the Gene Mapper 4.0 software (Applied Biosystems).

gene	exon	Forward primer (5' -> 3')	Reverse primer (5' -> 3')	PCR conditions
RBBP6	1	GGTCCTTCGGTGTCTTTGAG	AGAGACATAATGGCGGTTAGC	
	2	GACAATATCAGTAATCTAGTTGCAAGG	CGAACAAAGAAACCTACTATCCTC	
	3	TCAAAGGTGGTAAAGATTAATCAGAG	AAGTGTGCAAGTGATGCCAC	
	4	TCTAGAGAAGAATGAAGTAGGCTGAG	TTGCAAAATATGTCCTCCCC	
	5-6	GATACTGCTCTTTACAGGATGAGTG	GCCATTGTCTACAGAAGGCAG	
	7	GTTCTGGCACTTGGCTGAG	AGCAGACTGCAGCCTCACAG	
	8	ACTAATTTGGCATTGCGCTG	AAACAGACTTCTCACTACTTAATGCTC	
	9	AACTGAACAAATGTGGACCATC	TTTACAGCCTACAGATACCAAGC	95°C-5 min.
	10	TCTCCTGATGCTTTAATTGCC	TCATCCCACATTACTGAGCAC	10x touch down
	11-12	TGCAGGTGATGGGTAAACAG	CCTGGACGAGCAGTATTTATTC	(-1°C/cycle):
	13	GGTGAGTAAGATCACTTTGGTTTAG	TGCCTAGTTTGGACCTTCC	94°C-30 sec.
	14	CGAAACAAATTTAAGAACTGGGG	GCACAATACAAACAAATGACCC	67°C-57°C-30 sec.
	15	TTGAATAGTTGGTTCTATTCCACTG	TGGCTTTGGTTTAAATTTTAGGTG	72°C-30 sec.
	16	CAAGCAACTTCTCAGGGATTC	TCTTCACTTCTATACACCTAGACCG	26x:
	17_1	TGAAACCGTGAGGAAAGAATG	TCTCTCCCATTCTCGGTAGC	94°C-30 sec.
	17_2	CTCAAGCGTTTAGGGGACAG	CACTTTCCTCCCCTTTTCTTC	57°C-30 sec.
	17_3	TCGAAACATAGGTAGCAACTATCC	TTTAATTGGAGGTTCAGATCGAG	72°C-30 sec.
	17_4	AAACCAAAAGCAAAGGGTG	ATTTTGCGCTTTGGTGATG	72°C-10 min.
	17_5	AAAGGCCAAGAAGCCTAATG	CCTACTTCCCTAGATCAGCATTC	
	18_1	TTGTGTGTCTTCCTTAGGGC	TCTCTGGCTGAGTGCTGTTC	
	18_2	AATTCACCAAGGACGTGAGC	TTTGTCTCTTCATTTGGCCG	
	18_3	CCTTCTCGGAATAAAGATTCTGC	TATGCCCACCTGGACAACTG	
	18_4	TGATGAAGCTGCTTTTGAACC	AAGTGCAGCACAGGGTCTTC	
JAK2	12	CAAAGTTCAATGAGTTGACCCC	TGCTAACATCTAACACAAGGTTGG	
	14	GCTGAAAGTAGGAGAAAGTGCATC	CTGACACCTAGCTGTGATCCTG	
MPL	10	AGAGTAGGGGCTGGCTGG	AGGTGACGTGCAGGAAGTG	

Table 6. Primers and PCR conditions for sequencing.

Abbreviations: min., minute; sec., second.

Table 7. Primers and PCR conditions for validation of mutations by Sanger sequencing.

Gene	Mutation	Forward primer (5' -> 3')	Reverse primer (5' -> 3')	PCR conditions
ABCE1	P243A	CCTGGTGTGTAATCTTGCTTTCT	GGTGGCAGCTATAAACAACCA	
VEGFC	M418del	TTTGTTAGCATGGACCCACA	TGATGAATCCATTGCCTTGA	
FRG1	E55G	GCAAGATTTAATCGAGACAAAGTG	CAATGGTTCCATTCCTTTGG	
PARP4	I1039T	GTGGTGGTGTACGCCTGTAG	AAATCTGCTGGTGAGAAGGG	
CCNA1	V252GfsX29	TTTCCAACCTTTGCTTGTGA	AGCTGCAGTTTCCCTCTCAG	95°C-5 min.
AHNAK2	Q265X	GCTTGTAGGGGACACGTCAT	CCACGAAAACTCTGGAAGGA	10x touch down
NDE1	R234H	TTATAAACATGAGCCACTGCG	CGTAGCTGCAGAGTGGCAG	(-1°C/cycle):
RBBP6	R1569H	CGAAAAGACTCTCCTTCTCGG	TGGTTCAAAAGCAGCTTCATC	94°C-30 sec.
ARMC5	P507L	TTGGCTCTGGGTTCAGTCTC	ATAGGTCAGCAGGCCGTACA	67°C-57°C-30 sec.
CACNG4	S184A	CATCAGAGAGGGGGAGTGTCC	CCCTGTGATCTTCAGGCCC	72°C-30 sec.
C20orf3	D395N	GGTGAACTTTCCCTGCACTG	ATGTGGACACTTGAACCACG	26x:
TP53TG5	N97del	ACCTGGGACTTCCACTCCTT	TGCTCATCACACCTCCTCAC	94°C-30 sec.
C20orf123	T163N	AAACAGCCCTGTGACCACTC	CCTCCTGGTCTTCCTGAGC	57°C-30 sec.
FAM65C	D318G	GAGTTCAAGGATGCAGTGAGC	CTCAAACGGAAGCTGAGCC	72°C-30 sec.
ARSD	X383Q	CAAAATCAACCTTCTACACAGCC	TGAACTCCTGGTCTCAAGCC	72°C-10 min.
ZXDB	G130D	AGGACCGATCAACCTAGCG	CGTTCTCAAAGCGCAACAG	
AR	Y483X	CTCTTCACAGCCGAAGAAGG	GTAGCTATCCATCCAGGGGC	
MSL3L1	A174S	CCCTCCTGGAGTAGAGAGAGC	AACACAAAGTACACGCTGGC	

Abbreviations: min., minute; sec., second; fs, frameshift; del, deletion.

Table 8.	Primers	and PCR	conditions	for mutation	screening by	AS-PCR.
----------	---------	---------	------------	--------------	--------------	---------

Gene	Mutation	Forward primer (5' -> 3')	Reverse primer (5' -> 3')	PCR c	onditions
RBBP6	R1569H	A: 6-FAM -AAAATAAAAATCCTTGTAAGGATCA G: 6-FAM -ATAAAAATCCTTGTAAGGATCG	ACAGTACTCTTGTCAATTTGCC	55.5°C	
RBBP6	E1654G	CCACCAGAGACACAGGTTGA	A: 6-FAM -AATGTTTCCTGAAGATTCCTCTT G: 6-FAM -TTTAATGTTTCCTGAAGATTCCTCTC	62.2°C	
RBBP6	R1451T	AGGGAAAACCAAAGATCGAGA	G: 6-FAM -GTGGAATCATGTTTATCTGACGTTC C: 6-FAM -TTGTGGAATCATGTTTATCTGACGTTG	65.0°C	95°C – 5 min.
RBBP6	S1444F	C: 6-FAM -ATGAACAAGGAAATTTTAAAAGTCTGTC T: 6-FAM -AATATGAACAAGGAAATTTTAAAAGTCTGTT	TGCAGAATCTTTATTCCGAGAAG	61.7°C	32-34x: 94°C-30sec.
RBBP6	I1661V	A: HEX -AGAAGAGGAATCTTCAGGAAACA G: HEX -TTTAGAAGAGGAATCTTCAGGAAACG	CTGAGCTGGCACTGCTACTG	62.6°C	anneal-30sec 72ºC-30sec
RBBP6	A1673V	C: HEX -CCTGAAAGATAAAATAGTGGAGAAAGC T: HEX -TTTCCTGAAAGATAAAATAGTGGAGAAAGT	CTGAGCTGGCACTGCTACTG	60.0°C	72°C-15 min.
C20orf3	D395N	CCACCACCTCTCAGGGACTA	C: 6-FAM -GCGAGGTGCACGAACACG T: 6-FAM -AAAGCGAGGTGCACGAACACA	68.8°C	
ARMC5	P507L	C: 6-FAM -ACGCACCCAACGCACTCC T: 6-FAM -AAAACGCACCCAACGCACTCT	ATAGGTCAGCAGGCCGTACA	65.3°C	

Abbreviations: min., minute; sec., second; 6-FAM, carboxyfluorescein; HEX, hexachloro-fluorescein.

6. REFERENCES

Abdel-Wahab O, Pardanani A, Rampal R, Lasho TL, Levine RL, Tefferi A (2011) DNMT3A mutational analysis in primary myelofibrosis, chronic myelomonocytic leukemia and advanced phases of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia* **25**: 1219-1220

Albiero E, Ruggeri M, Fortuna S, Bernardi M, Finotto S, Madeo D, Rodeghiero F (2011) Analysis of the oxygen sensing pathway genes in familial chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms and identification of a novel EGLN1 germ-line mutation. *Br J Haematol* **153**: 405-408

Ang SO, Chen H, Gordeuk VR, Sergueeva AI, Polyakova LA, Miasnikova GY, Kralovics R, Stockton DW, Prchal JT (2002a) Endemic polycythemia in Russia: mutation in the VHL gene. *Blood Cells Mol Dis* **28**: 57-62

Ang SO, Chen H, Hirota K, Gordeuk VR, Jelinek J, Guan Y, Liu E, Sergueeva AI, Miasnikova GY, Mole D, Maxwell PH, Stockton DW, Semenza GL, Prchal JT (2002b) Disruption of oxygen homeostasis underlies congenital Chuvash polycythemia. *Nat Genet* **32**: 614-621

Arellano-Rodrigo E, Alvarez-Larran A, Reverter JC, Villamor N, Colomer D, Cervantes F (2006) Increased platelet and leukocyte activation as contributing mechanisms for thrombosis in essential thrombocythemia and correlation with the JAK2 mutational status. *Haematologica* **91**: 169-175

Aziz A, Baxter EJ, Edwards C, Cheong CY, Ito M, Bench A, Kelley R, Silber Y, Beer PA, Chng K, Renfree MB, McEwen K, Gray D, Nangalia J, Mufti GJ, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Kiladjian JJ, McMullin MF, Campbell PJ, Ferguson-Smith AC, Green AR (2013) Cooperativity of imprinted genes inactivated by acquired chromosome 20q deletions. *J Clin Invest* **123**: 2169-2182

Barbui T (2004) The leukemia controversy in myeloproliferative disorders: is it a natural progression of disease, a secondary sequela of therapy, or a combination of

both? Semin Hematol 41: 15-17

Barbui T, Barosi G, Birgegard G, Cervantes F, Finazzi G, Griesshammer M, Harrison C, Hasselbalch HC, Hehlmann R, Hoffman R, Kiladjian JJ, Kroger N, Mesa R, McMullin MF, Pardanani A, Passamonti F, Vannucchi AM, Reiter A, Silver RT, Verstovsek S, Tefferi A (2011) Philadelphia-negative classical myeloproliferative neoplasms: critical concepts and management recommendations from European LeukemiaNet. *J Clin Oncol* **29**: 761-770

Baxter EJ, Scott LM, Campbell PJ, East C, Fourouclas N, Swanton S, Vassiliou GS, Bench AJ, Boyd EM, Curtin N, Scott MA, Erber WN, Green AR (2005) Acquired mutation of the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in human myeloproliferative disorders. *Lancet* **365:** 1054-1061

Beekman R, Valkhof M, van Strien P, Valk PJ, Touw IP (2013) Prevalence of a new auto-activating colony stimulating factor 3 receptor mutation (CSF3R-T595I) in acute myeloid leukemia and severe congenital neutropenia. *Haematologica* **98**: e62-63

Beer PA, Delhommeau F, LeCouedic JP, Dawson MA, Chen E, Bareford D, Kusec R, McMullin MF, Harrison CN, Vannucchi AM, Vainchenker W, Green AR (2010a) Two routes to leukemic transformation after a JAK2 mutation-positive myeloproliferative neoplasm. *Blood* **115**: 2891-2900

Beer PA, Jones AV, Bench AJ, Goday-Fernandez A, Boyd EM, Vaghela KJ, Erber WN, Odeh B, Wright C, McMullin MF, Cullis J, Huntly BJ, Harrison CN, Cross NC, Green AR (2009) Clonal diversity in the myeloproliferative neoplasms: independent origins of genetically distinct clones. *Br J Haematol* **144**: 904-908

Beer PA, Ortmann CA, Campbell PJ, Green AR (2010b) Independently acquired biallelic JAK2 mutations are present in a minority of patients with essential thrombocythemia. *Blood* **116**: 1013-1014

Bellanne-Chantelot C, Chaumarel I, Labopin M, Bellanger F, Barbu V, De Toma C, Delhommeau F, Casadevall N, Vainchenker W, Thomas G, Najman A (2006) Genetic

and clinical implications of the Val617Phe JAK2 mutation in 72 families with myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood* **108**: 346-352

Bench AJ, Nacheva EP, Hood TL, Holden JL, French L, Swanton S, Champion KM, Li J, Whittaker P, Stavrides G, Hunt AR, Huntly BJ, Campbell LJ, Bentley DR, Deloukas P, Green AR (2000) Chromosome 20 deletions in myeloid malignancies: reduction of the common deleted region, generation of a PAC/BAC contig and identification of candidate genes. UK Cancer Cytogenetics Group (UKCCG). *Oncogene* **19**: 3902-3913

Buxhofer-Ausch V, Gisslinger H, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Kralovics R (2009) Acquired resistance to interferon alpha therapy associated with homozygous MPL-W515L mutation and chromosome 20q deletion in primary myelofibrosis. *Eur J Haematol* **82**: 161-163

Campbell PJ, Green AR (2006) The myeloproliferative disorders. *N Engl J Med* **355**: 2452-2466

Carbuccia N, Murati A, Trouplin V, Brecqueville M, Adelaide J, Rey J, Vainchenker W, Bernard OA, Chaffanet M, Vey N, Birnbaum D, Mozziconacci MJ (2009) Mutations of ASXL1 gene in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia* **23**: 2183-2186

Carmichael CL, Wilkins EJ, Bengtsson H, Horwitz MS, Speed TP, Vincent PC, Young G, Hahn CN, Escher R, Scott HS (2010) Poor prognosis in familial acute myeloid leukaemia with combined biallelic CEBPA mutations and downstream events affecting the ATM, FLT3 and CDX2 genes. *Br J Haematol* **150**: 382-385

Casini A, Fontana P, Lecompte T (2013) Thrombotic complications of myeloproliferative neoplasms: risk assessment and risk-guided management. *J Thromb Haemost* doi: 10.1111/jth.12265

Cervantes F, Alvarez-Larran A, Arellano-Rodrigo E, Granell M, Domingo A, Montserrat E (2006) Frequency and risk factors for thrombosis in idiopathic myelofibrosis: analysis in a series of 155 patients from a single institution. *Leukemia*

20: 55-60

Chen E, Beer PA, Godfrey AL, Ortmann CA, Li J, Costa-Pereira AP, Ingle CE, Dermitzakis ET, Campbell PJ, Green AR (2010) Distinct clinical phenotypes associated with JAK2V617F reflect differential STAT1 signaling. *Cancer Cell* **18**: 524-535

Cho YS, Kim EJ, Park UH, Sin HS, Um SJ (2006) Additional sex comb-like 1 (ASXL1), in cooperation with SRC-1, acts as a ligand-dependent coactivator for retinoic acid receptor. *J Biol Chem* **281**: 17588-17598

Comino-Mendez I, Gracia-Aznarez FJ, Schiavi F, Landa I, Leandro-Garcia LJ, Leton R, Honrado E, Ramos-Medina R, Caronia D, Pita G, Gomez-Grana A, de Cubas AA, Inglada-Perez L, Maliszewska A, Taschin E, Bobisse S, Pica G, Loli P, Hernandez-Lavado R, Diaz JA, Gomez-Morales M, Gonzalez-Neira A, Roncador G, Rodriguez-Antona C, Benitez J, Mannelli M, Opocher G, Robledo M, Cascon A (2011) Exome sequencing identifies MAX mutations as a cause of hereditary pheochromocytoma. *Nat Genet* **43**: 663-667

Cortelazzo S, Finazzi G, Ruggeri M, Vestri O, Galli M, Rodeghiero F, Barbui T (1995) Hydroxyurea for patients with essential thrombocythemia and a high risk of thrombosis. *N Engl J Med* **332**: 1132-1136

de la Chapelle A, Traskelin AL, Juvonen E (1993) Truncated erythropoietin receptor causes dominantly inherited benign human erythrocytosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90:** 4495-4499

Delhommeau F, Dupont S, Della Valle V, James C, Trannoy S, Masse A, Kosmider O, Le Couedic JP, Robert F, Alberdi A, Lecluse Y, Plo I, Dreyfus FJ, Marzac C, Casadevall N, Lacombe C, Romana SP, Dessen P, Soulier J, Viguie F, Fontenay M, Vainchenker W, Bernard OA (2009) Mutation in TET2 in myeloid cancers. *N Engl J Med* **360**: 2289-2301

Ding J, Komatsu H, Wakita A, Kato-Uranishi M, Ito M, Satoh A, Tsuboi K, Nitta M,

Miyazaki H, Iida S, Ueda R (2004) Familial essential thrombocythemia associated with a dominant-positive activating mutation of the c-MPL gene, which encodes for the receptor for thrombopoietin. *Blood* **103**: 4198-4200

Ding Y, Harada Y, Imagawa J, Kimura A, Harada H (2009) AML1/RUNX1 point mutation possibly promotes leukemic transformation in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood* **114**: 5201-5205

Dingli D, Schwager SM, Mesa RA, Li CY, Dewald GW, Tefferi A (2006) Presence of unfavorable cytogenetic abnormalities is the strongest predictor of poor survival in secondary myelofibrosis. *Cancer* **106**: 1985-1989

Dunbar AJ, Gondek LP, O'Keefe CL, Makishima H, Rataul MS, Szpurka H, Sekeres MA, Wang XF, McDevitt MA, Maciejewski JP (2008) 250K single nucleotide polymorphism array karyotyping identifies acquired uniparental disomy and homozygous mutations, including novel missense substitutions of c-Cbl, in myeloid malignancies. *Cancer Res* **68**: 10349-10357

El-Harith el HA, Roesl C, Ballmaier M, Germeshausen M, Frye-Boukhriss H, von Neuhoff N, Becker C, Nurnberg G, Nurnberg P, Ahmed MA, Hubener J, Schmidtke J, Welte K, Stuhrmann M (2009) Familial thrombocytosis caused by the novel germ-line mutation p.Pro106Leu in the MPL gene. *Br J Haematol* **144**: 185-194

Ernst T, Chase AJ, Score J, Hidalgo-Curtis CE, Bryant C, Jones AV, Waghorn K, Zoi K, Ross FM, Reiter A, Hochhaus A, Drexler HG, Duncombe A, Cervantes F, Oscier D, Boultwood J, Grand FH, Cross NC (2010) Inactivating mutations of the histone methyltransferase gene EZH2 in myeloid disorders. *Nat Genet* **42**: 722-726

Etheridge L, Corbo LM, Kaushansky K, Chan E, Hitchcock IS (2011) **A Novel Activating JAK2 Mutation, JAK2R564Q, Causes Familial Essential Thrombocytosis (fET) Via Mechanisms Distinct From JAK2V617F**. *Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts)* **118**: 123

Falini B, Mecucci C, Tiacci E, Alcalay M, Rosati R, Pasqualucci L, La Starza R,

Diverio D, Colombo E, Santucci A, Bigerna B, Pacini R, Pucciarini A, Liso A, Vignetti M, Fazi P, Meani N, Pettirossi V, Saglio G, Mandelli F, Lo-Coco F, Pelicci PG, Martelli MF (2005) Cytoplasmic nucleophosmin in acute myelogenous leukemia with a normal karyotype. *N Engl J Med* **352**: 254-266

Funakoshi-Tago M, Tago K, Abe M, Sonoda Y, Kasahara T (2010) STAT5 activation is critical for the transformation mediated by myeloproliferative disorder-associated JAK2 V617F mutant. *J Biol Chem* **285**: 5296-5307

Gaitonde S, Boumendjel R, Angeles R, Rondelli D (2010) Familial childhood monosomy 7 and associated myelodysplasia. *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol* **32:** e236-237

Gangat N, Strand J, Lasho TL, Finke CM, Knudson RA, Pardanani A, Li CY, Ketterling RP, Tefferi A (2008) Cytogenetic studies at diagnosis in polycythemia vera: clinical and JAK2V617F allele burden correlates. *Eur J Haematol* **80**: 197-200

Gangat N, Tefferi A, Thanarajasingam G, Patnaik M, Schwager S, Ketterling R, Wolanskyj AP (2009) Cytogenetic abnormalities in essential thrombocythemia: prevalence and prognostic significance. *Eur J Haematol* **83:** 17-21

Gelsi-Boyer V, Trouplin V, Adelaide J, Bonansea J, Cervera N, Carbuccia N, Lagarde A, Prebet T, Nezri M, Sainty D, Olschwang S, Xerri L, Chaffanet M, Mozziconacci MJ, Vey N, Birnbaum D (2009) Mutations of polycomb-associated gene ASXL1 in myelodysplastic syndromes and chronic myelomonocytic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* **145:** 788-800

Gisslinger H, Gotic M, Holowiecki J, Penka M, Thiele J, Kvasnicka HM, Kralovics R, Petrides PE (2013) Anagrelide compared with hydroxyurea in WHO-classified essential thrombocythemia: the ANAHYDRET Study, a randomized controlled trial. *Blood* **121**: 1720-1728

Gondek LP, Tiu R, O'Keefe CL, Sekeres MA, Theil KS, Maciejewski JP (2008) Chromosomal lesions and uniparental disomy detected by SNP arrays in MDS, MDS/MPD, and MDS-derived AML. *Blood* **111**: 1534-1542 Grand FH, Hidalgo-Curtis CE, Ernst T, Zoi K, Zoi C, McGuire C, Kreil S, Jones A, Score J, Metzgeroth G, Oscier D, Hall A, Brandts C, Serve H, Reiter A, Chase AJ, Cross NC (2009) Frequent CBL mutations associated with 11q acquired uniparental disomy in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood* **113**: 6182-6192

Green A, Beer P (2010) Somatic mutations of IDH1 and IDH2 in the leukemic transformation of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *N Engl J Med* **362**: 369-370

Guglielmelli P, Biamonte F, Score J, Hidalgo-Curtis C, Cervantes F, Maffioli M, Fanelli T, Ernst T, Winkelman N, Jones AV, Zoi K, Reiter A, Duncombe A, Villani L, Bosi A, Barosi G, Cross NC, Vannucchi AM (2011) EZH2 mutational status predicts poor survival in myelofibrosis. *Blood* **118**: 5227-5234

Hahn CN, Chong CE, Carmichael CL, Wilkins EJ, Brautigan PJ, Li XC, Babic M, Lin M, Carmagnac A, Lee YK, Kok CH, Gagliardi L, Friend KL, Ekert PG, Butcher CM, Brown AL, Lewis ID, To LB, Timms AE, Storek J, Moore S, Altree M, Escher R, Bardy PG, Suthers GK, D'Andrea RJ, Horwitz MS, Scott HS (2011) Heritable GATA2 mutations associated with familial myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. *Nat Genet* **43**: 1012-1017

Harrison C, Kiladjian JJ, Al-Ali HK, Gisslinger H, Waltzman R, Stalbovskaya V, McQuitty M, Hunter DS, Levy R, Knoops L, Cervantes F, Vannucchi AM, Barbui T, Barosi G (2012) JAK inhibition with ruxolitinib versus best available therapy for myelofibrosis. *N Engl J Med* **366**: 787-798

Harutyunyan A, Gisslinger B, Klampfl T, Berg T, Bagienski K, Gisslinger H, Kralovics R (2011a) Rare germline variants in regions of loss of heterozygosity may influence clinical course of hematological malignancies. *Leukemia* **25**: 1782-1784

Harutyunyan A, Klampfl T, Cazzola M, Kralovics R (2011b) p53 lesions in leukemic transformation. *N Engl J Med* **364:** 488-490

Harutyunyan AS, Kralovics R (2012) Role of germline genetic factors in MPN

pathogenesis. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 26: 1037-1051

Hernandez-Boluda JC, Pereira A, Cervantes F, Alvarez-Larran A, Collado M, Such E, Arilla MJ, Boque C, Xicoy B, Maffioli M, Bellosillo B, Marugan I, Amat P, Besses C, Guillem V (2012) A polymorphism in the XPD gene predisposes to leukemic transformation and new nonmyeloid malignancies in essential thrombocythemia and polycythemia vera. *Blood* **119**: 5221-5228

Huret JL, Leonard C, Chery M, Philippe C, Schafei-Benaissa E, Lefaure G, Labrune B, Gilgenkrantz S (1995) Monosomy 21q: two cases of del(21q) and review of the literature. *Clin Genet* **48**: 140-147

Hussein K, Bock O, Theophile K, Schlue J, Ballmaier M, Kroger N, Gohring G, Busche G, Kreipe H (2009a) Biclonal expansion and heterogeneous lineage involvement in a case of chronic myeloproliferative disease with concurrent MPLW515L/JAK2V617F mutation. *Blood* **113**: 1391-1392

Hussein K, Van Dyke DL, Tefferi A (2009b) Conventional cytogenetics in myelofibrosis: literature review and discussion. *Eur J Haematol* **82**: 329-338

Hussussian CJ, Struewing JP, Goldstein AM, Higgins PA, Ally DS, Sheahan MD, Clark WH, Jr., Tucker MA, Dracopoli NC (1994) Germline p16 mutations in familial melanoma. *Nat Genet* **8:** 15-21

Ito S, Shen L, Dai Q, Wu SC, Collins LB, Swenberg JA, He C, Zhang Y (2011) Tet proteins can convert 5-methylcytosine to 5-formylcytosine and 5-carboxylcytosine. *Science* **333**: 1300-1303

Jacobs KB, Yeager M, Zhou W, Wacholder S, Wang Z, Rodriguez-Santiago B, Hutchinson A, Deng X, Liu C, Horner MJ, Cullen M, Epstein CG, Burdett L, Dean MC, Chatterjee N, Sampson J, Chung CC, Kovaks J, Gapstur SM, Stevens VL, Teras LT, Gaudet MM, Albanes D, Weinstein SJ, Virtamo J, Taylor PR, Freedman ND, Abnet CC, Goldstein AM, Hu N, Yu K, Yuan JM, Liao L, Ding T, Qiao YL, Gao YT, Koh WP, Xiang YB, Tang ZZ, Fan JH, Aldrich MC, Amos C, Blot WJ, Bock CH, Gillanders EM, Harris CC, Haiman CA, Henderson BE, Kolonel LN, Le Marchand L, McNeill LH, Rybicki BA, Schwartz AG, Signorello LB, Spitz MR, Wiencke JK, Wrensch M, Wu X, Zanetti KA, Ziegler RG, Figueroa JD, Garcia-Closas M, Malats N, Marenne G, Prokunina-Olsson L, Baris D, Schwenn M, Johnson A, Landi MT, Goldin L, Consonni D, Bertazzi PA, Rotunno M, Rajaraman P, Andersson U, Beane Freeman LE, Berg CD, Buring JE, Butler MA, Carreon T, Feychting M, Ahlbom A, Gaziano JM, Giles GG. Hallmans G, Hankinson SE, Hartge P, Henriksson R, Inskip PD, Johansen C, Landgren A, McKean-Cowdin R, Michaud DS, Melin BS, Peters U, Ruder AM, Sesso HD, Severi G, Shu XO, Visvanathan K, White E, Wolk A, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Zheng W, Silverman DT, Kogevinas M, Gonzalez JR, Villa O, Li D, Duell EJ, Risch HA, Olson SH, Kooperberg C, Wolpin BM, Jiao L, Hassan M, Wheeler W, Arslan AA, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Fuchs CS, Gallinger S, Gross MD, Holly EA, Klein AP, LaCroix A, Mandelson MT, Petersen G, Boutron-Ruault MC, Bracci PM, Canzian F, Chang K, Cotterchio M, Giovannucci EL, Goggins M, Hoffman Bolton JA, Jenab M, Khaw KT, Krogh V, Kurtz RC, McWilliams RR, Mendelsohn JB, Rabe KG, Riboli E, Tjonneland A, Tobias GS, Trichopoulos D, Elena JW, Yu H, Amundadottir L, Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, Kraft P, Schumacher F, Stram D, Savage SA, Mirabello L, Andrulis IL, Wunder JS, Patino Garcia A, Sierrasesumaga L, Barkauskas DA, Gorlick RG, Purdue M, Chow WH, Moore LE, Schwartz KL, Davis FG, Hsing AW, Berndt SI, Black A, Wentzensen N, Brinton LA, Lissowska J, Peplonska B, McGlynn KA, Cook MB, Graubard BI, Kratz CP, Greene MH, Erickson RL, Hunter DJ, Thomas G, Hoover RN, Real FX, Fraumeni JF, Jr., Caporaso NE, Tucker M, Rothman N, Perez-Jurado LA, Chanock SJ (2012) Detectable clonal mosaicism and its relationship to aging and cancer. Nat Genet 44: 651-658

Jager R, Gisslinger H, Passamonti F, Rumi E, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Pietra D, Harutyunyan A, Klampfl T, Olcaydu D, Cazzola M, Kralovics R (2010) Deletions of the transcription factor lkaros in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia* **24**: 1290-1298

James C, Ugo V, Le Couedic JP, Staerk J, Delhommeau F, Lacout C, Garcon L, Raslova H, Berger R, Bennaceur-Griscelli A, Villeval JL, Constantinescu SN, Casadevall N, Vainchenker W (2005) A unique clonal JAK2 mutation leading to constitutive signalling causes polycythaemia vera. *Nature* **434**: 1144-1148 Jenkins RB, Wrensch MR, Johnson D, Fridley BL, Decker PA, Xiao Y, Kollmeyer TM, Rynearson AL, Fink S, Rice T, McCoy LS, Halder C, Kosel ML, Giannini C, Tihan T, O'Neill BP, Lachance DH, Yang P, Wiemels J, Wiencke JK (2011) Distinct germ line polymorphisms underlie glioma morphologic heterogeneity. *Cancer Genet* **204**: 13-18

Johansson P, Kutti J, Andreasson B, Safai-Kutti S, Vilen L, Wedel H, Ridell B (2004) Trends in the incidence of chronic Philadelphia chromosome negative (Ph-) myeloproliferative disorders in the city of Goteborg, Sweden, during 1983-99. *J Intern Med* **256:** 161-165

Jones AV, Campbell PJ, Beer PA, Schnittger S, Vannucchi AM, Zoi K, Percy MJ, McMullin MF, Scott LM, Tapper W, Silver RT, Oscier D, Harrison CN, Grallert H, Kisialiou A, Strike P, Chase AJ, Green AR, Cross NC (2010) The JAK2 46/1 haplotype predisposes to MPL-mutated myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood* **115**: 4517-4523

Jones AV, Chase A, Silver RT, Oscier D, Zoi K, Wang YL, Cario H, Pahl HL, Collins A, Reiter A, Grand F, Cross NC (2009) JAK2 haplotype is a major risk factor for the development of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Nat Genet* **41**: 446-449

Jones AV, Kreil S, Zoi K, Waghorn K, Curtis C, Zhang L, Score J, Seear R, Chase AJ, Grand FH, White H, Zoi C, Loukopoulos D, Terpos E, Vervessou EC, Schultheis B, Emig M, Ernst T, Lengfelder E, Hehlmann R, Hochhaus A, Oscier D, Silver RT, Reiter A, Cross NC (2005) Widespread occurrence of the JAK2 V617F mutation in chronic myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood* **106**: 2162-2168

Jutzi JS, Bogeska R, Nikoloski G, Schmid CA, Seeger TS, Stegelmann F, Schwemmers S, Grunder A, Peeken JC, Gothwal M, Wehrle J, Aumann K, Hamdi K, Dierks C, Kamar Wang W, Dohner K, Jansen JH, Pahl HL (2013) MPN patients harbor recurrent truncating mutations in transcription factor NF-E2. *J Exp Med* **210**: 1003-1019

Kiladjian JJ, Cassinat B, Chevret S, Turlure P, Cambier N, Roussel M, Bellucci S, Grandchamp B, Chomienne C, Fenaux P (2008) Pegylated interferon-alfa-2a induces

complete hematologic and molecular responses with low toxicity in polycythemia vera. *Blood* **112**: 3065-3072

Kiladjian JJ, Cassinat B, Turlure P, Cambier N, Roussel M, Bellucci S, Menot ML, Massonnet G, Dutel JL, Ghomari K, Rousselot P, Grange MJ, Chait Y, Vainchenker W, Parquet N, Abdelkader-Aljassem L, Bernard JF, Rain JD, Chevret S, Chomienne C, Fenaux P (2006a) High molecular response rate of polycythemia vera patients treated with pegylated interferon alpha-2a. *Blood* **108**: 2037-2040

Kiladjian JJ, Mesa RA, Hoffman R (2011) The renaissance of interferon therapy for the treatment of myeloid malignancies. *Blood* **117**: 4706-4715

Kiladjian JJ, Rain JD, Bernard JF, Briere J, Chomienne C, Fenaux P (2006b) Longterm incidence of hematological evolution in three French prospective studies of hydroxyurea and pipobroman in polycythemia vera and essential thrombocythemia. *Semin Thromb Hemost* **32**: 417-421

Kilpivaara O, Mukherjee S, Schram AM, Wadleigh M, Mullally A, Ebert BL, Bass A, Marubayashi S, Heguy A, Garcia-Manero G, Kantarjian H, Offit K, Stone RM, Gilliland DG, Klein RJ, Levine RL (2009) A germline JAK2 SNP is associated with predisposition to the development of JAK2(V617F)-positive myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Nat Genet* **41**: 455-459

Kirwan M, Vulliamy T, Marrone A, Walne AJ, Beswick R, Hillmen P, Kelly R, Stewart A, Bowen D, Schonland SO, Whittle AM, McVerry A, Gilleece M, Dokal I (2009) Defining the pathogenic role of telomerase mutations in myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. *Hum Mutat* **30**: 1567-1573

Klampfl T, Harutyunyan A, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Schalling M, Bagienski K, Olcaydu D, Passamonti F, Rumi E, Pietra D, Jager R, Pieri L, Guglielmelli P, Iacobucci I, Martinelli G, Cazzola M, Vannucchi AM, Gisslinger H, Kralovics R (2011) Genome integrity of myeloproliferative neoplasms in chronic phase and during disease progression. *Blood* **118**: 167-176 Ko M, Huang Y, Jankowska AM, Pape UJ, Tahiliani M, Bandukwala HS, An J, Lamperti ED, Koh KP, Ganetzky R, Liu XS, Aravind L, Agarwal S, Maciejewski JP, Rao A (2010) Impaired hydroxylation of 5-methylcytosine in myeloid cancers with mutant TET2. *Nature* **468**: 839-843

Kralovics R (2008) Genetic complexity of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia* **22:** 1841-1848

Kralovics R, Guan Y, Prchal JT (2002) Acquired uniparental disomy of chromosome 9p is a frequent stem cell defect in polycythemia vera. *Exp Hematol* **30**: 229-236

Kralovics R, Passamonti F, Buser AS, Teo SS, Tiedt R, Passweg JR, Tichelli A, Cazzola M, Skoda RC (2005) A gain-of-function mutation of JAK2 in myeloproliferative disorders. *N Engl J Med* **352**: 1779-1790

Kralovics R, Stockton DW, Prchal JT (2003) Clonal hematopoiesis in familial polycythemia vera suggests the involvement of multiple mutational events in the early pathogenesis of the disease. *Blood* **102**: 3793-3796

Kralovics R, Teo SS, Li S, Theocharides A, Buser AS, Tichelli A, Skoda RC (2006) Acquisition of the V617F mutation of JAK2 is a late genetic event in a subset of patients with myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood* **108**: 1377-1380

Landgren O, Goldin LR, Kristinsson SY, Helgadottir EA, Samuelsson J, Bjorkholm M (2008) Increased risks of polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia, and myelofibrosis among 24,577 first-degree relatives of 11,039 patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms in Sweden. *Blood* **112**: 2199-2204

Langemeijer SM, Kuiper RP, Berends M, Knops R, Aslanyan MG, Massop M, Stevens-Linders E, van Hoogen P, van Kessel AG, Raymakers RA, Kamping EJ, Verhoef GE, Verburgh E, Hagemeijer A, Vandenberghe P, de Witte T, van der Reijden BA, Jansen JH (2009) Acquired mutations in TET2 are common in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Nat Genet* **41**: 838-842

Lasho TL, Tefferi A, Pardanani A, Finke CM, Fink SR, Caron AA, Decker PA, Jenkins RB (2012) Differential distribution of CCDC26 glioma-risk alleles in myeloid malignancies with mutant IDH1 compared with their IDH2R140-mutated or IDH-unmutated counterparts. *Leukemia* **26**: 1406-1407

Laurie CC, Laurie CA, Rice K, Doheny KF, Zelnick LR, McHugh CP, Ling H, Hetrick KN, Pugh EW, Amos C, Wei Q, Wang LE, Lee JE, Barnes KC, Hansel NN, Mathias R, Daley D, Beaty TH, Scott AF, Ruczinski I, Scharpf RB, Bierut LJ, Hartz SM, Landi MT, Freedman ND, Goldin LR, Ginsburg D, Li J, Desch KC, Strom SS, Blot WJ, Signorello LB, Ingles SA, Chanock SJ, Berndt SI, Le Marchand L, Henderson BE, Monroe KR, Heit JA, de Andrade M, Armasu SM, Regnier C, Lowe WL, Hayes MG, Marazita ML, Feingold E, Murray JC, Melbye M, Feenstra B, Kang JH, Wiggs JL, Jarvik GP, McDavid AN, Seshan VE, Mirel DB, Crenshaw A, Sharopova N, Wise A, Shen J, Crosslin DR, Levine DM, Zheng X, Udren JI, Bennett S, Nelson SC, Gogarten SM, Conomos MP, Heagerty P, Manolio T, Pasquale LR, Haiman CA, Caporaso N, Weir BS (2012) Detectable clonal mosaicism from birth to old age and its relationship to cancer. *Nat Genet* **44**: 642-650

Lee WH, Bookstein R, Hong F, Young LJ, Shew JY, Lee EY (1987) Human retinoblastoma susceptibility gene: cloning, identification, and sequence. *Science* **235:** 1394-1399

Levine RL, Wadleigh M, Cools J, Ebert BL, Wernig G, Huntly BJ, Boggon TJ, Wlodarska I, Clark JJ, Moore S, Adelsperger J, Koo S, Lee JC, Gabriel S, Mercher T, D'Andrea A, Frohling S, Dohner K, Marynen P, Vandenberghe P, Mesa RA, Tefferi A, Griffin JD, Eck MJ, Sellers WR, Meyerson M, Golub TR, Lee SJ, Gilliland DG (2005) Activating mutation in the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia, and myeloid metaplasia with myelofibrosis. *Cancer Cell* **7**: 387-397

Ley TJ, Ding L, Walter MJ, McLellan MD, Lamprecht T, Larson DE, Kandoth C, Payton JE, Baty J, Welch J, Harris CC, Lichti CF, Townsend RR, Fulton RS, Dooling DJ, Koboldt DC, Schmidt H, Zhang Q, Osborne JR, Lin L, O'Laughlin M, McMichael JF, Delehaunty KD, McGrath SD, Fulton LA, Magrini VJ, Vickery TL, Hundal J, Cook LL, Conyers JJ, Swift GW, Reed JP, Alldredge PA, Wylie T, Walker J, Kalicki J, Watson MA, Heath S, Shannon WD, Varghese N, Nagarajan R, Westervelt P, Tomasson MH, Link DC, Graubert TA, DiPersio JF, Mardis ER, Wilson RK (2010) DNMT3A mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. *N Engl J Med* **363**: 2424-2433

Li L, Deng B, Xing G, Teng Y, Tian C, Cheng X, Yin X, Yang J, Gao X, Zhu Y, Sun Q, Zhang L, Yang X, He F (2007) PACT is a negative regulator of p53 and essential for cell growth and embryonic development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**: 7951-7956

Liew E, Owen C (2011) Familial myelodysplastic syndromes: a review of the literature. *Haematologica* **96:** 1536-1542

Liu K, Kralovics R, Rudzki Z, Grabowska B, Buser AS, Olcaydu D, Gisslinger H, Tiedt R, Frank P, Okon K, van der Maas AP, Skoda RC (2008) A de novo splice donor mutation in the thrombopoietin gene causes hereditary thrombocythemia in a Polish family. *Haematologica* **93**: 706-714

Lu X, Levine R, Tong W, Wernig G, Pikman Y, Zarnegar S, Gilliland DG, Lodish H (2005) Expression of a homodimeric type I cytokine receptor is required for JAK2V617F-mediated transformation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**: 18962-18967

Marty C, Lacout C, Martin A, Hasan S, Jacquot S, Birling MC, Vainchenker W, Villeval JL (2010) Myeloproliferative neoplasm induced by constitutive expression of JAK2V617F in knock-in mice. *Blood* **116**: 783-787

Maxson JE, Gotlib J, Pollyea DA, Fleischman AG, Agarwal A, Eide CA, Bottomly D, Wilmot B, McWeeney SK, Tognon CE, Pond JB, Collins RH, Goueli B, Oh ST, Deininger MW, Chang BH, Loriaux MM, Druker BJ, Tyner JW (2013) Oncogenic CSF3R mutations in chronic neutrophilic leukemia and atypical CML. *N Engl J Med* **368:** 1781-1790

McLornan DP, Mead AJ, Jackson G, Harrison CN (2012) Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for myelofibrosis in 2012. *Br J Haematol* **157:** 413-425

McNerney ME, Brown CD, Wang X, Bartom ET, Karmakar S, Bandlamudi C, Yu S,

Ko J, Sandall BP, Stricker T, Anastasi J, Grossman RL, Cunningham JM, Le Beau MM, White KP (2013) CUX1 is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor gene on chromosome 7 frequently inactivated in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* **121**: 975-983

Mead AJ, Chowdhury O, Pecquet C, Dusa A, Woll P, Atkinson D, Burns A, Score J, Rugless M, Clifford R, Moule S, Bienz N, Vyas P, Cross N, Gale RE, Henderson S, Constantinescu SN, Schuh A, Jacobsen SE (2013) Impact of isolated germline JAK2V617I mutation on human hematopoiesis. *Blood* **121**: 4156-4165

Mead AJ, Rugless MJ, Jacobsen SE, Schuh A (2012) Germline JAK2 mutation in a family with hereditary thrombocytosis. *N Engl J Med* **366**: 967-969

Milosevic JD, Kralovics R (2013) Genetic and epigenetic alterations of myeloproliferative disorders. *Int J Hematol* **97:** 183-197

Milosevic JD, Puda A, Malcovati L, Berg T, Hofbauer M, Stukalov A, Klampfl T, Harutyunyan AS, Gisslinger H, Gisslinger B, Burjanivova T, Rumi E, Pietra D, Elena C, Vannucchi AM, Doubek M, Dvorakova D, Robesova B, Wieser R, Koller E, Suvajdzic N, Tomin D, Tosic N, Colinge J, Racil Z, Steurer M, Pavlovic S, Cazzola M, Kralovics R (2012) Clinical significance of genetic aberrations in secondary acute myeloid leukemia. *Am J Hematol* **87:** 1010-1016

Minelli A, Maserati E, Giudici G, Tosi S, Olivieri C, Bonvini L, De Filippi P, Biondi A, Lo Curto F, Pasquali F, Danesino C (2001) Familial partial monosomy 7 and myelodysplasia: different parental origin of the monosomy 7 suggests action of a mutator gene. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* **124**: 147-151

Moliterno AR, Williams DM, Gutierrez-Alamillo LI, Salvatori R, Ingersoll RG, Spivak JL (2004) Mpl Baltimore: a thrombopoietin receptor polymorphism associated with thrombocytosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**: 11444-11447

Mullighan CG, Miller CB, Radtke I, Phillips LA, Dalton J, Ma J, White D, Hughes TP, Le Beau MM, Pui CH, Relling MV, Shurtleff SA, Downing JR (2008) BCR-ABL1 lymphoblastic leukaemia is characterized by the deletion of Ikaros. *Nature* **453**: 110-

114

Nakatake M, Monte-Mor B, Debili N, Casadevall N, Ribrag V, Solary E, Vainchenker W, Plo I (2012) JAK2(V617F) negatively regulates p53 stabilization by enhancing MDM2 via La expression in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Oncogene* **31**: 1323-1333

Niemeyer CM, Kang MW, Shin DH, Furlan I, Erlacher M, Bunin NJ, Bunda S, Finklestein JZ, Sakamoto KM, Gorr TA, Mehta P, Schmid I, Kropshofer G, Corbacioglu S, Lang PJ, Klein C, Schlegel PG, Heinzmann A, Schneider M, Stary J, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, Hasle H, Locatelli F, Sakai D, Archambeault S, Chen L, Russell RC, Sybingco SS, Ohh M, Braun BS, Flotho C, Loh ML (2010) Germline CBL mutations cause developmental abnormalities and predispose to juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia. *Nat Genet* **42**: 794-800

Nikoloski G, Langemeijer SM, Kuiper RP, Knops R, Massop M, Tonnissen ER, van der Heijden A, Scheele TN, Vandenberghe P, de Witte T, van der Reijden BA, Jansen JH (2010) Somatic mutations of the histone methyltransferase gene EZH2 in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Nat Genet* **42**: 665-667

Olcaydu D, Harutyunyan A, Jager R, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Pabinger I, Gisslinger H, Kralovics R (2009a) A common JAK2 haplotype confers susceptibility to myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Nat Genet* **41**: 450-454

Olcaydu D, Rumi E, Harutyunyan A, Passamonti F, Pietra D, Pascutto C, Berg T, Jager R, Hammond E, Cazzola M, Kralovics R (2011) The role of the JAK2 GGCC haplotype and the TET2 gene in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Haematologica* **96**: 367-374

Olcaydu D, Skoda RC, Looser R, Li S, Cazzola M, Pietra D, Passamonti F, Lippert E, Carillo S, Girodon F, Vannucchi A, Reading NS, Prchal JT, Ay C, Pabinger I, Gisslinger H, Kralovics R (2009b) The 'GGCC' haplotype of JAK2 confers susceptibility to JAK2 exon 12 mutation-positive polycythemia vera. *Leukemia* **23**: 1924-1926

Ostgard LS, Kjeldsen E, Holm MS, Brown Pde N, Pedersen BB, Bendix K, Johansen P, Kristensen JS, Norgaard JM (2010) Reasons for treating secondary AML as de novo AML. *Eur J Haematol* **85**: 217-226

Panani AD (2007) Cytogenetic and molecular aspects of Philadelphia negative chronic myeloproliferative disorders: clinical implications. *Cancer Lett* **255**: 12-25

Papaemmanuil E, Cazzola M, Boultwood J, Malcovati L, Vyas P, Bowen D, Pellagatti A, Wainscoat JS, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Gambacorti-Passerini C, Godfrey AL, Rapado I, Cvejic A, Rance R, McGee C, Ellis P, Mudie LJ, Stephens PJ, McLaren S, Massie CE, Tarpey PS, Varela I, Nik-Zainal S, Davies HR, Shlien A, Jones D, Raine K, Hinton J, Butler AP, Teague JW, Baxter EJ, Score J, Galli A, Della Porta MG, Travaglino E, Groves M, Tauro S, Munshi NC, Anderson KC, El-Naggar A, Fischer A, Mustonen V, Warren AJ, Cross NC, Green AR, Futreal PA, Stratton MR, Campbell PJ (2011) Somatic SF3B1 mutation in myelodysplasia with ring sideroblasts. *N Engl J Med* **365:** 1384-1395

Pardanani A, Fridley BL, Lasho TL, Gilliland DG, Tefferi A (2008) Host genetic variation contributes to phenotypic diversity in myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood* **111:** 2785-2789

Pardanani A, Lasho T, Finke C, Oh ST, Gotlib J, Tefferi A (2010a) LNK mutation studies in blast-phase myeloproliferative neoplasms, and in chronic-phase disease with TET2, IDH, JAK2 or MPL mutations. *Leukemia* **24**: 1713-1718

Pardanani A, Lasho T, McClure R, Lacy M, Tefferi A (2006a) Discordant distribution of JAK2V617F mutation in siblings with familial myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood* **107**: 4572-4573

Pardanani A, Lasho TL, Finke CM, Gangat N, Wolanskyj AP, Hanson CA, Tefferi A (2010b) The JAK2 46/1 haplotype confers susceptibility to essential thrombocythemia regardless of JAK2V617F mutational status-clinical correlates in a study of 226 consecutive patients. *Leukemia* **24**: 110-114

Pardanani A, Lasho TL, Finke CM, Mai M, McClure RF, Tefferi A (2010c) IDH1 and IDH2 mutation analysis in chronic- and blast-phase myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia* **24**: 1146-1151

Pardanani A, Lasho TL, Laborde RR, Elliott M, Hanson CA, Knudson RA, Ketterling RP, Maxson JE, Tyner JW, Tefferi A (2013) CSF3R T618I is a highly prevalent and specific mutation in chronic neutrophilic leukemia. *Leukemia* doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.122

Pardanani AD, Levine RL, Lasho T, Pikman Y, Mesa RA, Wadleigh M, Steensma DP, Elliott MA, Wolanskyj AP, Hogan WJ, McClure RF, Litzow MR, Gilliland DG, Tefferi A (2006b) MPL515 mutations in myeloproliferative and other myeloid disorders: a study of 1182 patients. *Blood* **108**: 3472-3476

Passamonti F, Rumi E, Pungolino E, Malabarba L, Bertazzoni P, Valentini M, Orlandi E, Arcaini L, Brusamolino E, Pascutto C, Cazzola M, Morra E, Lazzarino M (2004) Life expectancy and prognostic factors for survival in patients with polycythemia vera and essential thrombocythemia. *Am J Med* **117**: 755-761

Percy MJ, Furlow PW, Lucas GS, Li X, Lappin TR, McMullin MF, Lee FS (2008) A gain-of-function mutation in the HIF2A gene in familial erythrocytosis. *N Engl J Med* **358:** 162-168

Percy MJ, Rumi E (2009) Genetic origins and clinical phenotype of familial and acquired erythrocytosis and thrombocytosis. *Am J Hematol* **84:** 46-54

Piazza R, Valletta S, Winkelmann N, Redaelli S, Spinelli R, Pirola A, Antolini L, Mologni L, Donadoni C, Papaemmanuil E, Schnittger S, Kim DW, Boultwood J, Rossi F, Gaipa G, De Martini GP, di Celle PF, Jang HG, Fantin V, Bignell GR, Magistroni V, Haferlach T, Pogliani EM, Campbell PJ, Chase AJ, Tapper WJ, Cross NC, Gambacorti-Passerini C (2013) Recurrent SETBP1 mutations in atypical chronic myeloid leukemia. *Nat Genet* **45**: 18-24

Pietra D, Li S, Brisci A, Passamonti F, Rumi E, Theocharides A, Ferrari M, Gisslinger

H, Kralovics R, Cremonesi L, Skoda R, Cazzola M (2008) Somatic mutations of JAK2 exon 12 in patients with JAK2 (V617F)-negative myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood* **111:** 1686-1689

Pikman Y, Lee BH, Mercher T, McDowell E, Ebert BL, Gozo M, Cuker A, Wernig G, Moore S, Galinsky I, DeAngelo DJ, Clark JJ, Lee SJ, Golub TR, Wadleigh M, Gilliland DG, Levine RL (2006) MPLW515L is a novel somatic activating mutation in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. *PLoS Med* **3**: e270

Poletto V, Rosti V, Villani L, Catarsi P, Carolei A, Campanelli R, Massa M, Martinetti M, Viarengo G, Malovini A, Migliaccio AR, Barosi G (2012) A3669G polymorphism of glucocorticoid receptor is a susceptibility allele for primary myelofibrosis and contributes to phenotypic diversity and blast transformation. *Blood* **120**: 3112-3117

Poletto V, Villani L, Catarsi P, Campanelli R, Massa M, Vannucchi AM, Rosti V, Barosi G (2013) No association between the XPD Lys751Gln (rs13181) polymorphism and disease phenotype or leukemic transformation in primary myelofibrosis. *Haematologica* doi: 10.3324/haematol.2013.086496

Raza S, Viswanatha D, Frederick L, Lasho T, Finke C, Knudson R, Ketterling R, Pardanani A, Tefferi A (2012) TP53 mutations and polymorphisms in primary myelofibrosis. *Am J Hematol* **87**: 204-206

Rosa R, Prehu MO, Beuzard Y, Rosa J (1978) The first case of a complete deficiency of diphosphoglycerate mutase in human erythrocytes. *J Clin Invest* **62**: 907-915

Rumi E (2008) Familial chronic myeloproliferative disorders: the state of the art. *Hematol Oncol* **26**: 131-138

Rumi E, Casetti I, Pietra D, Elena C, Ambaglio I, Pascutto C, Passamonti F, Cazzola M (2012a) Clinical relevance of murine double minute 2 single nucleotide polymorphisms 309 in familial myeloproliferative neoplasm. *Am J Hematol* **87:** 129-130

Rumi E, Harutyunyan A, Elena C, Pietra D, Klampfl T, Bagienski K, Berg T, Casetti I, Pascutto C, Passamonti F, Kralovics R, Cazzola M (2011) Identification of genomic aberrations associated with disease transformation by means of high-resolution SNP array analysis in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasm. *Am J Hematol* **86:** 974-979

Rumi E, Harutyunyan A, Pietra D, Elena C, Casetti I, Klampfl T, Berg T, Passamonti F, Kralovics R, Cazzola M (2012b). A novel germline JAK2 mutation in familial thrombocytosis. *17th Congress of European Hematology Association*; 14-17 June, 2012; Amsterdam.

Rumi E, Passamonti F, Della Porta MG, Elena C, Arcaini L, Vanelli L, Del Curto C, Pietra D, Boveri E, Pascutto C, Cazzola M, Lazzarino M (2007) Familial chronic myeloproliferative disorders: clinical phenotype and evidence of disease anticipation. *J Clin Oncol* **25**: 5630-5635

Rumi E, Passamonti F, Pietra D, Della Porta MG, Arcaini L, Boggi S, Elena C, Boveri E, Pascutto C, Lazzarino M, Cazzola M (2006) JAK2 (V617F) as an acquired somatic mutation and a secondary genetic event associated with disease progression in familial myeloproliferative disorders. *Cancer* **107**: 2206-2211

Sanada M, Suzuki T, Shih LY, Otsu M, Kato M, Yamazaki S, Tamura A, Honda H, Sakata-Yanagimoto M, Kumano K, Oda H, Yamagata T, Takita J, Gotoh N, Nakazaki K, Kawamata N, Onodera M, Nobuyoshi M, Hayashi Y, Harada H, Kurokawa M, Chiba S, Mori H, Ozawa K, Omine M, Hirai H, Nakauchi H, Koeffler HP, Ogawa S (2009) Gain-of-function of mutated C-CBL tumour suppressor in myeloid neoplasms. *Nature* **460**: 904-908

Santos FP, Verstovsek S (2012) Therapy with JAK2 inhibitors for myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am* **26:** 1083-1099

Saur SJ, Sangkhae V, Geddis AE, Kaushansky K, Hitchcock IS (2010) Ubiquitination and degradation of the thrombopoietin receptor c-Mpl. *Blood* **115**: 1254-1263

Schaub FX, Jager R, Looser R, Hao-Shen H, Hermouet S, Girodon F, Tichelli A, Gisslinger H, Kralovics R, Skoda RC (2009) Clonal analysis of deletions on chromosome 20q and JAK2-V617F in MPD suggests that del20q acts independently and is not one of the predisposing mutations for JAK2-V617F. *Blood* **113**: 2022-2027

Schmidt MH, Dikic I (2005) The Cbl interactome and its functions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **6:** 907-918

Scott LM, Tong W, Levine RL, Scott MA, Beer PA, Stratton MR, Futreal PA, Erber WN, McMullin MF, Harrison CN, Warren AJ, Gilliland DG, Lodish HF, Green AR (2007) JAK2 exon 12 mutations in polycythemia vera and idiopathic erythrocytosis. *N Engl J Med* **356**: 459-468

Simons A, Melamed-Bessudo C, Wolkowicz R, Sperling J, Sperling R, Eisenbach L, Rotter V (1997) PACT: cloning and characterization of a cellular p53 binding protein that interacts with Rb. *Oncogene* **14**: 145-155

Smith ML, Cavenagh JD, Lister TA, Fitzgibbon J (2004) Mutation of CEBPA in familial acute myeloid leukemia. *N Engl J Med* **351**: 2403-2407

Song WJ, Sullivan MG, Legare RD, Hutchings S, Tan X, Kufrin D, Ratajczak J, Resende IC, Haworth C, Hock R, Loh M, Felix C, Roy DC, Busque L, Kurnit D, Willman C, Gewirtz AM, Speck NA, Bushweller JH, Li FP, Gardiner K, Poncz M, Maris JM, Gilliland DG (1999) Haploinsufficiency of CBFA2 causes familial thrombocytopenia with propensity to develop acute myelogenous leukaemia. *Nat Genet* **23**: 166-175

Staerk J, Lacout C, Sato T, Smith SO, Vainchenker W, Constantinescu SN (2006) An amphipathic motif at the transmembrane-cytoplasmic junction prevents autonomous activation of the thrombopoietin receptor. *Blood* **107**: 1864-1871

Stegelmann F, Bullinger L, Griesshammer M, Holzmann K, Habdank M, Kuhn S, Maile C, Schauer S, Dohner H, Dohner K (2010) High-resolution single-nucleotide polymorphism array-profiling in myeloproliferative neoplasms identifies novel

genomic aberrations. Haematologica 95: 666-669

Stegelmann F, Bullinger L, Schlenk RF, Paschka P, Griesshammer M, Blersch C, Kuhn S, Schauer S, Dohner H, Dohner K (2011) DNMT3A mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia* **25**: 1217-1219

Szpurka H, Gondek LP, Mohan SR, Hsi ED, Theil KS, Maciejewski JP (2009) UPD1p indicates the presence of MPL W515L mutation in RARS-T, a mechanism analogous to UPD9p and JAK2 V617F mutation. *Leukemia* **23**: 610-614

Tefferi A, Lasho TL, Abdel-Wahab O, Guglielmelli P, Patel J, Caramazza D, Pieri L, Finke CM, Kilpivaara O, Wadleigh M, Mai M, McClure RF, Gilliland DG, Levine RL, Pardanani A, Vannucchi AM (2010a) IDH1 and IDH2 mutation studies in 1473 patients with chronic-, fibrotic- or blast-phase essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera or myelofibrosis. *Leukemia* **24**: 1302-1309

Tefferi A, Lasho TL, Patnaik MM, Finke CM, Hussein K, Hogan WJ, Elliott MA, Litzow MR, Hanson CA, Pardanani A (2010b) JAK2 germline genetic variation affects disease susceptibility in primary myelofibrosis regardless of V617F mutational status: nullizygosity for the JAK2 46/1 haplotype is associated with inferior survival. *Leukemia* **24**: 105-109

Tefferi A, Litzow MR, Pardanani A (2011) Long-term outcome of treatment with ruxolitinib in myelofibrosis. *N Engl J Med* **365**: 1455-1457

Tefferi A, Pardanani A, Lim KH, Abdel-Wahab O, Lasho TL, Patel J, Gangat N, Finke CM, Schwager S, Mullally A, Li CY, Hanson CA, Mesa R, Bernard O, Delhommeau F, Vainchenker W, Gilliland DG, Levine RL (2009) TET2 mutations and their clinical correlates in polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia and myelofibrosis. *Leukemia* **23**: 905-911

Tefferi A, Vardiman JW (2008) Classification and diagnosis of myeloproliferative neoplasms: the 2008 World Health Organization criteria and point-of-care diagnostic algorithms. *Leukemia* **22**: 14-22

Teofili L, Giona F, Martini M, Cenci T, Guidi F, Torti L, Palumbo G, Amendola A, Foa R, Larocca LM (2007) Markers of myeloproliferative diseases in childhood polycythemia vera and essential thrombocythemia. *J Clin Oncol* **25**: 1048-1053

Teofili L, Giona F, Torti L, Cenci T, Ricerca BM, Rumi C, Nunes V, Foa R, Leone G, Martini M, Larocca LM (2010) Hereditary thrombocytosis caused by MPLSer505Asn is associated with a high thrombotic risk, splenomegaly and progression to bone marrow fibrosis. *Haematologica* **95**: 65-70

Thoennissen NH, Krug UO, Lee DH, Kawamata N, Iwanski GB, Lasho T, Weiss T, Nowak D, Koren-Michowitz M, Kato M, Sanada M, Shih LY, Nagler A, Raynaud SD, Muller-Tidow C, Mesa R, Haferlach T, Gilliland DG, Tefferi A, Ogawa S, Koeffler HP (2010) Prevalence and prognostic impact of allelic imbalances associated with leukemic transformation of Philadelphia chromosome-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood* **115**: 2882-2890

Thomas A, Skolnick MH, Lewis CM (1994) Genomic mismatch scanning in pedigrees. *IMA J Math Appl Med Biol* **11:** 1-16

Tiedt R, Hao-Shen H, Sobas MA, Looser R, Dirnhofer S, Schwaller J, Skoda RC (2008) Ratio of mutant JAK2-V617F to wild-type Jak2 determines the MPD phenotypes in transgenic mice. *Blood* **111**: 3931-3940

Vaddi K, Sarlis NJ, Gupta V (2012) Ruxolitinib, an oral JAK1 and JAK2 inhibitor, in myelofibrosis. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* **13**: 2397-2407

Vardiman JW (2010) The World Health Organization (WHO) classification of tumors of the hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues: an overview with emphasis on the myeloid neoplasms. *Chem Biol Interact* **184**: 16-20

Vardiman JW, Thiele J, Arber DA, Brunning RD, Borowitz MJ, Porwit A, Harris NL, Le Beau MM, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Tefferi A, Bloomfield CD (2009) The 2008 revision of the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia: rationale and important changes. Blood 114: 937-951

Varela I, Tarpey P, Raine K, Huang D, Ong CK, Stephens P, Davies H, Jones D, Lin ML, Teague J, Bignell G, Butler A, Cho J, Dalgliesh GL, Galappaththige D, Greenman C, Hardy C, Jia M, Latimer C, Lau KW, Marshall J, McLaren S, Menzies A, Mudie L, Stebbings L, Largaespada DA, Wessels LF, Richard S, Kahnoski RJ, Anema J, Tuveson DA, Perez-Mancera PA, Mustonen V, Fischer A, Adams DJ, Rust A, Chanon W, Subimerb C, Dykema K, Furge K, Campbell PJ, Teh BT, Stratton MR, Futreal PA (2011) Exome sequencing identifies frequent mutation of the SWI/SNF complex gene PBRM1 in renal carcinoma. *Nature* **469**: 539-542

Varricchio L, Godbold J, Scott SA, Whitsett C, Da Costa L, Pospisilova D, Garelli E, Quarello P, Ramenghi U, Migliaccio AR (2011a) Increased frequency of the glucocorticoid receptor A3669G (rs6198) polymorphism in patients with Diamond-Blackfan anemia. *Blood* **118**: 473-474

Varricchio L, Masselli E, Alfani E, Battistini A, Migliaccio G, Vannucchi AM, Zhang W, Rondelli D, Godbold J, Ghinassi B, Whitsett C, Hoffman R, Migliaccio AR (2011b) The dominant negative beta isoform of the glucocorticoid receptor is uniquely expressed in erythroid cells expanded from polycythemia vera patients. *Blood* **118**: 425-436

Veerakumarasivam A, Scott HE, Chin SF, Warren A, Wallard MJ, Grimmer D, Ichimura K, Caldas C, Collins VP, Neal DE, Kelly JD (2008) High-resolution arraybased comparative genomic hybridization of bladder cancers identifies mouse double minute 4 (MDM4) as an amplification target exclusive of MDM2 and TP53. *Clin Cancer Res* **14**: 2527-2534

Verstovsek S, Kantarjian HM, Estrov Z, Cortes JE, Thomas DA, Kadia T, Pierce S, Jabbour E, Borthakur G, Rumi E, Pungolino E, Morra E, Caramazza D, Cazzola M, Passamonti F (2012a) Long-term outcomes of 107 patients with myelofibrosis receiving JAK1/JAK2 inhibitor ruxolitinib: survival advantage in comparison to matched historical controls. *Blood* **120**: 1202-1209

Verstovsek S, Mesa RA, Gotlib J, Levy RS, Gupta V, DiPersio JF, Catalano JV,

Deininger M, Miller C, Silver RT, Talpaz M, Winton EF, Harvey JH, Jr., Arcasoy MO, Hexner E, Lyons RM, Paquette R, Raza A, Vaddi K, Erickson-Viitanen S, Koumenis IL, Sun W, Sandor V, Kantarjian HM (2012b) A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of ruxolitinib for myelofibrosis. *N Engl J Med* **366**: 799-807

Wajcman H, Galacteros F (2005) Hemoglobins with high oxygen affinity leading to erythrocytosis. New variants and new concepts. *Hemoglobin* **29**: 91-106

Wallace MR, Marchuk DA, Andersen LB, Letcher R, Odeh HM, Saulino AM, Fountain JW, Brereton A, Nicholson J, Mitchell AL, et al. (1990) Type 1 neurofibromatosis gene: identification of a large transcript disrupted in three NF1 patients. *Science* **249**: 181-186

Walter MJ, Ding L, Shen D, Shao J, Grillot M, McLellan M, Fulton R, Schmidt H, Kalicki-Veizer J, O'Laughlin M, Kandoth C, Baty J, Westervelt P, DiPersio JF, Mardis ER, Wilson RK, Ley TJ, Graubert TA (2011) Recurrent DNMT3A mutations in patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. *Leukemia* **25**: 1153-1158

Wernig G, Mercher T, Okabe R, Levine RL, Lee BH, Gilliland DG (2006) Expression of Jak2V617F causes a polycythemia vera-like disease with associated myelofibrosis in a murine bone marrow transplant model. *Blood* **107**: 4274-4281

Wiestner A, Schlemper RJ, van der Maas AP, Skoda RC (1998) An activating splice donor mutation in the thrombopoietin gene causes hereditary thrombocythaemia. *Nat Genet* **18**: 49-52

Yamaguchi H, Baerlocher GM, Lansdorp PM, Chanock SJ, Nunez O, Sloand E, Young NS (2003) Mutations of the human telomerase RNA gene (TERC) in aplastic anemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. *Blood* **102**: 916-918

Yoshida K, Sanada M, Shiraishi Y, Nowak D, Nagata Y, Yamamoto R, Sato Y, Sato-Otsubo A, Kon A, Nagasaki M, Chalkidis G, Suzuki Y, Shiosaka M, Kawahata R, Yamaguchi T, Otsu M, Obara N, Sakata-Yanagimoto M, Ishiyama K, Mori H, Nolte F, Hofmann WK, Miyawaki S, Sugano S, Haferlach C, Koeffler HP, Shih LY, Haferlach T, Chiba S, Nakauchi H, Miyano S, Ogawa S (2011) Frequent pathway mutations of splicing machinery in myelodysplasia. *Nature* **478**: 64-69

Zaleskas VM, Krause DS, Lazarides K, Patel N, Hu Y, Li S, Van Etten RA (2006) Molecular pathogenesis and therapy of polycythemia induced in mice by JAK2 V617F. *PLoS One* **1**: e18

Zimprich A, Benet-Pages A, Struhal W, Graf E, Eck SH, Offman MN, Haubenberger D, Spielberger S, Schulte EC, Lichtner P, Rossle SC, Klopp N, Wolf E, Seppi K, Pirker W, Presslauer S, Mollenhauer B, Katzenschlager R, Foki T, Hotzy C, Reinthaler E, Harutyunyan A, Kralovics R, Peters A, Zimprich F, Brucke T, Poewe W, Auff E, Trenkwalder C, Rost B, Ransmayr G, Winkelmann J, Meitinger T, Strom TM (2011) A mutation in VPS35, encoding a subunit of the retromer complex, causes late-onset Parkinson disease. *Am J Hum Genet* **89**: 168-175

Zimprich A, Biskup S, Leitner P, Lichtner P, Farrer M, Lincoln S, Kachergus J, Hulihan M, Uitti RJ, Calne DB, Stoessl AJ, Pfeiffer RF, Patenge N, Carbajal IC, Vieregge P, Asmus F, Muller-Myhsok B, Dickson DW, Meitinger T, Strom TM, Wszolek ZK, Gasser T (2004) Mutations in LRRK2 cause autosomal-dominant parkinsonism with pleomorphic pathology. *Neuron* **44**: 601-607

7. ABBREVIATIONS

6-FAM	carboxyfluorescein
AAS	absence of allele-sharing
ABL1	c-abl oncogene 1 (gene)
aCML	atypical chronic myeloid leukemia
ALL	acute lymphoblastic leukemia
AML	acute myeloid leukemia
ARMC5	armadillo repeat containing 5 (gene)
ASXL1	additional sex combs like 1 (gene)
Balb/c	mouse strain
BCR	breakpoint cluster region (gene)
BPGM	2,3-bisphosphoglycerate mutase (gene)
BR	binding region
C20orf3	chromosome 20 open reading frame 3 (gene)
C57BI/6	mouse strain
CBL	Casitas B-lineage lymphoma proto-oncogene (gene)
CCDC26	coiled-coil domain containing 26 (gene)
CDKN2A	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (gene)
cDNA	complementary DNA
CDR	commonly deleted region
CEBPA	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP), alpha (gene)
CGH	comparative genomic hybridization
chr	chromosome
ChIP-seq	chromatin immunoprecipitation with sequencing
CML	chronic myeloid leukemia
CMML	chronic myelomonocytic leukemia
CSF3R	colony stimulating factor 3 receptor (granulocyte) (gene)
CUX1	cut-like homeobox 1 (gene)
del	deletion
DIV	deletion insertion variant
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNMT3A	DNA cytosine methytransferase 3 alpha (gene)
DWNN	domain with no name

EGLN1	egl nine homolog 1 (C. elegans) (gene)
EPAS1	endothelial PAS domain protein 1 (gene)
EPOR	erythropoietin receptor
ERCC2	excision repair cross-complementing rodent repair deficiency,
	complementation group 2 (gene)
ET	essential thrombocythemia
EZH2	enhancer of zeste homolog 2 (Drosophila) (gene)
FANCM	Fanconi anemia complementation group M (gene)
FGFR1	fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 (gene)
FLT3	fms-related tyrosine kinase 3 (gene)
fs	frameshift
GATA2	GATA binding protein 2 (gene)
GR	glucocorticoid receptor (gene)
HBB	hemoglobin, beta (gene)
Hg1	human genome assembly 18
HEX	hexachloro-fluorescein
IDH1	isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (NADP+), soluble (gene)
IDH2	isocitrate dehydrogenase 2 (NADP+), mitochondrial (gene)
IKZF1	IKAROS family zinc finger 1 (gene)
JAK2	Janus kinase 2 (gene)
JMML	juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia
L3MBTL1	l(3)mbt-like 1 (Drosophila) (gene)
LNK	lymphocyte-specific adaptor protein Lnk (gene)
LOH	loss of heterozygosity
LRRK2	leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (gene)
Mb	Megabase
MDM2	MDM2 oncogene, E3 ubiquitin protein ligase (gene)
MDM4	Mdm4 p53 binding protein homolog (mouse) (gene)
MDS	myelodysplastic syndromes
min	minute
MPL	myeloproliferative leukemia virus oncogene (gene)
MPN	myeloproliferative neoplasms
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MYC	v-myc myelocytomatosis viral oncogene homolog (avian) (gene)
NF1	neurofibromin 1 (gene)
---------	---
NFE2	nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2), 45kDa (gene)
NPM1	nucleophosmin (nucleolar phosphoprotein B23, numatrin) (gene)
NR3C1	nuclear receptor subfamily 3, group C, member 1 (glucocorticoid
	receptor) (gene)
OR	odds ratio
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PD	Parkinson's disease
PDGFRA	platelet-derived growth factor receptor, alpha polypeptide (gene)
PDGFRB	platelet-derived growth factor receptor, beta polypeptide (gene)
PMF	primary myelofibrosis
PRC2	polycomb repressive complex 2
PV	polycythemia vera
RB1	retinoblastoma 1 (gene)
RBBP6	retinoblastoma binding protein 6 (gene)
RING	really interesting new gene
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNA-seq	RNA sequencing
RUNX1	runt-related transcription factor 1 (gene)
sAML	secondary acute myeloid leukemia
sec	second
SEGEX	Segregation Exclusion analysis
SETBP1	SET binding protein 1 (gene)
SF1	splicing factor 1 (gene)
SF3A1	splicing factor 3a, subunit 1, 120kDa (gene)
SF3B1	splicing factor 3b, subunit 1, 155kDa (gene)
SGK2	serum/glucocorticoid regulated kinase 2 (gene)
SH2B3	SH2B adaptor protein 3 (gene)
sMF	secondary myelofibrosis
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
SNV	single nucleotide variant
SRSF2	serine/arginine-rich splicing factor 2 (gene)
STAT	signal transducers and activators of transcription (genes)
TERC	telomerase RNA component

TERT	telomerase reverse transcriptase
TET2	ten-eleven translocation oncogene family member 2 (gene)
THPO	thrombopoietin (gene)
TP53	tumor protein p53 (gene)
U2AF1	U2 small nuclear RNA auxiliary factor 1 (gene)
UPD	uniparental disomy
VHL	von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor (gene)
WHO	World Health Organization
XPD	xeroderma pigmentosum D (gene)
Znf	zinc finger domain
ZRSR2	zinc finger (CCCH type), RNA-binding motif and serine/arginine
	rich 2 (gene)

CURRICULUM VITAE

Ashot Harutyunyan

born April 3, 1984 in Yerevan, Armenia Armenian citizenship Schlachthausgasse 23-29/1/105, A-1030, Vienna, Austria +436764218683 harutyunyan_ashot@yahoo.com

Current position

09/2008 – present PhD student, Research Center for Molecular Medicine of Austrian Academy of Sciences, Vienna, Austria Germline genetics of myeloproliferative neoplasms

Work experience

09/2001 - 09/2008	Honorary Research Assistant, Institute of Man, Yerevan, Armenia
11/2007 - 09/2008	Junior Researcher, Institute of Molecular Biology, National
	Academy of Sciences, Yerevan, Armenia

Practical trainings

02/2006-03/2006	Honorary Research Assistant, The Centre for Genetic	
11/2005-12/2005	Anthropology (TCGA), UCL, London, UK	
01/2005-02/2005		
07/2004-08/2004		
07/2003-08/2003		

Education

2006 – 2008	Residency (cardiology), National Institute of Health, Yerevan,
	Armenia
2000 – 2006	MD, Faculty of General Medicine, Yerevan State Medical
	University, Yerevan, Armenia. Diploma with honour.
1996 – 2000	National College after Anania Shirakatsy, Yerevan, Armenia.
	Award of Excellence.
1990 – 1996	School N 55, Yerevan, Armenia.

PUBLICATIONS

Role of germline genetic factors in MPN pathogenesis. **Ashot S. Harutyunyan** and Robert Kralovics *Hematology/Oncology Clinics of North America 2012, 26(5):1037-1051.*

p53 lesions in leukemic transformation.

Ashot Harutyunyan, Thorsten Klampfl, Mario Cazzola, Robert Kralovics *The New England Journal of Medicine 2011, 364 (5): 488-490.*

Rare germline variants in regions of loss of heterozygosity may influence clinical course of hematological malignancies.

A Harutyunyan, B Gisslinger, T Klampfl, T Berg, K Bagienski, H Gisslinger, R Kralovics *Leukemia 2011, 25: 1782-1784.*

Genome integrity of myeloproliferative neoplasms in chronic phase and during disease progression.

Thorsten Klampfl*, **Ashot Harutyunyan***, Tiina Berg, Bettina Gisslinger, Martin Schalling, Klaudia Bagienski, Damla Olcaydu, Francesco Passamonti, Elisa Rumi, Daniela Pietra, Roland Jäger, Lisa Pieri, Paola Guglielmelli, Ilaria Iacobucci, Giovanni Martinelli, Mario Cazzola, Alessandro M. Vannucchi, Heinz Gisslinger, Robert Kralovics

Blood 2011, 118:167-176.

* equal contribution

A common *JAK2* haplotype confers susceptibility to myeloproliferative neoplasms. Damla Olcaydu, **Ashot Harutyunyan**, Roland Jaeger, Tiina Berg, Bettina Gisslinger, Ingrid Pabinger, Heinz Gisslinger & Robert Kralovics *Nature Genetics 2009, 41 (4): 450-454.*

The role of the *JAK2* GGCC haplotype and the *TET2* gene in familial myeloproliferative neoplasms.

Damla Olcaydu, Elisa Rumi, **Ashot Harutyunyan**, Francesco Passamonti, Daniela Pietra, Cristiana Pascutto, Tiina Berg, Roland Jäger, Emma Hammond, Mario Cazzola, and Robert Kralovics

Haematologica 2011, 96(3): 367-374.

Identification of genomic aberrations associated with disease transformation by means of high-resolution SNP array analysis in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasm.

Elisa Rumi, **Ashot Harutyunyan**, Chiara Elena, Daniela Pietra, Thorsten Klampfl, Klaudia Bagienski, Tiina Berg, Ilaria Casetti, Cristiana Pascutto, Francesco Passamonti, Robert Kralovics, Mario Cazzola.

American Journal of Hematology 2011, 86: 974–979.

Frequent deletions of *JARID2* in leukemic transformation of chronic myeloid malignancies.

Ana Puda, Jelena D. Milosevic, Tiina Berg, Thorsten Klampfl, **Ashot S. Harutyunyan**, Bettina Gisslinger, Elisa Rumi, Daniela Pietra, Luca Malcovati, Chiara Elena, Michael Doubek, Michael Steurer, Natasa Tosic, Sonja Pavlovic, Paola Guglielmelli, Lisa Pieri, Alessandro M. Vannucchi, Heinz Gisslinger, Mario Cazzola, and Robert Kralovics. *American Journal of Hematology* 2012, 87(3):245-250.

Deletions of the transcription factor *Ikaros* in myeloproliferative neoplasms. R Jaeger, H Gisslinger, F Passamonti, E Rumi, T Berg, B Gisslinger, D Pietra, **A Harutyunyan**, T Klampfl, D Olcaydu, M Cazzola and R Kralovics Leukemia 2010, 24: 1290–1298.

Clinical significance of genetic aberrations in secondary acute myeloid leukemia. Jelena D. Milosevic, Ana Puda, Luca Malcovati, Tiina Berg, Michael Hofbauer, Alexey Stukalov, Thorsten Klampfl, **Ashot S. Harutyunyan**, Heinz Gisslinger, Bettina Gisslinger, Tatiana Burjanivova, Elisa Rumi, Daniela Pietra, Chiara Elena, Alessandro M. Vannucchi, Michael Doubek, Dana Dvorakova, Blanka Robesova, Rotraud Wieser, Elisabeth Koller, Nada Suvajdzic, Dragica Tomin, Natasa Tosic, Jacques Colinge, Zdenek Racil, Michael Steurer, Sonja Pavlovic, Mario Cazzola, and Robert Kralovics. *American Journal of Hematol*ogy 2012, 87:1010-1016.

Homologous recombination of wild-type *JAK2*, a novel early step in the development of myeloproliferative neoplasm.

Mathias Vilaine, Damla Olcaydu, **Ashot Harutyunyan**, Jonathan Bergeman, Mourad Tiab, Jean-François Ramée, Jian-Min Chen, Robert Kralovics and Sylvie Hermouet. *Blood* 2011, 118(24):6468-6470.

A Mutation in *VPS35*, Encoding a Subunit of the Retromer Complex, Causes Late-Onset Parkinson Disease.

Alexander Zimprich, Anna Benet-Pagès, Walter Struhal, Elisabeth Graf, Sebastian H. Eck, Marc N. Offman, Dietrich Haubenberger, Sabine Spielberger, Eva C. Schulte, Peter Lichtner, Shaila C. Rossle, Norman Klopp, Elisabeth Wolf, Klaus Seppi, Walter Pirker, Stefan Presslauer, Brit Mollenhauer, Regina Katzenschlager, Thomas Foki, Christoph Hotzy, Eva Reinthaler, Ashot Harutyunyan, Robert Kralovics, Annette Peters, Fritz Zimprich, Thomas Brücke, Werner Poewe, Eduard Auff, Claudia Trenkwalder, Burkhard Rost, Gerhard Ransmayr, Juliane Winkelmann, Thomas Meitinger, Tim M. Strom

American Journal of Human Genetics 2011, 89(1): 168-175.